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Dear Customers, Shareholders, Employees and Partners, 

The year 2018 market Banco Keve’s 15th year of activity. As in previous years, the Bank’s activity has been 
guided by values that have been at its core from day one. Efficiency, integrity, rigour and the Keve attitude were 
the slogan we adopted to continue to work professionally and transparently in the execution and creation 
of profitable business endeavours, always ensuring sustainable growth and always attentive to our most 
important assets: our customers, employees as well as our shareholders.

Internationally, 2018 was marked by ongoing geopolitical tensions around the world. Protectionism was the 
key word. A year marked by trade wars between the US and China, political differences and extreme approaches 
to the issue of migratory flows of people suggested the potential for phenomena like Brexit. These are just a 
few examples that have brought to the fore certain positions of extremism, which require careful analysis.

The economic effects were unexpected and affected global economic growth. Projections point to slower 
growth than initially forecast (3.6% for 2018 and 3.5% for 2019) as difficult times appear on the horizon.

In Angola, after a year of political transition, the country continued in 2018 to face political and economic 
challenges and a growing expectation of improved social conditions. The national economy has taken concrete 
steps towards the recovery of an economy affected by the sharp decline in oil prices, and the government has 
taken measures to mitigate these effects on the real economy. Although there has recently been a rebound in 
the price of oil, we remain in an environment of virtually zero GDP growth. Despite efforts to boost them, tax 
revenues remain insufficient, increasing the need for public financing.

Even so, there was an improvement in the availability of foreign exchange as a result of stricter reserve 
management, better meeting the needs of economic agents, despite the still limited level of international 
reserves, which stood at USD 10.6 billion at the end of the year. The amount of foreign currency made available 
by BNA throughout 2018 was EUR 11.5 billion, representing an increase of 5% compared to 2017.

It was a year marked by strong devaluation of the kwanza which, through the introduction of the new exchange 
rate regime, forced the currency to depreciate about 86% against the dollar and 90% against the euro (average 
BNA exchange rate), bring it closer in line with the rate in the informal market. The kwanza stood at AOA 
308.60 to the dollar and AOA 353.00 to the euro.

National inflation remained high at 17%, demonstrating, however, strong signals of 
a downward trend from previous year, having retreated about 6.7% between 2017 and 2018.

In this context, projections by international organisations point to a slight contraction of the national 
economy, with GDP estimated to have fallen by 0.1% in 2018. However, given the measures defined by the 
macroeconomic stabilisation programme and the government’s national development plan, the outlook for 
2019 is encouraging, with estimated growth of 3.1%.

The 2018 financial year proved to be extremely demanding for the financial sector and the new regulatory 
measures imposed by BNA remind of us the need to have more robust and organised institutions. Banks have 
in many cases been forced to strengthen their capital base and to manage their risks more and more properly 
and carefully.

During this particularly challenging period, banks have been forced to rethink their models, while seeking new 
ways of doing business and other sources of internal and external revenues. Banco Keve was no exception, 
having carried out its activity while always seeking to ensure the economic and financial sustainability 
of the institution and, on the other hand, meeting the needs of its customers. The Bank continued to raise 
and improve the quality of its resources, with an increase in demand deposits of AOA 11.742 million (+18%), 
ensuring greater stability and a better future. Loans to customers, the main item of assets, grew by 6% in 
2018 to a gross total 71,865 million AOA as the Bank’s assets reached AOA 159,442 million compared to AOA 
151,006 million in the previous year (+6%).

Own funds totalled AOA 20,347 million, up 24,8% compared to 2017. Banco Keve’s regulatory solvency ratio 
was 12.74%, reflecting financial stability and meeting the minimum level required by Banco Nacional de 
Angola (10%).

Also in the regulatory realm, in order to comply with all the aims of the regulatory authority, Banco Keve 
continued on its path to further strengthening its stock of “Credit impairment and guarantees provided”.
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In 2018, Banco Keve began a process of evaluating the profitability of its branches, and an accompanying process 
of optimisation is underway to ensure a better presence in strategic locations and reduce costs associated with 
unprofitable branches. A new space was inaugurated for the Lubango branch, allowing our customers to enjoy 
better facilities and services.

In terms of human capital, Banco Keve continued to invest heavily in Angolan staff, with 32 more employees 
being hired in 2018, as the Bank maintaining its focus on the skills of its most valuable resources, with the aim 
of always strengthening their knowledge and professional ethics. The Bank is steadfast in its determination to 
serve as a model for society, demonstrating the values, vision and beliefs that we maintain.

Finally, a word of thanks and appreciation to our 576 employees for their daily commitment, competence and 
professionalism. We congratulate our esteemed stakeholders, who, in these years of many challenges, have 
never relinquished their commitment and trust, assuring Banco Keve’s stability along a well-defined course.
A very special thanks to our customers for their loyalty to our services and ongoing support, as they are the 
main focus of the Bank’s work and contribute to our success in operating as a Bank tailored to your needs.

Banco Keve

The Bank Tailored to You

Rui Eduardo Leão da Costa Campos
 Chairman of the Board of Directors

Óscar Manuel Mata
Chairman of the Executive Committee
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1.1. MAIN INDICATORS

Thousand AOA 2017 2018 Chg.

Net Income 2.075.515 4.603.486

Net Interest Income 12.023.969 8.969.778

Operating income 17.103.278 34.296.037

ROAE 13,4% 25,1%

ROAA 1,4% 3,0%

Total Assets 151.006.775 159.441.840

Total Bank resources 119.723.891 130.725.897

Net loans 56.015.936 49.686.566

Loan-to-deposit Ratio 56,9% 55,6%

Overdue Loans 14,8% 29,5%

Loans impairment 20,0% 35,6%

Capital adequacy ratio 20,0% 12,7%

Cost-to-income 66,2% 41,5%
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1.2. RELEVANT EVENTS

COMMUNICATION AND AWARENESS

In 2018, Banco Keve strategically focused on the development and implementation of a new digital platform, 
where it saw improved graphics, interaction, a wider range of operations and enhanced security. This 
commitment is intended to position the Bank at the forefront of technology in alignment with its full potential.

Institutional Website

With the new institutional website, Banco Keve intends to ensure the availability of all institutional information 
and products and services through a stylised and intuitive user experience in which both individuals and 
companies can access Internet Banking.

NEW SITE, FASTER, MORE SECURE, EASIER AND TAILORED TO YOUR NEEDS:
Now you can take care of your banking needs from wherever you may be. Because we are constantly focused 
on improving our services, Banco Keve now offers improved and faster navigation at any time. Because we are 
a Bank tailored to your needs, you can now customise your settings on our site based on your preferences and 
the type of operations you use the most. As you can see, it has never been faster, easier, safer or more efficient 
to bank with us.  

Payment Services

With Payment Services, Keve customers can make payments for various services quickly and securely when 
using an internet-enabled computer, mobile phone, smartphone or tablet.
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Insurance of Goods

Insures monetary loss or damage to objects and/or goods while in transit, in the normal course of safe travel, 
whether by sea, river, land or air, as described in the Special Conditions.
 

 

Keve Campaigns

KEVE SUPER KANUCO
If a Superhero needs a cape, a Super Child needs a Super Savings Account.

While the Great Superheroes need a cape and Super Powers to win in the future, you child only needs 
a KEVE SUPER KANUCO Account.

An easy-to-open Savings Account with many advantages to ensure that your child has a Super Future.
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DP KEVE 15 YEARS
As part of its 15th Anniversary, Banco Keve created a short-term deposit product to commemorate its 
anniversary, at an interest rate reflecting the same number.

We are happy to celebrate 15 years in business tailored to your needs and are offering a 15% interest rate to 
commemorate this milestone.
 
To celebrate its 15th Anniversary, Banco Keve launched its 15-Year Term Deposit. 

It is our anniversary, but all the presents are for you. 
 

Christmas 2018
Days go by, time flies, but we all have dreams, desires and projects for our future. 

This Christmas sows the ideals of peace, love and fraternity, so that you can reap the fruits of friendship and 
prosperity in 2019. 
 
Banco Keve wishes all its customers, partners and friends a Merry Christmas.
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Opening of New Branches

In 2018, Banco Keve strengthened its presence at strategic locations in the cities of Lubango and Soyo, 
expanding its branch network: 

• Lubango Branch

• SME Lubango

• SME Airport 

• Soyo Branch

 
 

Fairs and Events

In 2018 we had a presence at six Fairs in Angola with a total estimated attendance of 500,000 visitors. The 
specific fairs were as follows:

• FILDA

• Benguela International Fair 

• Expo Huila

• Professions Fair

• São José de Cluny Business and Services Fair

• CMC Investment Fair
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Culture

Banco Keve maintained its commitment to promoting and supporting National Culture by partnering with the 
company Nova Energia in the 5th season of Show do Mês (Show of the Month). This event features Angolans for 
Angolans and is aimed at promoting national music, taking place on a monthly basis and providing moments 
of entertainment and joy to the public while demonstrating the unique talents of Angolan musicians.  

Performances are held in the event hall every last Friday of every month.

 

Digital

In the digital arena, namely on social networks, Banco Keve’s main focus was on boosting its Facebook 
page, where the strategy aimed to ensure greater interactivity and a faster response to customers, with the 
accompanying aim of lowering the response time index. This position allowed us to increase the number of 
followers by about 20% and reduce response time to one hour relative to 3,819 monthly messages.
The publications with the widest reach allowed us to range an average of 9,117 users per publication. 
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The publications with the greatest impact during 2018 were those pertaining to the Online Security Video, 15th 
Anniversary of Banco Keve, entertainment in the form of Show do Mês with Euclides da Lomba, the participation 
of the bank in the Expo Huíla Fair, the Beginning of the Armed Struggle Day and City of Luanda Day.
 

1.3. OUTLOOK FOR 2019

For 2019, Banco Keve will maintain its strategic lines of consolidation and continue to treat the customer as 
one of its most important assets, maintaining the basic values of building an increasingly solid and transparent 
bank at the service of its customers.

We believe that the national economy and the banking sector in particular can pick up newfound strength, as 
a result of the work that has been conducted by the government, together with the regulatory authorities, to 
stabilise the financial sector, without which a consistent commitment to the sustainable development of the 
economy would be impossible.

Despite the constraints of the political cycle, we believe that the conditions are conducive to seeing a greater 
boost in economic activity. Government investment / public financing decisions will play a decisive role in the 
conduct of monetary policy and the availability of credit resources for the economy.

Concerning the financial sector in particular, the competitive environment will be increasingly intense and 
capital requirements will create greater pressure for bank consolidation.

Compliance rules are here to stay and are a cornerstone for the collective credibility of the financial system 
and the country as a whole. The financial effort required for their implementation is undoubtedly a heavy 
investment, but it is necessary to integrate the country into a global world in which all members are scrutinised 
in order to eliminate factors of uncertainty in the name of transparency. A more credible system allows greater 
access to international financial markets and to all economic agents, directly or indirectly.
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Banco Keve will continue to focus on strengthening and consolidating its balance sheet structure to ensure 
greater consistency across financial, structural, liquidity and regulatory indicators, while further strengthening 
the bank’s profitability.

We will remain specifically attentive to the new requirements arising from the adoption of IAS/IFRS, the 
strengthening of internal control mechanisms and internal reflection on the mechanisms that allow us to 
improve our Corporate Governance model.

In terms of business, the bank will continue to take concrete steps to solidify its position as a leading institution 
in the domestic market, with sustained growth in our distribution channels, with a constant view to increasing 
openness to digital platforms for customer relations.

Banco Keve will continue to focus on sustainable growth.





2
ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE, MANAGEMENT 
AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES

2.1. ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE AND GOVERNING BODIES

2.2. SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
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2.1. ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE AND GOVERNING BODIES

General Meeting

Chairman Amílcar dos Santos Azevedo da Silva

Vice-Chairman Mário Henrique da Silva Mello Xavier

Secretary Teodoro Bastos de Almeida

Supervisory Board  

Chairman Manuel Correia Victor

Member Décio Leandro Gaspar

Member João da Silva

Member Manuel João Carneiro

Member Gildo Saraiva Faceira

Board of Directors 

Chairman Rui Eduardo Leão da Costa Campos 

Vice-Chairman André Luís Brandão 

Director Óscar Manuel Mata

Director Dalila Azevedo da Silva

Director Yolanda Isaac Carneiro

Director Ana Maria Machado

Director João António Freire

Director Laide Moreira Martins

Non-Executive Director Rita Yara Xavier

Independent Non-Executive Director Hugo Gonçalves

Executive Committee

Chairman Óscar Manuel Mata  

Vice-Chairman Dalila Azevedo da Silva  

Executive Director Yolanda Isaac Carneiro 

Executive Director Ana Maria dos Santos Machado  

Executive Director João António Freire

Executive Director Laide Moreira Martins 

External Auditor      

Deloitte (appointed in October 2015)
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MANAGEMENT MODEL

Shareholder Structure

The shareholder structure by percentage of ownership is detailed in Note 21 of the financial statements. 
Together, the Members of the Board of Directors hold 7.88% of share capital.

General Organisational Chart 

 

Board of Directors

According to the Bank’s Statutes, the Board of Directors may be made up of a minimum of five and a maximum 
of nine Members. 

The current Board of Directors is composed of ten Members.

The duties and powers of the Board of Directors are defined in Article 24 of the Statutes and include:

i. Defining the company’s short-term lines of action and objectives and proposing the medium- and long-
term lines of action and objectives to the General Meeting;

ii. Implementing and enforcing the resolutions of the General Meeting;

iii. Managing the company’s business, performing all acts and operations that form part of its corporate 
object;

iv. Preparing the company’s provisional business documents and the corresponding implementation reports.

General
Meeting 

Supervisory 
Board

Board of
Directors 

Executive
Committee 

CNAR CACI

ALCO CPS CCRE

Credit
Committee

External
Audit
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The Board of Directors meets ordinarily at least once every quarter and extraordinarily whenever a meeting is 
called by the Chairman or two or more directors.

The agenda for each regular meeting includes at least the following items:

v. Analysis of the macroeconomic, national and international situation and the competitive environment;

vi. Analysis of the Bank’s financial report;

vii. Review and/or update of the Business Plan, including comparing the Bank’s valuations against the budget.

Executive management of the Bank is, through delegation by the Board of Directors, performed by six directors 
appointed by the Board itself, with one Chairman and one Vice-Chairman.

The current term is from 31 March 2018 to 31 March 2022.

The regulations of the Board of Directors and of the Executive Committee in office were approved in July 2015.

Supervisory Board

Without prejudice to the powers attributed by law to Banco Nacional de Angola in this area, the oversight of 
the company’s activity is the responsibility of a Supervisory Board, composed of three full members, one of 
whom is the respective Chairman, and two alternates. 

The members of the Supervisory Board may attend the meetings of the Board of Directors, but without the 
right to vote or to intervene in discussions, except when invited to do so by the Chairman of the Board of 
Directors.

General Council 

The General Council is a consultative body whose role is to advise the other corporate bodies on relevant issues 
concerning the company’s affairs and business.

Executive Committee 

The Executive Committee is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Bank, regularly making 
decisions concerning its administration.

The duties and powers of the Executive Committee are defined in its Regulations, Annex I (Delegation of 
powers) and include:

i. Establishing the Bank’s internal organisation and delegating powers across middle management (Line 
and Staff);

ii. Signing contracts necessary for the pursuit of normal activity, in accordance with the Bank’s corporate 
object;

iii. Managing the Company’s assets (acquisition and disposal of movable and immovable property);

iv. Hiring, category level definitions, remuneration conditions and other employee benefits, as well as the 
assignment of middle management positions.

The Executive Committee keeps the Board of Directors regularly informed about situations beyond the powers 
delegated.

External Audit

Since 2015, the external audit has been carried out by Deloitte, and in accordance with the legislation in force 
(BNA Notice no. 4/2013) the external auditors may not remain for a period exceeding four years. The Bank 
follows a policy to ensure the independence and objectivity of external auditors.
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Other Committees

The Board of Directors is strongly committed to continuously improving its performance and acts systematically 
to achieve this objective. These measures include the structuring of collective bodies (committees) and 
improvements in relation to risk management. The Board and the Committees are also supported by a large 
number of reports at pre-defined intervals covering almost all operational areas.

Organisational Units

The internal organisation represents the Board’s foundation from which to engage in the Bank’s business. It is 
understood that the Bank’s operation and development stem from the relationship between human capital, 
modelled processes and technological resources that are parallel to contemporary management principles.

To this end, the Bank has 15 (fifteen) departments and 6 (six) offices, which, in turn, are segregated into 
business, support and control units.

Middle management is strongly committed to the provision of services and the development of products that 
are suitable for the various segments the Bank aims to serve, in the appropriate terms and aligned with the 
principles of rigour, quality and excellence.

The present organisational structure makes it possible to clearly separate the missions and duties of each 
Department/Office, favouring quick, direct lines of communication both between the actual Line/Staff bodies 
and between them and the Board.

The main decisions in each Department/Office are always made by more than one person (normally the 
director with corresponding responsibilities).   

To ensure consistency between strategy and day-to-day management, the units prepare annual activity plans, 
which are analysed and approved by the Board of Directors. 

The Departments also present a set of periodic, systematic reports to enable the Executive Committee to 
monitor their activities.

Institutional Communication

Communication with shareholders is conducted through the General Meeting, whose functioning is described 
in Articles 14 to 22 of the Statutes. The Annual General Meeting is held at the end of March each year.

Communication to the market in general is assured through publication of the Annual Report and Accounts. 
On its website, the Bank also publishes a summary of quarterly accounts, in the form of trial balances pursuant 
to BNA Notice Nº. 15/07, of September 12. 

Code of Ethics and Professional Conduct

The Bank has a Code of Professional Ethics and Conduct that applies to all staff, including the Board of Directors. 
It was updated in December 2016 under Notice No. 12/2016. 

The Code of Professional Ethics and Conduct is a set of internal regulations and reading and understanding it is 
part of the commitment employees make to the Bank’s culture. Where necessary, and in accordance with legal 
provisions, this document is reviewed and updated. 

The Code is structured by a set of recommendations that promote professional pride based on international 
best practices in relation to banking secrecy and managing conflicts of interest.  

Considering the great importance that the Code of Professional Ethics and Conduct represents for the Bank 
and in order to demonstrate the criteria of transparency with its partners, this document is available on its 
website (www.bancokeve.ao).

Among the various aspects referred to in the Code, the Board of Directors is committed to ensuring strict 
compliance with all legislation related to the banking sector (in which foreign exchange and prudential 
legislation are particularly important).
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2.2. SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Employee loans

Loans to employees are part of a set of benefits and incentives that the Bank offers to its employees in 
compliance with the Salary Policy and Benefits - O.S. N.º 61/2013. In 2018, 74 loans were granted to employees.

Health Insurance

The employee health plan benefit is extended to spouses and dependents from 0 to 18 years of age as a way of 
demonstrating responsibility and concern for the well-being and quality of life of employees, in order to reduce 
social deficiencies and provide a better quality of life, reducing absenteeism, including as a result of sick leave 
and time spent in inefficient health institutions, thereby promoting motivation and greater fitness for work. 

Banco Keve ended 2018 with its health insurance package consisting of 550 employees and 1,036 dependents.

Campaigns

Health and wellness campaigns were conducted to alert and guide Banco Keve employees with respect to how 
they live, think and act in relation to the scourges that plague society.

Educating employees in these dimensions requires effective, efficient and constant political and social 
actions that cannot be reduced to the individual level. This is Banco Keve’s role, and it involves alerting and 
incorporating a collective awareness of the overall concern for health care, empowering staff for work activities 
and thus improving their quality of life.

5

7

62

Consumer

Automotive

Housing

1.036

550

Employees Dependents
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Campaigns

International Women’s Day March

Blood Donations to Lucrécia Paim Maternity Ward June

Breast Cancer Lectures September

Pink October March October

Blue November Lectures November

Be a Santa Clause and Make a Child Happy - Horizonte Azul Orphanage December

INTERNATIONAL WOMEN’S DAY
Commemorating International Women’s Day on 8 March, Banco Keve carried out a campaign called March 
Women and devised a simple tribute to its staff. This tribute involved the following activities: delivery of 
flowers, breakfast and a workshop on beauty.

Banco Keve conducted this campaign because it recognises that the role of women in the labour market is 
of paramount importance. Increasingly, they hold senior positions in large companies and are responsible 
for a significant portion of the labour market, and the Bank is cognisant of this reality.

BLOOD DONATIONS TO LUCRÉCIA PAIM MATERNITY WARD
As part of the celebration of World Blood Donor Day on 14 June, Banco Keve donated 100 bags of blood to 
the Lucrécia Paim Maternity Hospital. 
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PINK OCTOBER MARCH
As part of the Pink October event in October, related to the fight against breast cancer, Banco Keve conducted 
workshops intended for staff.

These lectures were held from 24 to 27 September, the eve of the event, at the Bank’s facilities and were 
delivered by a team from the Angolan League Against Cancer, represented by 2 technicians. 

 

On 17 October, Banco Keve held a march to raise awareness of breast cancer and to show solidarity with 
those affected by this disease, which culminated with zumba dancing (everyone took part) and the 
testimony of people who have already had cancer and been cured. 

The march began at the front of the IACC building and ended in the Luanda waterfront zone. Banco Keve has 
been a regular sponsor of this march for the past three years.

BLUE NOVEMBER LECTURES
As part of the Blue November celebrations for the fight against prostate cancer, which 
takes place in November, Banco Keve gave a lecture to its employees.

The lecture took place on 20 November, in a single session from 10 a.m. to 12 p.m. at Banco 
Keve’s facilities and was delivered by an expert from the Angolan League Against Cancer. 
The speaker went through the different Departments to talk about the disease and 
clarify doubts.
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BE A SANTA CLAUSE AND MAKE A CHILD HAPPY - HORIZONTE AZUL ORPHANAGE
During the Christmas seasons, each year Banco Keve’s social area promotes the campaign “Be a Santa 
Claus and Make a Child Happy”, inviting staff, if they identify with the cause, to visit the Human Resources 
Department and pick up one or more letters written to Santa Claus by the girls at the Horizonte Azul 
Orphanage, asking for the present they would like to receive for Christmas.
 

The Horizonte Azul Orphanage is located in Viana and is home to 100 girls, from 5 to 24 years of age, 
including those with complete schooling and entering adulthood. This home survives mainly on donations 
from private individuals. This action is just one of so many that these girls need.

SOCIAL FELLOWSHIP LUNCHEONS 
At the end of each year, Banco Keve holds social fellowship luncheons in the different provinces in which it is 
represented. This social fellowship event has been one way to keep employees motivated and has contributed 
to their integration, uniting teams in moments of relaxation and leisure, in addition to highlighting the 
importance of all professionals who make up the company, because the event recognises the employee as 
an internal customer and an ally directly responsible for the success of the business, and who should be 
concerned with the overall performance of the institution and at the same time who has a great influence 
on the opinions and perspectives of external customers.

HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT BRANCH VISITS
In August 2018, Banco Keve’s Human Resources Department began a programme of visits to all branches in 
Angola, in order to verify employees’ working conditions on site and listen to their concerns. 

The time allotted and the opportunity to listen to employees positions the institution one step ahead 
in solving its problems. The Bank’s objective with this initiative is to demonstrate that all employees are 
treated equally and that each is a fundamental part of the institution.

BEREAVED FAMILIES
Banco Keve provides words of comfort to its employees and their families in the event of the death of a close 
loved one.

The institution also provides funeral assistance in some cases, usually in the form of cash, or a contribution 
towards the associated costs, such as funeral, cemetery or other costs. The Bank also has a funeral assistance 
plan for all employees in the event of death from a pathology covered by health insurance.
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3
MACROECONOMIC FRAMEWORK

3.1. INTERNATIONAL ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

3.2. NATIONAL ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

3.3. RELEVANT REGULATORY FRAMEWORK OF 2018
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3.1. INTERNATIONAL ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

The growth projections of the world economy for 2018 continue to fall short of initial projections, and 3.6% 
growth is currently estimated for 2018 (preliminary projections of 3.9% growth) and 3.5% for 2019 (Global 
Outlook summary Dec. 18, The Economist Intelligence Unit).

In the final months of 2018 the world economy began to see signs that could threaten the favourable economic 
climate that had been present since 2017. The latest economic data, especially from countries such as China, 
the United States of America (US) and the Eurozone, are somewhat disappointing.

Continued trade tensions between China and the US remain a major threat to global growth prospects. The 
recent bilateral meetings between these two countries have given the conflict some reprieve, but most analysts 
view this respite as temporary, since in 2019 the US says that it will increase the tariff on Chinese exports to 
25% (currently 10%).

As a result, and in view of the greater repercussions of this conflict, the Chinese economy’s growth prospects 
point to a slowdown, with a particular impact on the reduction of exports and industrial production alike. 
These factors, together with the high levels of indebtedness of companies, have had repercussions on the 
global economy, with one of the factors behind the fall in oil prices being the decline in demand from China.

Another factor influencing world economic growth is the increase in interest rates in the United States, which 
underwent the fourth increase of the year during December. The announcement by the US Federal Reserve 
(Fed) to raise its benchmark interest rate to between 2.25% and 2.50% will have impacts, especially on 
emerging countries, which will be more exposed to capital outflows due to the gradual increase in interest 
rates. According to Jerome Powell, Chairman of the Fed, two further increases are expected in 2019, which 
would bring the federal funds rate to 3% and should be the limit to keep the American economy within current 
growth levels.

Last but not least, the recent events related to Brexit have brought some uncertainty to the future of the 
European economy. The outcome of Brexit negotiations is uncertain given the problems raised by the preliminary 
agreement with the European Union (EU). The political risks are considerable, and a return to negotiations with 
the EU under new conservative leadership or a second referendum on Brexit is likely. Given the uncertainty 
surrounding each of these scenarios, a non-consensual Brexit remains a major threat to European economies 
and will have a significant impact on global growth if it transpires.

The US economy has been growing at an annual rate of 3.5% (data from the third quarter of 2018) after growth 
of 4.2% in the second quarter. These growth levels are clearly higher than expected and are driven mainly by 
strong private consumption and higher government spending. Economic growth of 2.9% is therefore expected 
for 2018. For 2019 and 2020, economic growth is likely to be slower, as the tailwinds from monetary policy 
weaken due to rising interest rates while the momentum from fiscal policy is reduced. Added to that are the 
risks posed by the trade conflict. We expect growth of only 2.5% in 2019 and 1.8% in 2020.

In China high levels of corporate indebtedness continue to pose a threat to the economy, even with the Chinese 
government’s efforts to reduce pressure on highly indebted companies. Government authorities have been 
trying to take measures to stimulate the economy and increase liquidity, having already reduced ratio of 
required reserves on four occasions in 2018 and are also planning to reduce the income tax rate by the end of 
2019.

On the other hand, the potential risk of a devaluation of the renminbi due to the trade conflict with the US 
could make investing outside China much more attractive than investment within the country.

It is therefore estimated that the Chinese economy will remain robust but slightly less than forecast, with 
growth of 6.6% for 2018 (the economy grew by 6.9% in 2017) and 6.3% in 2019 (Global Outlook summary Dec. 
18, The Intelligent Economist Unit).

Regarding the European Union (EU), economic growth is expected to remain stable, despite the fact that 
growth was revised downwards by 0.4%, reaching 2% in 2018 (IMF World Economic Outlook Oct. 18), still 
reflecting the weak performance of the first half of the year. 
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For 2019, growth is expected to decline gradually to 1.9%, 0.1% below the forecasts made in April 2018. 
Consumption spending, the continued generation of healthy jobs, together with the support of expansive 
monetary policy, are estimated to be the main factors contributing to sustaining aggregate demand and 
growth, albeit at a much more moderate pace.

Unemployment levels have now reached levels reported before the financial crisis and stood at 8.1%. The 
supply of available labour is becoming increasingly scarce and companies are already complaining about the 
difficulty of finding skilled workers.

This increase in the level of competition for skilled workers will undoubtedly influence an increase in wages 
and may spur upward pressures on inflation. Although the signs are not yet very visible, the European Central 
Bank (ECB) considers that there will soon be pressure to increase prices, with 1.1% inflation expected in 2018, 
which is expected to climb to 1.5% in 2019.

With regard to emerging and developing market economies, economic activity continued to gradually improve 
over the course of 2018, especially in energy exporting countries. In general, growth is estimated to be in 
line with that of the previous year, as 4.7% growth is forecast for both 2018 and 2019. In some countries 
such as Argentina, Brazil (1.4% in 2018) and Turkey, country-specific factors and the general cooling of investor 
sentiment were the basis for the slow growth of their respective economies.

Inflation continued to pick up in these emerging and developing economies, reflecting the impact from the 
exchange rate depreciations that occurred in many of these countries.

Performance of Global GDP (2016 - 2019) 
(Real growth rates, %)

                      Projections

2016 2017 2018 2019

World 3,1 3,7 3,6 3.5

Advanced Economies 1,8 2,3 2,4 2.1

United States of America 2,2 2,3 2,9 2.3

Eurozone 1,6 2,2 1,9 1,7

Sub-Saharan Africa 1,6 2,6 2,5 2,9

Angola* -2,6 -0,1 -1,1 2,8

Middle East and North Africa 3,6 2,2 1,3 2,1

Latin America and the Caribbean -0,3 1,2 1,2 1,9

Emerging and developed Asia 6,3 6,5 6,5 6.3

Source: International Monetary Fund (World Economic Outlook, Oct-18); 
                The Economist (Global Outlook summary Dec-18)
                *Ministry of Finance (2019 State Budget Rationale Report)

SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA

Economic growth in sub-Saharan Africa continues to show signs of strengthening, following the encouraging 
prospects that have emerged since 2017. IMF forecasts indicate growth of 3.1% for 2018, after a 2.7% increase 
in the previous year. This follows adjustments in many countries’ domestic policies and the growth of the 
global economy that has supported growth in the region to some extent. Despite efforts to reduce capital 
spending, fiscal imbalances continue to represent one of the region’s main challenges, although their impact 
has been somewhat limited in many countries, especially in oil-exporting countries, as a result of the recent 
recovery in oil prices.

The main drivers continue to be the oil-exporting countries, especially Nigeria, whose growth is expected to 
reach 1.9% in 2018 (0.8% in 2017) due essentially to less disruption of oil production and some recovery of 
the non-oil economy. Nigeria’s recovery is expected to contribute around 0.7% to the region’s average growth 
in 2018 and to increase the economic activity of that country’s trading partners (Niger and Benin) through 
stronger remittances, financial repercussions and increased demand for imports. In the medium term, growth 
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under current policies is expected to stabilise at 2.5%, although still below the rate of population growth 
(Regional Economic Outlook: Sub Saharan Africa Oct. 18, IMF).

Growth in South Africa is estimated to be around 0.8% in 2018. This improvement is due to some signs of 
recovery of activity in the private sector from the reduction of political uncertainties. Public investment 
remains limited as there is little room for tax policy reforms and the balance sheets of state-owned enterprises 
continue to show many weaknesses. Even so, while maintaining current policies, estimates point to growth 
stabilising at 1.8% in the medium term, with the drivers being mainly the financial sector and also the increase 
in demand for imports.

In the remaining countries of the region, growth disparities are still considerable, with oil-exporting countries 
(except Nigeria) growing by 0.6% in 2018 and low-income countries growing by 5.4%.

Many countries continue to deal with security problems, where severe human and economic damage continues 
to be felt. One third of sub-Saharan Africa’s population lives in countries where per capita GDP has continued 
to fall since 2017, and could continue to fall further in 2018 and 2019.

Performance of GDP (2016 - 2019)
(Real growth rates, %)

                      Projections

2016 2017 2018 2019

Sub-Saharan Africa 1,4 2,7 3,1 3.8

Excluding Nigeria and South Africa 3,5 4,4 4,6 5,4

Petroleum Exporting Countries -1,7 0,2 1,6 2,4

Excluding Nigeria -2,0 -1,2 0,6 2,8

Low-income countries 4,4 5,8 5,4 6,0

SADC (Southern Africa Development Community) 1,4 1,8 2,0 2,9

Source: International Monetary Fund (Regional Economic Outlook: Sub-Saharan Africa, Oct-18);

Demand for attractive yields remained high, as countries initiated more Eurobonds issues in Sub-Saharan Africa 
over the course of 2018. Issues totalled USD 13.8 billion in the first half of the year, an amount higher than any 
previous issue, even when compared to the figure of USD 7.6 billion during 2017. Senegal alone issued USD 2.2 
billion in Eurobonds in March 2018, while Angola and Ghana issued Eurobonds worth USD 3 billion and USD 
2 billion respectively in May of the same year. In July, Angola resumed its Eurobonds issue, having raised USD 
500 million more.

INTERNATIONAL TRADE

The growth of world trade in goods decelerated significantly during the first half of 2018, having recovered 
slightly by the end of the year. The deceleration in world trade was sharper than previously expected, reflecting 
the deceleration of exports and global industrial activity.

In particular, global production of capital goods, which is highly trade-intensive, has declined markedly in 
Europe and the developing countries of Asia. Almost a third of European exports and more than half of German 
exports to developing countries in Asia correspond to machinery and vehicles. In turn, many capital goods, 
essentially electronic, account for a third of developing countries’ exports from Asia to Europe.
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Ongoing trade tensions involving the major economies are at the heart of the slowdown in the world trade in 
goods. New tariffs introduced since the beginning of last year have affected about 12% of US imports of goods, 
6.5% of Chinese imports and about 2.5% of global trade in goods. In the United States, tariff increases were 
implemented, creating national security concerns and unfair commercial practices.

Conversely, import restrictions and tariff increases were also implemented in some emerging and developing 
countries, in retaliation or as measures to reduce vulnerabilities to the intensification of capital outflow 
pressures. 
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COMMODITIES

For 2018 it is estimated that world demand for oil will reach a total of 98.8 mb/d (OPEC - Monthly Oil Market 
Report, December 2018), which represents growth of 1.5 mb/day (+1.54%) compared to the previous year. 
Despite representing slower growth than in the previous year, this level of demand is still considered healthy. 
More than half of this demand comes from OECD countries, of which the USA leads with a total demand of 
20.7 mb/d, followed by Europe and China with 14.4 mb/d and 12.7 mb/d respectively.

Preliminary data indicate that the global oil supply will reach an average of 100.64 mb/d in 2018 (November 2018 
data), which in comparison with the previous year represents growth of 4.2 mb/d. An increase in non-OPEC supply 
(including OPEC NGLs) driven mainly by OECD Americas countries and only a slight increase in OPEC crude oil 
production compared to the previous year are both noteworthy trends.

OPEC crude oil’s share of total world production fell 1.1% year-on-year to 32.7% (November 2018 data).

Million barrels/day 2015 2016 2017 2018* 2019p

OECD 46,4 46,7 47,4 47,9 48,1

Other 46,8 47,7 49,9 50,9 52

Global Demand 93,2 94,4 97,3 98,8 100,1

OPEC Production 31,5 32,4 32,6 32,9 N.a

Supply from Other Countries 63,8 63,2 63,8 67,7 68,6

Global Supply 95,3 95,6 96,4 100,6 N.a

Balance 2,1 1,2 -0,9 1,8 N.a

Source: OPEC (Market indicator, Nov-18)
2018* November data

After a year of strengthening and a promising start to 2018, the last few months have been especially 
disappointing for energy commodity prices.

Oil prices rose to more than USD 76 a barrel during June, reaching an all time high since November 2014, 
reflecting the collapse in Venezuelan production, unexpected interruptions in Canada and Libya and 
expectations of lower exports from Iran after the US imposed sanctions. However, prices fell back to around 
USD 71 a barrel in mid-August following a decision by the Organisation of Petroleum Exporting Countries 
(OPEC) and non-OPEC oil exporters, including Russia, to increase oil production. In November the price drop 
was over 17%, as global markets faced the prospect of excess oil supply and lower growth in global demand.
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The outlook for the future is still uncertain but future contracts are trading at a price of USD60 a barrel for 
2023. Substantial uncertainty remains surrounding the baseline assumptions for oil prices, through the 
deterioration in Saudi Arabia’s productive capacity, US sanctions against Iran and the continuing problems in 
Venezuela are undoubtedly strong signs of a price rise. However, on the other hand, OPEC’s greater production 
capacity, stronger than expected production in Canada and the US and ongoing commercial tensions that pose 
risks to world growth are factors that could push prices downward.

As for other commodities, the risk essentially stems from the trade conflict between the USA and China. The 
price of metals has fallen about 11% since February 2018 as a result of reduced demand from China. Strict 
environmental and credit regulations, along with tensions in global trade, have increased pricing pressures and 
substantially increased volatility in markets.

Estimates for agricultural and food commodity prices point to a 2.3% growth in 2018 in the face of uncertainties 
about trade tensions, but commodities present the best expectations of stability in the near future.

Source: Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO)
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INFLATION

The inflation outlook has been considered very heterogeneous in view of the different impacts that currency 
depreciations and the increase in energy prices have on the different economies.

The average rate of inflation in advanced economies was projected to close the year 2018 at 2% (1.7% in 2017), 
falling slightly to 1.9% in 2019. In emerging and developing economies, the general price level is expected to 
grow to 5% in 2018 (4.3% in 2017), maintaining the growth trend for 2019, with 5.2% inflation.

In the United States, the inflation rate shows a slight upward trend, with projections pointing to an inflation 
rate of 2.4% for 2018, falling to 2.1% in 2019. According to data from the American Federal Reserve (Fed), 
inflation recorded in household consumption expenditure was the factor that most influenced the rise in 
prices in the face of the effects of the expansionary fiscal policy. Thus, projections point to an overshooting of 
the inflation limits defined by the Fed, and future monetary policy measures are therefore expected to curb the 
impetus for inflation growth.

In Europe, strong signs of economic recovery have been seen as the main reason for price increases. After 
having seen levels of inflation very close to zero in the years 2015 and 2016, prices have been reacting to 
economic growth in the region. After inflation of 1.5% in 2017, forecasts call for inflation to rise to 1.7% in both 
2018 and 2019.

In emerging and developing countries, inflation has behaved differently depending on the extent to which 
their economies are exposed to recent oil price rises. In China, inflation will reach 2.2% in 2018 (1.6% in 2017), 
driven by rising food and energy prices.

As for the countries of the Sub-Saharan Africa region, our region witnessed an overall slowdown in inflation in 
the face of restrictive monetary measures, especially in countries such as Nigeria and Angola. Inflation in the 
region will be 8.6% in 2018 (11% in 2017), falling slightly to 8.5% in 2019.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE AND MONEY MARKET

During 2018 and in general, only currencies considered “safe havens”, such as the Yen (JPY), the US Dollar (USD) 
and the Swiss Franc (CHF), managed to appreciate in a year in which, despite respective stock market declines, 
investors continued to target this type of asset as their preferred investment.
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The euro depreciated against the Dollar by around 5% during 2018, ending the year at USD 1.14 per Euro 
(the Euro closed 2017 at USD 1.20). In February, the European currency reached USD 1.25, but growing 
concerns about the stability of the European economy and the release of more modest economic indicators 
than previously estimated were the main causes for the weakening of the European currency. On the other 
hand, the ongoing increases in interest rates by the Fed strengthened the American currency. However, the 
Euro is expected to appreciate in 2019 and 2020, especially after the end of Fed’s rate-hike cycle, which by all 
indications will end in mid-2019.

With regard to monetary policy and especially in the US, 2018 was a year of steady increases in the benchmark 
interest rate by the Fed. The US Federal Reserve’s benchmark rate increased 1% from 1.5% at the beginning of 
the year to 2.5% in December 2018.

According to some analysts, this cycle of monetary stimulus seems to be nearing its end, as the benchmark 
rate approaches optimal values (3%), while its effects on the economy seem to have diminished. Inflation has 
been close to the defined values (around 2%) and the latest productivity data indicate that the country is at its 
maximum potential without significant margins for wage increases.

The European Central Bank (ECB), on the other hand, kept its reference rate unchanged, maintaining its 
expansionist policy of low interest rates. The economic data were not encouraging, which does not allow for a 
change of strategy regarding a possible increase in the benchmark rates.

 

EUR/USD EUR/CHF

1,30

1,25

1,20

1,15

1,10

1,05

1,00

Performance of the Euro

D
ec

 - 
15

M
ar

 - 
16

Ju
n

 - 
16

Se
p

 - 
16

D
ec

 - 
16

M
ar

 - 
17

Ju
n

 - 
17

Se
p

 - 
17

D
ec

 - 
17

M
ar

 - 
18

Ju
n

 - 
18

Se
p

 - 
18

D
ec

 - 
18

LIBOR USD 3M EURIBOR 3M

3,2

2,8

2,4

2,0

1,6

1,2

0,8

0,4

0,0

-0,4

-0,8

Evolution of Interest Rates
Money Market

M
ar

 - 
16

Ju
n

 - 
16

Se
p

 - 
16

D
ec

 - 
16

M
ar

 - 
17

Ju
n

 - 
17

Se
p

 - 
17

D
ec

 - 
17

M
ar

 - 
18

Ju
n

 - 
18

Se
p

 - 
18

D
ec

 - 
18

M
ar

 - 
15

Ju
n

 - 
15

Se
p

 - 
15

D
ec

 - 
15

%

Source: Global Rates



ANNUAL REPORT 2018

38

3.2 NATIONAL ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

ECONOMIC ACTIVITY AND GROWTH

The information on the economic situation for the last quarter of 2018, published by the National Statistics 
Institute (INE), indicates a downtrend in the confidence indicator (CI), which was down 12 points during the 
period in question. The economic environment continues to be unfavourable for the manufacturing, mining, 
tourism and construction sectors, taking into account that the CI’s remained in negative territory in relation to 
the previous quarter. The communication sector remains on positive ground, with its confidence index growing 
from 16 to 19 points in the last quarter.
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The main factors that continue to influence this unfavourable economic climate are, according to the managers 
of the sectors analysed, the lack of raw materials, financial difficulties, shortage qualified personnel, reduced 
demand, excessive bureaucracy and difficulty in accessing bank credit.

Angola’s GDP fell 1.6% in the third quarter of 2018 in year-on-year terms according to a press release published 
by the National Statistics Institute (INE). This publication confirms the most recent indications that the country 
will end the year in a recession, below the figures presented in the 2018 State Budget (OGE).

According to the same press release, the oil sector continues to be the largest contributor to GDP, accounting 
for 33% in the third quarter. The construction and trade sectors follow at 12% and 11% respectively.

The fisheries sector was the main contributor to the negative change in GDP in the quarter under review, with 
a year-on-year decline of around 18%. Despite being the largest contributor to GDP, the oil sector’s value fell by 
10.6% in the third quarter compared to 2017.

Macroeconomic Indicators 

2016 2017 2018 Chg. 18/17

Accumulated Inflation (%) 41,1% 23,7% 18,6% -5,1 p.p

Real growth rate (%) 0,1% 1,1% 4,9%* +3,8 p.p

Oil Sector (incl. natural gas) 0,8% -4,6% 6,1%* +10,7 p.p

Non-oil sector 1,2% 1,9% 4,4%* +2,5 p.p

Oil exports (million barrels) 631,7 595,6 536,8 -10%

Average oil export price (US$/barrel) 40,4 52,0 70,3 35%

Net international reserves (US$Bn) 20,2 13,3 10,6 -20%

Sales of EUR at the BNA (US$Bn) 9,9 10,3 11,5 11%

Exchange rate 1 US$/AOA 165,9 165,9 308,6 86%

Overall budget balance - % GDP -0,6% -0,7% 1,0% +1,7 p.p

Source: Ministry of Finance (2018 State Budget) and BNA
                *2018 State Budget projection
                USD Bn = billion dollars.
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Projections from international institutions point to economic growth of 2.2% (World Economic Outlook of 
October, IMF) with the oil sector growing only 2.3% and the non-oil sector 2.1%. According to a statement 
issued by the IMF, after the visit to the country in May within the scope of 2018 Article IV Consultation, the 
institution was very satisfied with the macroeconomic stabilisation programme presented by the government, 
reinforcing the need for rigorous compliance with such programme in order to keep the country on the path of 
economic growth and to cope with possible decreases in the oil prices in the near future.

The prospects for future growth depend essentially on the capacity to implement structural reforms, which 
will help rebalance the economy and reduce its overdependence on oil.

Proj. year Budget

2017 2018 2019 Chg. 18/17

GDP at current prices (AOA billion) 20.262 8.212 34.808 23%

GDP growth rate -0,1 -1,1 2,8 +3,9 p.p

Real GDP growth and its components (%)

Agriculture 1,4 3,1 6,8 +3,7 p.p

Fisheries and byproducts -1,1 1,3 3,0 +1,7 p.p

Diamonds and Other -0,8 0,8 15,5 +14,7 p.p

Oil and Natural Gas -5,3 -8,2 3,1 +11,3 p.p

Manufacturing 1,2 0,1 2,1 +2,0 p.p

Construction 2,5 2,1 2 -0,1 p.p

Energy -1,7 30 0 -30,0 p.p

Market services 1,5 1,0 1,4 +0,4 p.p

Other (Public Administrative Sector) 0,3 2,0 2,0 0,0 p.p

Source: Ministry of Finance (Proposed 2019 State Budget).

After three years of economic recession, Angola could see its GDP grow by around 2.8% in 2019 according to 
the proposed State Budget for 2019. The priority now is not so much the pace of growth as its sustainability, 
which, with the support of the IMF and its expanded financing, will be in itself fundamental to the country’s 
macroeconomic stabilisation process, reinforcing the need to implement economic and financial reforms that 
promote foreign and other investment.

EXTERNAL ACCOUNTS AND MARKET

According to data for November 2018, the goods account was USD 2.17 billion. This figure represents a decline 
from the previous month (USD 2.19 billion) and slight growth in relation to the same period last year (USD 
2.05 billion) of -0.8% and +5.9%, respectively. The reduction in the goods account resulted from a reduction in 
the value of exports, which totalled USD 3.23 billion (-7%), and also from a reduction in the value of imports to 
USD 1.06 billion (-17%).
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It should be noted that the value of food imports fell by around 21.4% compared to the end of 2017, registering 
a total of USD 228 million. Fuels, on the other hand, were slightly reduced, reaching a total of USD 198 million.

Million USD Jun-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18

Goods Account 1.263 2.052 2.357 2.189 1.958 2.268 2.420 2.191 2.173

Exports 2.474 3.305 3.453 3.405 3.285 3.589 3.700 3.476 3.234

Oil 2.188 2.934 3.010 3.011 3.079 3.307 3.382 3.120 2.855

Diamonds 145 70 160 80 108 105 30 90 147

Associated Gas 113 248 217 252 14 112 283 216 222

Refined Products 19 37 43 47 55 48 48 32 0

Coffee 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,1 0,1 0,0 0,1 0,1 0,1

Other 10 16 24 15 30 18 -43 18 9

Imports 1.211 1.253 998 1.459 1.328 1.322 1.279 1.285 1.061

Fuels 137 166 206 199 124 175 196 199 198

Food 222 272 290 312 308 327 303 349 228

Other 853 814 755 948 896 820 781 737 636

Source: BNA (October Economic Bulletin)

Oil exports continue to account for the largest share of the country’s exports, representing 88% of total exports. 
However, the trend has been one of decline in the last months of the year, with a reduction of 5% compared to 
figures at the end of 2017.

The Gross International Reserves (GIR) closed the year at a total of USD 10.6 billion, which represents a reduction 
of 21% compared to the same period last year. This figure is the lowest in 2018, having fallen by around 11% 
between November and December. The level of international reserves currently covers around 5 months of 
imports of goods and services.
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With regard to the supply of foreign currency, in December Banco Nacional de Angola sold a total of EUR 1.2 
billion, having only exceeded this amount in May and June. Thus, cumulative sales up to the end of 2018 
were EUR 11.46 billion, which represents an increase of EUR 0.53 billion (+5%) compared to the amount made 
available to commercial banks in the same period last year.

With regard to the exchange rate, the last few months have been marked by a slower pace of devaluation, 
with some slight appreciation having even been observed during the auctions. This reflects less liquidity in the 
market and some moderation in depreciation expectations as the target of formal and informal exchange rate 
convergence is achieved.

However, the formal average exchange rate stood at AOA 308.6 and AOA 353.0 against the US Dollar and the 
Euro, respectively, in December. In cumulative terms, these Kwanza exchange rates represent an 86% and 90% 
depreciation from year-end 2017.

The exchange rates on the informal market were AOA 420 to the Dollar and AOA 475 against the Euro. 

INFLATION

The most recent data on the Consumer Price Index (CPI) published by the National Statistics Institute (INE) 
for December 2018 show an accumulated inflation rate of 18.60% versus 23.67% in the same period last year.

These data confirm the downward trend in inflation levels throughout 2018, following accumulated inflation 
levels of 41.12% in 2016 and 23.67% in 2017.

During 2018, the average monthly variation was around 1.43%, representing a reduction of 0.34% compared 
to the monthly average for 2017. The biggest monthly increase was seen in September, when the monthly 
variation reached 2.69%.

Throughout the month of December, the class that grew the most was “Alcoholic Beverages and Tobacco” 
(2.73%), with price increases in the classes of “Goods and Miscellaneous Services” (2.06%), “Clothing and 
Footwear” (2.01%) and “Food and Non-alcoholic Beverages” (1.53%) being noteworthy.
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The following were the provinces with the greatest increase: Bengo with 2.20%, Lunda Norte with 1.87%, Zaire 
with 1.82%, Moxico with 1.65% and Uíge with 1.62%. The provinces with the least variation were: Huambo 
with 1.14%, Bié with 1.21%, Benguela, Kwanza Norte with 1.25% each and Namibe with 1.27%.

PUBLIC DEBT

Since mid-October, interest rates on Angolan Eurobonds have shown an upward trend in all maturities. The 
growing climate of mistrust on the part of investors towards the behaviour of oil prices has been one of the 
reasons for this increase in rates. The price of a barrel exceeded the USD 80 barrier, then fell close to USD 60 at 
the end of the year.

This scenario, and despite the agreement with the International Monetary Fund called the Extended Fund 
Facility, drove Angolan Eurobonds rates to 7.45%, 8.14% and 9.23% for 2025, 2028 and 2048 maturities, 
respectively. 

With respect to the stock of public debt, Treasury Bills declined to AOA 581 billion in December 2018, 
representing an annual reduction of 50% or AOA 578 billion. As for Treasury Bonds, there was an annual 
increase of 58% (corresponding to AOA 2,677 billion), totalling 7,298 billion in December 2018. It should be 
noted that, in aggregate terms, there was an annual increase of AOA 2,099 billion in the stock of public debt.

Billion AOA

Evolution of Debt Stock

Securities Sep-18 Dec-17 Sep-18 Dec-18 Annual change

Treasury Bills 1.203 1.158 528 581 -50%

Treasury Bonds 4.423 4.621 6.394 7.298 58%

Source: BNA
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During 2018, AOA 1,321 billion in public debt securities were issued, representing a 49% decline compared 
to the same period of the previous year. This fact is essentially driven by the reduction of new issues Treasury 
Bills, which totalled AOA 652 billion at the end of 2018 (AOA 1,708 billion in December 2017). In relation to 
Treasury Bonds, meanwhile, the variation was less pronounced, with around AOA 668 billion being issued up 
to December 2018, versus AOA 860 billion in December 2017.

TAX REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE

Recent fiscal projections anticipate the end of the fiscal deficit that was foreseen in the 2018 State Budget, with 
new estimates pointing to a surplus of 0.6% of GDP, i.e. AOA 175 billion. According to the latest estimates, this 
surplus is supported by more robust tax revenue, totalling AOA 5,625 billion and a total estimated expenditure 
of AOA 5,450 billion.

Billion Kwanzas (AOA)
2016 
Exec.

2017 
Exec.

2018
State Budget

2018 
Revision

∆ 
17/18

1. Revenues 2.900 3.543 4.404 5.625 +58,7%

Taxes 2.599 3.203 4.139 5.257 +64,1%

Oil 1.373 2.209 2.399 3.886 +75,9%

Non-oil 1.227 1.194 1.740 1.372 +14,9%

Social Security Contributions/Other 300 340 265 368 +0,1%

2. Expenses 3.534 4.822 5.209 5.450 +13,0%

Current 2.889 3.499 4.230 4.370 +24,9%

Capital 634 1.313 979 1.080 -17,7%

3. Primary balance [1-2] -634 -1.279 -805 175 +113,7%

Net financing -612 -1.175 -805 175 +114,9%

Source: Proposed 2019 State Budget

These figures reflect an improvement in revenue in relation to 2017 and the figures advanced in the 2018 State 
Budget due to the improvements and broadening of the tax base, especially oil taxes. Revenues grew by 58%, 
while tax expenditure increased at a much slower rate of 13%.
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Source: Ministry of Finance

Recurrent fiscal deficits have forced the State to resort to both internal and external borrowing, systematically 
increasing the stock of debt. In 2018, borrowing totalled AOA 4,753 billion, with a reduction of up to AOA 3,930 
billion expected in 2019. Borrowing grew by 47% between 2017 and 2018, with a potential reduction of 17% in 
2019. This reduction is essentially derived from the increase in tax revenue forecast in 2019 and the reduction 
in internal borrowing, which will reach AOA 1,934 billion in 2019 after totalling AOA 2,794 billion in 2018.

During 2018, oil revenues logged an increase of 106% compared to the revenues of 2017. These revenues were 
boosted by the increase in the price of a barrel of oil from Angolan distribution lines, which closed the year 
2018 at around USD 65 a barrel, after having reached USD 78 in October. Nevertheless, export volume fell by 
about 10% compared to 2017, with a total of 536.8 million barrels exported.
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Taxes collected from oil operators (concessionaire), taxes on oil production (IPP), taxes on oil income (IRP) and 
taxes on oil transactions (ITP) accounted for 65%, 8%, 23% and 4% respectively of total oil revenues.

MONETARY AND FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

a) Monetary Policy and Liquidity
During fourth quarter 2018, BNA kept its rate unchanged at 16.5% following the June reduction. The 
interest rate on the marginal lending facility remained at 0% and the required reserve ratio remained 
unchanged at 17%. These decisions were reinforced by the fact that inflation maintained a downward 
trend throughout the year and considering that the monetary base in local currency, the operational 
variable of monetary policy, contracted by 10.7% on a year-on-year base.

The monetary base at the end of 2018 registered a total of AOA 1,706 billion, reflecting an increase of 
5.3% compared to the same period of the previous year. This increase is driven by the increase in bank 
reserves by around 10.5%, most of which comes from the growth of free reserves. It is important to note 
that this increase in the monetary base is essentially due to foreign currency (devaluation effect), since 
the monetary base in local currency fell by 10.7%. This reduction in local currency is mainly driven by the 
5.6% reduction in banknotes and coins in circulation and also by the 24% reduction in required reserves 
denominated in local currency.

Sep-17 Dec-17 Sep-18 Dec-18 Chg.17/18

Monetary base 1.420.149 1.620.219 1.456.136 1.706.141 5,3%

components in local currency: 1.245.771 1.453.192 1.166.519 1.297.632 -10,7%

Notes and coins in circulation 434.321 527.717 416.786 498.390 -5,6%

Bank reserve 985.828 1.092.502 1.039.349 1.207.751 10,5%

Required Reserve 529.557 891.500 714.339 841.035 -5,7%

In local currency 406.382 769.935 569.483 584.145 -24,1%

In foreign currency 123.175 121.565 144.856 256.890 111,3%

Free Reserve 456.271 201.002 325.010 366.716 82,4%

In local currency 405.068 155.706 180.249 215.097 38,1%

In foreign currency 51.203 45.296 144.761 151.619 234,7%

In relation to the interest rates applied in the Interbank Money Market (IMM), and after the beginning of 
the year (2018), when the LUIBOR (Luanda Interbank Offered Rate) overnight rate reached 21.9% in June, 
we see that in the second half of the year there was a considerable reduction to 16.75% (-5.2% since June). 
These reductions reflect to some extent the increase in liquidity in recent months, as well as a decrease 
in the value transacted in the interbank money market (IMM), which only totalled AOA 312 billion in 
December (-61% compared to the amount traded on the market in September).
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Reference Interest Rates – Monetary Policy

BNA Rate F.A.L 7 Days F.A. Overnight F.C. Overnight OMA 07 Days Rediscount

2018 

Jan-18 18,00% 0,00% 0,00% 20,00% 7,50% 20,00%

Feb-18 18,00% 0,00% 0,00% 20,00% 7,50% 20,00%

Mar-18 18,00% 0,00% 0,00% 20,00% 7,50% 20,00%

Apr-18 18,00% 0,00% 0,00% 20,00% 7,50% 20,00%

May-18 18,00% 0,00% 0,00% 18,00% 5,00% 20,00%

Jun-18 18,00% 0,00% 0,00% 18,00% 5,00% 20,00%

Jul-18 16,50% 0,00% 0,00% 16,50% 4,38% 20,00%

Aug-18 16,50% 0,00% 0,00% 16,50% 4,38% 20,00%

Sep-18 16,50% 0,00% 0,00% 16,50% 1,25% 20,00%

Oct-18 16,50% 0,00% 0,00% 16,50% 1,25% 20,00%

Nov-18 16,50% 0,00% 0,00% 16,50% 1,25% 20,00%

Dec-18 16,50% 0,00% 0,00% 16,50% 1,25% 20,00%

Source: BNA

Even so, and despite the decrease in turnover in the last months of 2018, a total of AOA 9,068 billion was 
transacted in the IMM, compared to AOA 2,353 billion in the previous year, clearly reflecting the liquidity 
difficulties experienced throughout the year.

As for the marginal lending facility (FCO), an instrument by which banks can turn to BNA if they are unable 
to meet their liquidity needs in the IMM, the former recorded a total of AOA 3,492 billion, roughly equal to 
the AOA 3,481 billion of the same period last year. However, activity in the last 3 months clearly indicates 
that banks have relied very little on this BNA facility, suggesting improved liquidity.
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b) Secondary debt market
During 2018, the Angolan Debt and Equity Exchange (BODIVA) reported a total of 3,896 trades on the 
secondary public debt market (MSDP). Trading value totalled AOA 795 billion in 2018, which represented 
growth of AOA 270 billion compared to the value traded in the same period last year. Of this total, 
approximately AOA 563 billion corresponded to Treasury Bonds.

Average monthly trading was AOA 66.2 billion, 51% higher than the monthly average for 2017.
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c) Monetary survey
Looking at the monetary survey, we see that net foreign assets, expressed in local currency, increased by 
69% year-on-year. This growth is essentially justified by the depreciation of the kwanza, as the components 
of foreign currency assets actually decreased. The biggest example of one of these components is Net 
International Reserves.

On the other hand, there was also an increase in credit granted to the central government, with an increase 
of 8% compared to the previous year, thus increasing the banks’ exposure to the central government.

The private sector continues to be the largest recipient of credit, with a total of AOA 4,251 billion, up 29% 
in value from 2017. 

Money supply (M3) increased by 24% in the last 12 months to AOA 8,111 billion (AOA 6,522 billion in 
December 2017). M1 registered an increase of 10%, having reached AOA 4,099 billion in December 2018.

It is important to point out that these increases in monetary aggregates are once again due to the devaluation 
of the Kwanza, since the variations are more pronounced in foreign currencies. Notes and coins in circulation 
fell 11% year-on-year to AOA 371 billion in December 2018 (AOA 419 billion in December 2017).
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in billion AOA, except percentages

Monetary Survey Dec-16 Dec-17 Dec-18
Chg. 

17/18 Chg. %

Foreign Assets (net) 3.843 2.687 4.534 1.847 69%

Credit to Central Government 1.103 2.590 2.806 216 8%

Credit to non-monetary Financial Institutions 4.853 9 13 4 42%

Credit to the Public Sector 85 103 95 -8 -8%

Private Sector 3.321 3.287 4.251 964 29%

Monetary Aggregate (M3) 6.529 6.522 8.111 1.590 24%

M2 (M1+ Near Money) 6.525 6.518 8.102 1.584 24%

M1 3.854 3.732 4.099 366 10%

Notes and coins held by the public 396 419 371 -48 -11%

Transferable deposits 3.458 3.314 3.728 414 12%

In local currency 2.575 2.404 2.422 18 1%

In foreign currency 883 909 1.306 396 44%

Near Money 2.671 2.786 4.003 1.218 44%

Other deposits 2.671 2.786 4.003 1.218 44%

In local currency 1.571 1.696 1.704 8 0%

In foreign currency 1.100 1.090 2.299 1.209 111%

Other instruments similar to deposits 4 4 9 5 134%

NATIONAL BANKING SYSTEM

With regard to the banking system’s soundness indicators, after a slight reduction in the risks associated with 
credit over the course of the year, overdue loans returned to levels close to those of the previous year with 
28.3% of loans classified as non-performing. These figures represent a slight decrease of 0.5% compared to the 
ratio at the end of 2017, which stood at 28.8%. It should be noted that in December 2016 this indicator was 
only 13%, which points to the difficulties encountered over the last 2 years by economic agents in meeting their 
obligations, especially those denominated in foreign currency or indexed to the exchange rate. The country’s 
current economic situation led to an increase in default levels, resulting in additional efforts to reinforce credit 
provisions.

As for the exposure of banks to the State, the indicator of credit granted to the State in December was lower 
than that recorded over the last 6 months; however, there was still an increase in the level of exposure to the 
public sector compared to 2017. Lending to the public sector reached 11.6% in December 2018, having grown 
0.7% since the end of the previous year.
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Angolan Banking System Indicators 2016 2017 2018

Capital adequacy

Solvency = Regulatory Own Funds / (Risk-Weighted Assets + Capital 19,2% 18,9% 24,2%

Basic Own Funds (Level I) / Risk-Weighted Assets 14,3% 17,6% 21,7%

Quality of assets

Credit (FC) / Total Credit 29,5% 25,1% 28,1%

Overdue Loans / Total Gross Lending 13,1% 28,8% 28,3%

Credit Distribution by Sector of Activity

Credit to the Public Sector under total credit 8,7% 10,9% 11,6%

Credit to Private Sector under total credit 91,3% 90,8% 88,5%

Profit and Profitability

Return on Assets (ROA) 2,2% 2,1% 4,4%

Return on Equity (ROE) 15,6% 14,5% 26,6%

Total Costs/Total Income 99,7% 99,8% 99,6%

Cost-to-income 45,2% 51,8% 30,3%

Liquidity

Net Assets / Total Assets 46,3% 33,8% 41,8%

Net Assets / Short-Term Liabilities 59,2% 43,2% 28,6%

Total Credit / Total Deposits 51,6% 49,3% 44,2%

Liabilities FC / Total Liabilities 34,4% 33,5% 46,1%

Market Sensitivity and Change

Net Open Foreign Exchange Exposure / Regulatory Own Funds 42,9% 46,1% 36,5%

Number of banks reporting information in the period 27 29 27

In general, the banking system has stable solvency levels, with the system’s average well above the minimum 
level required by BNA, which is 10%. Recently, BNA issued a new notice ordering the increase of the capital 
stock of banks from AOA 2.5 billion to AOA 7.5 billion, which may cause some impacts on the system, especially 
on banks with weaker capital structures. 

Return on equity (ROE) increased 12.1% compared to the end of 2017, having reached 26.6% at the end of 
December. This increase is mainly the result of exchange rate revaluations that have occurred over the year due 
to successive kwanza devaluations. 

However, these impacts may be mitigated over time due to the fact that BNA has imposed an exemption from 
the collection of minimum services and an analysis of the commissions and fees charged by banks is underway, 
which may affect the profitability of banks to some extent.

Return on assets (ROA) of the banking system reached 4.4% at the end of 2018, up 2.3% compared to 2017. 
This increase is mainly due to a sharp increase in bank assets, especially credit, but this indicator also increased 
because of greater income due to exchange rate revaluations.
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During 2018, loan interest rates in local currency for companies experienced considerable growth in the first 
months of the year and then eased by the end of the year. For maturities greater than 1 year, the rate reached 
24.1% in May, falling back to 20% in December. For maturities of less than 1 year, the interest rate closed the 
year at 16% for maturities between 181 days and 1 year and at 19.8% for maturities of up to 180 days. It should 
be noted that the rates were as high as 23.9% and 22.8% respectively, during the same period.

For the individual segment, interest rates were somewhat volatile, with the rate for maturities of more than 1 
year recording the highest growth. The rate grew 7.7%, closing the year at 21.4%. For maturities of less than 1 
year, rates only declined for maturities between 181 days and 1 year, which fell 2.2% since the end of 2017 to 
15.5%. For maturities up to 180 days, the rate closed the year at 27.3%, 3.1% higher than the rate recorded in 
2017.

3.3 RELEVANT REGULATORY FRAMEWORK OF 2018

a) Increase in the Minimum Share Capital of Financial Institutions Banking (Notice n.º  2/2018)
The minimum share capital of banks established by Notice no. 14/13 of 15 November was AOA 2.5 billion, 
corresponding to approximately USD 25 million. Given the current economic backdrop of inflation and 
currency devaluation, the change was justified.

Accordingly, and with the objective of strengthening the credibility of and confidence in the financial 
system, achieving macroeconomic stability and creating conditions for a climate conducive to economic 
growth, an interim plan was approved in October 2017 which clearly states the need to strengthen the 
minimum share capital of commercial banks, aimed at ensuring adequate levels of solvency and liquidity, 
thus promoting the consolidation of the National Financial System.
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In view of the above, this regulation establishes an increase in the minimum share capital of banking 
financial institutions to AOA 7.5 billion, with a view to ensuring adequate levels of solvency and liquidity.

b) Minimum Banking Services (Notice n.º 3/2018)
With the main objective of protecting the consumer, the regulator established in this legislation the 
exemption of consumers from paying for minimum services provided by financial institutions.

Minimum services include, inter alia, opening, maintaining and closing a current account, processing the 
provision of credit and direct debits, bank transfers through ATMs and electronic banking, and issuing 
the first debit card to operate all types of accounts. In doing so, the regulatory body will bring an end to 
the asymmetries and abusive practices that exist in commercial relations between customers and banks.

c) Auctions for the Purchase and Sale of Foreign Currency – Participation Procedures (Instruction no. 1/2018)
With this regulation, the regulatory entity aims to adjust the processes and procedures for buying and 
selling foreign currency to better meet the objectives of exchange rate policy.

The purchase and sale of foreign currency by Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA) is now carried out 
electronically through auctions, at intervals to be defined by BNA.

The participation of Commercial Banks in each auction is now subject to compliance with certain 
conditions, for example:

• Required level of minimum reserves;

• Defined currency position limit;

• Minimum limit of the regulatory solvency ratio;

• Presentation of accounting, statistical and management information within the deadlines defined 
by the Banking Financial Institutions Supervision, Asset Markets and Foreign Exchange Control 
Departments;

• Existence of internal control systems and procedures that ensure compliance with legal and regulatory 
provisions on the marketing of foreign currency.

d) Foreign Exchange Policy Reference Exchange Rate Calculation Methodology (Instruction n.º 3/2018)
Considering the need to define the process of formation of the reference exchange rate of the primary 
market, as well as the margins allowed on exchange operations in the secondary market, Banco Nacional 
de Angola published this regulation, with the aim of establishing limits on the sale of foreign currency in 
the interbank market, in which banking institutions may not apply a margin higher than 2% (two percent) 
on the exchange rate. 

e) Foreign exchange position limits (Notices n.º 1/2018 and n.º 12/2018)
In order to ensure the optimal use of foreign exchange resources available in the financial market and 
to increase the level of transparency and comparability in the foreign exchange operations of financial 
institutions, throughout 2018 BNA established several foreign exchange position limits, both long or 
short;

• Notice n.º 1 (22/01/2018) established the limit at 10%

• Notice n.º 12 (27/12/2018) established the limit at 5%

f) Required Reserves (Instruction n.º 05/2018 and n.º 10/2018)
This regulatory initiative updated the existing rules on the calculation and compliance of required reserves 
to the current macroeconomic stability framework, with a view to improving the efficiency of monetary 
policy instruments.

Therefore, the regulatory body made two changes throughout 2018:

• Reduced the required reserves ratio from 21% to 19% (25 May 2018) by changing the reserve base 
for the calculation of reserve requirements in local currency (LC), while the foreign currency (FC) ratio 
remained unchanged at 15%;

• And in July it further reduced the required reserves ratio by 19% to 17% in local currency, maintaining 
the coefficient in foreign currency.
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Notices

Number Theme Subject Publication Effective Date

Notice 
N.º 01/2018

Foreign 
Exchange Pli

Currency Position Limit 22-01-2018 22-01-2018

Notice 
N.º 02/2018

Financial 
System

Adequacy of the Minimum Share Capital 
and Regulatory Own Funds of Banking 
Financial Institutions

09-03-2018 02-03-2018

Notice 
N.º 03/2018

Financial 
System

Exemption from Commission Charges 
for Minimum Banking Services

09-03-2018 02-03-2018

Notice 
N.º 04/2018

Payment 
System

Amendment to the wording of Article 12 
of Notice N.º 09/17, of 12 September, on

22-03-2018 07-03-2018

Notice 
N.º 05/2018

Foreign 
Exchange Policy

Rules and Procedures Applicable to Foreign 
Exchange Transactions for Import and Export of 
Goods

17-07-2018 17-09-2018

Notice 
N.º 06/2018

Foreign 
Exchange Policy

Currency Position Limit 15-08-2018 15-08-2018

Notice 
N.º 07/2018

Financial 
System

FINANCIAL SYSTEM -Requirements and 
Procedures for the Authorisation of the 
Establishment of Non-Bank Financial 
Institutions of Non-Bank Financial Institutions

30-11-2018 30-11-2018

Notice 
N.º 08/2018

Financial 
System

Adequacy of Minimum Share Capital and 
Regulatory Own Funds of Non-Banking 
Financial Institutions

30-11-2018 30-11-2018

Notice 
N.º 09/2018

Exchange 
Houses

Operational Rules 30-11-2018 30-11-2018

Notice
N.º 10/2018

Financial 
System

FINANCIAL SYSTEM - Delay in Submission 
of Periodic Information

30-11-2018 30-11-2018

Notice 
N.º 11/2018

Provision 
of payment 
services

PROVISION OF PAYMENT SERVICES 
Operational Rules of Funds Remittance Service

30-11-2018 30-11-2018

Notice 
N.º 12/2018

Foreign 
Exchange Policy

Currency Position Limit 27-12-2018 27-12-2018

Notices

Number Theme Subject Publication Effective Date

Instruction
Nº. 01/2018

Foreign
Exchange Policy

Auctions for the purchase and sale of foreign 
currency - Participation Procedures

19-01-2018 22-01-2018

Instruction
Nº. 02/2018

Foreign
Exchange Policy

Procedures to follow when carrying out 
foreign exchange operations.

19-01-2018 01-02-2018

Instruction
Nº. 03/2018

Foreign
Exchange Policy

Exchange rate regime 19-01-2018 24-01-2018

Instruction
Nº. 04/2018

Monetary Policy
Liquidity Lending Operations of 
Development Banks

22-01-2018 19-01-2018

Instruction
Nº. 05/2018

Monetary Policy Required Reserves 25-05-2018 28-05-2018

Instruction
Nº. 06/2018

Foreign
Exchange Policy

Limits on Foreign Exchange Operations 
for Family Aid

21-06-2018 21-06-2018

Instruction
Nº. 07/2018

Foreign
Exchange Policy

Creation of an Independent Foreign Exchange 
Control Function in Banking Financial
Institutions

21-06-2018 21-06-2018

Instruction
Nº. 08/2018

Foreign
Exchange Policy

Temporary Suspension of Licensing of Foreign 
Exchange Operations of Imports of Goods

21-06-2018 21-06-2018

Instruction
Nº. 09/2018

Foreign
Exchange Policy

Limits on Foreign Exchange Merchandise Trans-
actions

19-07-2018 17-09-2018

Instruction
Nº. 10/2018

Monetary Policy Required Reserves 19-07-2018 23-07-2018

Instruction
Nº. 11/2018

Interbank
Money Market 
- IMM

Liquidity Lending Operations of Development 
Banks

14-09-2018 14-09-2018

Instruction
Nº. 12/2018

Foreign
Exchange Policy

Payment of Hospital and School Expenses 14-09-2018 14-09-2018

continues
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continuation

Notices

Number Theme Subject Publication Effective Date

Instruction
N.º 13/2018

Foreign
Exchange Policy

Prevention of Money Laundering and Terrorist 
Financing in International Trade Operations

21-09-2018 22-10-2018

Instruction
N.º 14/2018

Foreign
Exchange Policy

Remuneration of Collateral Deposits
Associated with Letters of Credit

19-11-2018 21-11-2018

Instruction
N.º 15/2018

Foreign
Exchange Policy

Sale of Foreign Currency to Foreign Exchange 
Offices and Payment Service Providers

19-11-2018 21-11-2018

Instruction
N.º 16/2018

Foreign currency 
sales limits

Limits on the Sale of Foreign Currency
Applicable to Payment Service Providers and 
Exchange Houses

30-11-2018 30-11-2018

Instruction
N.º 17/2018

Repatriation of fi-
nancial resources

Operational Rules 30-11-2018 30-11-2018

Instruction
N.º 18/2018

Financial System
Conversion of Loans in Foreign Currency
Granted to Individuals

30-11-2018 30-11-2018

Instruction
N.º 19/2018

Foreign
Exchange Policy

Auctions for the Purchase and Sale of Currency - 
Organisational and operational procedures

03-12-2018 03-12-2018

Instruction
N.º 20/2018

Foreign
Exchange Policy

Reference Exchange Rates - Calculation
Methodology - Exchange Rates of Banking Finan-
cial Institutions

03-12-2018 03-12-2018

Instruction
N.º 21/2018

Foreign
Exchange Policy

Extension of the Temporary Suspension of 
the Licensing of Foreign Exchange Operations for 
Import of Goods

11-12-2018 11-12-2018

Directives

Number Theme Subject Publication Effective Date

Directive 
Nº. 01/DSI/DRO/

DMA/2018

Foreign
Exchange Policy

Currency Position Limit 
Daily Information 
Commercial Banks

31-01-2018 31-01-2018

Directive 
Nº. 01/DCC/2018

Foreign
Exchange Policy

Submission of Information Related 
to Requirements Table

09-04-2018 09-04-2018

Directive 
Nº. 04/DMA/2018

Markets
BNA KEY INTEREST RATE 
NOTICE Nº. 10/2011, of 20 OCTOBER

17-07-2018 17-07-2018

Directive 
Nº. 05/DMA/

DRO/2018
Market

Access Requirements for the Overnight 
Marginal Lending Facility - FCO

18-07-2018 18-07-2018

Directive Nº. 04/DSP/
DRO/2018

Payment 
System

Requirements for Calculation and 
Compliance of Required Reserves

19-07-2018 19-07-2018

Directive 
Nº. 03/DRO/2018

Guide to Stress Test 
Programme Imple-
mentation

Guide to Stress Test Programme 
Implementation

31-07-2018 31-07-2018

Directive 
Nº. 05/DSB/DRO/

DMA/ 2018

Currency
Position Limit

Daily Information - Commercial Banks 22-08-2018 22-08-2018

Directive 
Nº. 03/DCC/2018

Foreign
Exchange Policy

Submission of Information Related 
to Requirements Table

06-11-2018 06-11-2018

Directive 
Nº. 06/DEF/DRO/ 2018

Financial
System

Change in the interest rate of the 
Bankita à Crescer product

04-12-2018 04-12-2018

Directive Nº. 06/DMA/ 
2018

Sending 
information on the 
interbank foreign 
exchange market

Sending information on the interbank
foreign exchange market

11-12-2018 11-12-2018
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4.1 CHARACTERISATION OF THE SEGMENTS

Banco Keve’s commercial network is structured in such a way as to provide the best services to its Customers. 
In order to make this possible, the Bank invests in a segmentation that allows it to offer specific products and 
services aimed at private, institutional and corporate Customers.
 
In order to adapt and improve the range of banking services and products, as well as to promote better 
monitoring of its Customers, Banco Keve’s commercial area is divided into three segments (DGE - Large 
Corporates Department, DRC - Commercial Network Department and DPR - Private Banking Department) that 
operate in each of these different segments, promoting a closer relationship with each segment.

The main segmentation criteria are as follows: 

Large Corporates Department
• Company groups or companies (from a certain turnover level)

• Groups of state-owned business entities, Associations, Foundations and Public Institutes

Commercial Network Department
• Retail Banking – Private Customers

• Small and medium-sized enterprises whose characteristics are not classified as DGE

Private Banking Department
• Private Banking Customers (Self-Employed Professionals, Entrepreneurs and Top Private)

This form of organisation enabled Banco Keve to record a turnover in 2018 of AOA 196.9 billion, which 
represents growth of 8% in relation to the turnover recorded in the previous year.

Customer funds Credit Turnover

71.864.564 196.997.879

125 133 315
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4.2 LARGE CORPORATES

This segment faced new challenges in 2018 in relations with corporate Customers, especially due to the difficult 
environment that the country is currently encountering. The main challenge from the beginning of the year 
was to find solutions for the surplus of domestic currency in the face of foreign currency constraints. However, 
throughout 2018, the depreciation of the Kwanza, combined with stricter management of the supply of foreign 
currency, allowed BNA to resolve most of the operations in arrears due to the foreign currency shortfall. This, 
and the introduction of new rules for the payment of imports, has led many companies to start experiencing 
liquidity difficulties in local currency.

In 2018 the number of Customers in this segment grew by 12.5% compared to 2017, reaching a total of 1,390 
customers. In terms of Customer funds, the large corporates segment totalled AOA 57,583 million in 2018, up 
AOA 7,589 million from the previous year.

The large corporates segment currently accounts for 46% of total Customer resources, representing growth of 
3% over the course of 2018 (43% in 2017 vs. 46% in 2018). 

At the end of 2018, total demand deposits (AOA 24,269 million) represented around 42% of total deposits in the 
segment, down 4% on the previous year. Despite the reduction in their weight, demand deposits nevertheless 
increased AOA 1,153 million compared to 2017. Term deposits totalled AOA 33,314 million, an increase of AOA 
6,435 million compared to the same period of the previous year, essentially explained by the improvement in 
the foreign exchange market, which, with the reduction of the exchange rate oscillation, allowed companies 
to better forecast their currency needs for imports, allowing them to increase their savings in longer term 
products.

45 130 375   49 994 072   
57 582 650   

 89 263 624   

 114 102 663   
 125 133 315   

2016 2017 2018

Total DepositsDGE

Large Corporates Deposits (DGE)
(Thousand AOA)

 23 610 450    26 878 729    33 313 953   

21 519 925   
23 115 343   

24 268 697   

2016 2017 2018

Large Corporates Deposits (DGE)
(Thousand AOA)
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In terms of currency, deposits in local currency (LC) represent the largest share of total deposits in the large 
corporates segment, with a weight of 86% (96% in 2017). In 2018, deposits in LC recorded growth of AOA 2,816 
million compared to the same period of the previous year.

The growth of deposits in local currency has been the engine of resource growth in view of the scarcity of 
foreign currency in the domestic market, however, and given the devaluation of the local currency during the 
year, the value of foreign currency (FC) recorded growth when converted into local currency, which justifies the 
reduction of the weight of the local currency compared to 2017. 

4.3 COMMERCIAL AND PRIVATE BANKING NETWORK

The commercial network segment, due to its scope, continued to allow small and medium-sized companies 
and individual customers to assume great relevance throughout 2018. In 2018, the DRC segment recorded 
total deposits of AOA 56,152 million, which represents a modest growth of AOA 794 million compared to the 
same period of the previous year, which was reflected in the decrease of its weight in the bank’s total deposits 
to 45% (49% in 2017). 

As for the Private Banking segment, it has maintained its growth over the last few years, reaching a total of 
AOA 11,399 million in 2018.

41 212 126
47 042 843 49 859 254

45 130 375
49 994 072

57 582 650

 

2016 2017 2018

Total Large CorporatesLC

Deposits by Large Corporates in LC
(Thousand AOA)

89 263 624

114 102 663
125 133 315

36 839 152

55 357 963 56 151 801

2016 2017 2018

Total DepositsDRC

Network Deposits
(Thousand AOA)
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In terms of Customers, the commercial network reached a total of 199,765 Customers in 2018, representing 
99% of the Bank’s total number of Customers. Due to its characteristics, the Private Banking has a very small 
representation in terms of Customers (about 319 Customers), but due to its power and volume of deposits, it 
has a very high leverage.

Of the deposit types, Demand Deposits (DD) accounts are the most representative of the commercial network, 
with a total of AOA 42,378 million. Demand deposits in this segment grew by 29% from the previous year, 
while term deposits fell by 25% to AOA 13,774 million. This performance of term deposits reflects the greater 
difficulty of Customers in this segment to build savings in the face of the more restrictive economic situation 
in the country.

As for the Private Banking segment, the largest share of deposits goes to term deposits, with a total of AOA 
9,127 million. This value represents 80% of the deposits in the Private segment, as Customers in this segment 
clearly demonstrate the greatest appetite for savings and investment products.

89 263 624

114 102 663
125 133 315

7 294 097 8 750 628 11 398 865

2016 2017 2018

Total DepositsDPR

Private Deposits

 24 974 702    

36 804 955   
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Local Currency (LC) continues to account for the largest share of deposits at Banco Keve and also in the network 
segment. About 90% of the deposits of the commercial network are in national currency, totalling AOA 50,682 
million in 2018. 

In the Private segment, deposits in local currency still represent 73%, yet resources in foreign currency have 
increased 67%, largely due to currency devaluation.

33 686 663

52 384 045 50 681 496

36 839 152

55 357 963 56 151 801
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4.4 DISTRIBUTION CHANNELS AND ELECTRONIC BANKING

BRANCH DISTRIBUTION

Channels

The Bank has 64 business units that are composed of a network of branches, business centres and Private 
Banking facilities. We are located in almost all provinces and provide services to more than 201,480 Customers. 
Most of these units are located in the province of Luanda.

The Bank has a policy of continuously opening business units which, in turn, is managed based on the 
assessment of the business potential of specific areas or Customers. 

Cabinda

Zaire

Uíge

Bengo

Luanda Cuanza
Norte

Cuanza Sul

Benguela
Huambo Bié

Huíla

Namibe

Cunene

Cuando
Cubango

Moxico

Lunda Sul

Lunda NorteMalange

Open Branches Coming soon

Namibe Cabinda Lunda Norte

Huíla Bengo Uíge

Cunene Luanda Cuanza Norte

Cuando Cubango Cuanza Sul Lunda Sul

Huambo Benguela Moxico

Malanje Zaire Bié
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Automatic Teller Machines (Atm)

At the end of 2018, the Bank had a total of 118 ATMs, which represented growth of only 1% compared to 2017 
(+1 ATM). The bank’s ATMs are distributed among 41 municipalities, representing a market share of 3.8% (9th 
place) out of a total of 3,101 ATMs registered in the banking system.

2016 2017 2018 Var.

N.º ATM 105 117 118 1,0%

N.º of Municipalities 41 41 41 0,0%

Of the 118 registered ATMs only 109 are active, which represents an activity rate of 92.7%.

In general terms, the national banking system had a total of 3,101 automatic teller machines in 2018, with an 
activity rate of 95%. The growth was 2% compared to the number of automatic teller machines registered in 2017 
(3,026).
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Automatic Payment Terminals (APT)

In 2018, the Bank recorded a 31.1% reduction in its network of POS terminals, totalling 1,231 POS terminals (1,787 in 
2017). The level of activity stood at 59% (measured by the ratio of active POS to registered POS) and was below the 
level of activity of the banking system virtually throughout 2018 (the level of activity of the banking system stood 
at 64% at the end of 2018).

Debit (Multicaixa) and Visa Cards

As regards debit cards (Multicaixa), the Bank reported 119,563 cards issued and valid, of which only 76,870 were 
active (64% of activity). The analysis of the ratio of live debit cards to valid cards shows that the Bank performed 
below the network average (a decrease of 5%) throughout 2018. 
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The national network registered a total of 6,390,610 valid debit cards of which 4,568,746 are active. These figures 
show that the card activity rate in the network was 71% for 2018. 

During 2018, Banco Keve reached an important milestone in the provision of information on Visa cards to its 
Customers. In 2018, the transition to full integration was successfully completed, allowing Customers to access 
through iKeve all movements made with a Visa card, as well as the conditions associated with their cards (such as 
ceiling, payment method and expiry date).
 
In relation to the production of Visa cards, the reduction was very pronounced due to the economic environment 
and the limited availability of foreign currency received by the country. During 2018, the Bank reached a total of 37 
Visa cards issued, with a reduction of 991 cards in just one year (corresponding to -96%). 
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Internet Banking (iKeve) and Keve SMS

In 2018, there were 11,022 Internet Banking contracts signed, of which 653 were corporate contracts and 10,369 
were individual contracts. Access by individuals increased by 293% compared to 2017, a class in which transactions 
were up 466%.

Electronic Banking Statistics

2015 2016 2017 2018 Chg. 18/17

N.º of Contracts 1/ Companies

Individuals 1.319 1.921 2.918 653 -78%

Total 6.543 11.210 43.153 10.369 -76%

N.º of Transactions 7.862 13.131 46.071 11.022 -76%

N.º Accesses 2.749.539 340.483 3.109 17.602 466%

N.º Transactions/N.º 370.049 1.189.386 792.450 3.117.056 293%

N.º of Accesses 350 26 0 1,5 100%

Keve SMS 47 91 17 282.803 1663447%

N.º of Contracts 1/

N.º Accesses 15.046 25.603 41.856 10.498 -75%

Keve Tablet 50.481 160.742 904.071 46.183 -95%

N.º of Contracts

N.º Accesses 2.641 4.533 9.753 4.564 -53%

N.º de Acessos 1.687 1.090.166 0 214 100%
1/ Contracts in force on 31 December 2018

In 2018 Keve SMS recorded 10,498 signed contracts, representing a reduction of 75% compared to 2017. The number 
of Keve Tablet contracts signed stood at 4,564 in December 2018 (annual reduction of 53%).

Services provided by iKeve and Keve SMS

iKeve KeveSMS

• Checking statements

• Ordering Cheques

• Account-to-account transfers

• Dues dates

• Overall financial position

• Term Deposit Account

• Current account

• Customise

• Messages

• Electronic Docs

• Debit Authorisations

• Credit Cards

• Financing

• Payments

• Foreign currency

• Checking:

Balances

Transactions

NBA/IBAN

Summary of Overall Financial Position

Full Version of overall Financial Position

Available accounts

List of available accounts

Foreign Exchange

Transfers

Sending Confirmation Key Digits
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5.1 RISK MANAGEMENT ORGANISATION AND POLICY

Within the scope of the new regulatory package issued by BNA, Angolan financial institutions have given 
a greater focus to matters of risk management and mitigation. Risk management is one of the major 
responsibilities for business continuity and is a task that is primarily linked to the Bank’s governing body 
(Executive Committee), with its risks being managed and monitored by the Risk Office. In turn, Banco Keve 
Employees have the responsibility to identify and report potential risk events that could impact their business.

At the request of the supervisory body, Banco Nacional de Angola, the financial institutions adopted more 
effective models and risk control, in order to preserve the business structure while maintaining accessible 
levels of default, as well as minimum regulatory capital in view of the solvency of banks.

The year involved some positive trends despite considerable increases in inflation rates and unemployment 
rates, directly impacting the financial situation of Customers with liabilities to the Bank. But as a result of 
these situations, the Bank positioned itself in a coherent manner, supporting Customers and providing better 
solutions for their needs and mutual benefit.

The 2018 financial year demonstrated the overarching importance among financial institutions in the 
adequate management of their risks, and was marked by the consolidation and robustness of the Bank’s risk 
management system and the reporting of all information requested by the supervisory authority under the 
New Regulatory Package, as well as turbulence affecting the domestic financial market, especially due to the 
slowdown in economic activity and the decline in the oil sector, impacting average income.

Risk management at Banco Keve is based on the constant identification and analysis of exposure to different 
risks (credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk, operational risk and other risks), and on the execution of strategies 
to maximise results in relation to risks within pre-established and duly supervised restrictions.

The Board of Directors and Executive Committee have the responsibilities for and share an understanding of 
the risks of the activity and the degree of tolerance or risk appetite, as governing bodies of the Bank. At the 
level of the Executive Committee (EC), the responsibilities of the Risk Office (GRI) is assigned to an Executive 
Director, with no direct responsibility for commercial divisions.

It is through this intervening structure of the Bank’s governance that a framework and robust control 
mechanisms are established for the full exercise of its own powers, under its supervision, to maintain structures 
with control and processes that aim to ensure and monitor the risk of the Bank’s activity from a perspective of 
day-to-day management and strategic management.

The Bank has a centralised and independent risk analysis and control unit, in accordance with best international 
practices, and the Risk Office (GRI) is responsible for monitoring all global risks. 

Financial Risk
Management Office

Credit
Risk

Market
Risk

Liquidity
Risk

Operational
Risk

Non-Financial Risk
Management Office

Risk Management 
Office

Organisational Structure of the Risk Management System
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Below are the various structural bodies involved in the full management of capital and risks, with the respective 
responsibilities defined by three lines of defence.

The functional organisation of these lines of defence is presented as follows:

 

The model is also characterised by the existence of three effective lines of defence in the management 
and control of risks, which helps significantly to promote improvement in the communication, control and 
management of risks, clarifying rules and responsibilities essential to ensure a continuous monitoring of risk 
management initiatives.

Risk Management Policy and Cycle

The Bank’s risk management policy has a conservative profile in order to safeguard the solvency and long-
term sustainability of the Institution. Banco Keve follows commonly accepted practices with regard to risk 
management, including the recommendations of regulatory bodies, and its policy is based on a set of structural 
principles:

• Conservatism: it is Banco Keve’s objective to properly and prudently manage the portfolio of risks to 
which it is exposed, assuming stricter preconditions in order to ensure that the capital allocated to each 
of the risks is sufficient to support losses caused by very adverse scenarios, thus preserving the Bank’s 
capital and financial value;

• Independence: the assessment and monitoring of the level of exposure to risk should be carried out by 
an organisational structure independent from the Bank’s risk-taking organisational structures, although 
these should also be assessed and monitored within the scope of their duties and powers;

• Review: taking into account that the environment in which the Bank operates undergoes constant 
change, the risk management policy should be periodically reviewed to adapt to new characteristics and 
to incorporate new information or methodologies, either by imposition of supervisory bodies or by the 
systematic improvement objectives of the Institution;

• Cooperation: the ultimate objective of risk management is to create conditions that improve the decision-
making capacity of the Bank’s various structural units, in order to minimise the impact of adverse events 
on its results. In this sense, all Departments and Offices should collaborate in this process;

• Integration: risk management must be integrated into the Bank’s daily activity, as well as into the 
planning of its objectives and strategy.

First line of defence

Extern
al A

u
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Identification and assessment of the most relevant risk categories 

The mission of Banco Keve’s Risk Office is to ensure the continuous functioning of the Bank’s risk management 
system, ensuring its soundness and development and fostering a culture of effective risk management in all 
organisational units.

To this end, the Risk Office carries out a cycle that enables it to efficiently identify and assess the most relevant 
risks.

The Risk Office carries out the cycle of managing all relevant risks, supported by the most appropriate processes 
and tools in accordance with the Bank’s risk profile and with the guidelines issued by the national regulatory 
bodies. In doing so, the Bank ensures compliance with the risk control strategy, supporting the operation of the 
implemented limit system.

5.2 CREDIT RISK

As established in Notice n.º 07/2016 of 22 June on Risk Governance, financial institutions must adopt risk 
management functions, policies and processes for the identification, assessment, monitoring, control and 
provision of information on credit risk.

Accordingly, Banco Keve’s credit risk management process is characterised by four cycles. The cycles were 
established in accordance with BNA’s guidance in Instruction n.º 9/2016 of 16 May, which establishes the 
prudential limits for large risks. Subsequent to the publication of this notice, Instruction n.º 12/2016 of August 
concerning the calculation and regulatory capital requirements for credit risk and counterparty credit risk and 
Instruction n.º 13/2016 of 8 August concerning the provision of information on the regulatory capital requirement 
for credit risk and counterparty credit risk, both regulate the technical specificities and the sharing of information 
for the calculation of requirements. Finally, Instruction n.º 03/2017 of 30 January, which defines the reporting of 
information on Prudential Limits to Major Risks.

In accordance with Notice 2/2013, credit risk is the risk arising from the non-fulfilment of contractually 
established financial commitments by a borrower or counterparty in operations. 

Loan applications are monitored, analysed and managed by the Credit Division, with the participation of the 
Credit Monitoring and Recovery Office (GMR) in the event of defaults of more than 90 days. In structural terms 
the task is carried out and addressed before the credit committee every two weeks

Credit risk management system

The approval of credit operations for individuals and companies follows the principles and procedures 
expressed in the Bank’s credit regulation, approved by Service Order CRD/0044.

The loan application decision process covers the segments of individuals and companies and is based on four 
decision levels defined according to the nature of the operation, its amount, the term, the exposure of the 
Customer/Economic Group and the level of risk, as set out in the Regulation of the Credit Commission and 
Committees - EFU/0345.

Identification

Evaluation

Monitoring and 
Control

Report
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Loan applications undergo a meticulous process before approval by the credit commission and committees, 
which are made up of permanent and occasional members, with an additional four levels of hierarchical 
decision-making depending on the relevance and materiality of the credit proposal.

The permanent members, due to their functions of risk analysis and business relationship, must be involved in 
the decision-making process, and the composition of occasional members varies according to the characteristics 
of the applications to be decided and the limits of competence in question. 

The composition of committee or credit committee meetings varies according to the counterparty involved, 
the amount of exposure, the limit of competence or if there are additional characteristics that require the 
participation of other members of the Bank.

The credit committee respects the following levels:

Credit Committee

Level I
• Chairman of Board of Directors
• Chairman of Executive Committee
• Three (3) Executive Directors (Responsible Area*/Risk/Commercial)

Credit Committee

Level II

Permanent Occasional*

• Chairman of Executive Committee (PCE)
• Three (3) Executive Directors (Responsible 

Director*/Risk/Commercial)

DRH - Opinion on loans to 
employees.

GMR - Opinion on credit operations 
with a default level higher than 90 
days.

DCR - Opinion on credit operations 
to external Customers and opinion 
on credit operations with a default 
level below 90 days.

DIB - Propose fact sheets for the 
analysis of credit derived from credit 
lines. 

Level III
• Three (3) Executive Directors (Responsible 

Area*/Risk/Commercial)

Level IV Commercial Officer + Commercial Director

Following the directives issued by the regulatory authority concerning risk monitoring and prudential 
supervision as well as other global risk management needs, a framework approved by Service Order 210/2016 
was developed for the monthly tracking and monitoring of credit risk, with global information on the portfolio 
of loans to Customers in various dimensions, as well as information on portfolio quality, concentration and 
profitability.

In this context, analyses of the performance of the credit portfolio are regularly carried out, in order to establish 
monitoring mechanisms appropriate to the evolution of the levels of risk of certain Customers and respective 
operations, anticipating possible situations of difficulty and the application of preventive measures for risks in 
progress.

Problem loans, provision coverage ratios, write-offs and recoveries are also analysed on a monthly basis. 
Within the scope of credit risk control activities, several reports are produced and disclosed to the Executive 
Committee:

• Analysis of the evolution of overdue loans

• Analysis of the evolution of the customer loan portfolio

• Control of concentration limits

5.3 LIQUIDITY RISK

As described in point 3.9 of Instruction n.º 19/2016 of 30 August, liquidity risk is defined as the risk arising from 
the institution’s inability to meet its liabilities when they become due.
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The Bank’s liquidity management is a competence of the Financial Markets Department (DMF), in line with the 
monitoring process assigned to the GRI. At a structural level, liquidity management is monitored by the Asset 
and Liability Management Committee (ALCO), which is carried out on a monthly basis. In the ALCO Committee, 
liquidity is monitored through tables of cumulative gaps and contingency, the financing structure of borrowed 
capital and residual maturities of assets and liabilities.

Likewise, the evolution of the Bank’s liquidity is analysed weekly, as well as in compliance with the reports to 
BNA on a monthly and fortnightly basis. This analysis involves the analysis by currency and by maturity gap 
table, which allows the timely identification of possible mismatches, as well as a dynamic management of 
their coverage policies. This information is detailed by the different sources of funding, permanent monitoring 
of possible concentration levels, as well as the different assets constituted.

This process is reinforced from a control perspective by the regulatory indicators defined by BNA, namely 
the liquidity tables provided for in Instruction No. 19/2016, also ensuring compliance with the liquidity and 
observation ratios, in terms of capital adequacy rules.

Risk management is the responsibility of the GRI, which has a balance sheet management application that 
allows it to project the cash flows of the balance sheet, allowing better monitoring of liquidity management 
reports.

5.4 MARKET RISK

In accordance with Article 3(15) of Risk Governance Notice No. 07/2016, BNA defined market risk as that arising 
from adverse movements in the prices of bonds, shares or commodities, including exchange rate and interest 
rate risk. Market risk is monitored by the GRI and additionally analysed within the scope of the meetings of the 
Liabilities and Assets Management Committee, which are held on a monthly basis.

Exchange Rate Risk

Under Article 3(15)(a) of Notice No. 07/2016 of Risk Governance, the exchange rate risk is defined as that 
arising from movements in exchange rates resulting from the foreign exchange positions originated by the 
existence of financial instruments denominated in different currencies.

The GRI is responsible for the management of exchange rate risk. At a structural level, exchange rate risk 
management is addressed by the Asset and Liabilities Management Committee (ALCO) on a monthly 
basis. Within the Committee, the monitoring of exchange rate risk includes the analysis of exchange rate 
developments, the analysis of financial assets and liabilities by foreign and domestic currency, and the foreign 
exchange position..

The DMF also draws up a financial panel on a daily basis, which calculates and reports to the Executive 
Committee the balance sheet by currency and the position and exchange exposure ratios.   

Interest Rate Risk

Under Article 3(15)(b) of Risk Governance Notice 07/2016, interest rate risk is defined as the movements in 
interest rates resulting from mismatches in the amount, maturities or terms of interest rates observed in 
financial instruments with interest receivable and payable.

The GRI monitors the management of exchange rate risk. On a structural level, interest rate risk management 
is also addressed by the ALCO. In this context, the monitoring of interest rate risk includes the analysis of the 
evolution of interest rates and the analysis of accumulated repricing gaps.

The Bank also monitors structural interest rate risk based on analyses of the sensitivity of net interest income 
and prudential own funds to changes in interest rate curves. This assessment is based on the gap analysis 
technique, according to which all assets and liabilities sensitive to changes in interest rates and not associated 
with the trading portfolios are distributed according to their maturities. In addition, the Market Room reports 
to the Financial Markets Department (DMF), which prepares a Quarterly Interest Rate Report, analysing the 
gaps in active and passive rates.
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5.5 OPERATIONAL RISK

As established in Notice n.º 07/2016 of 22 June on Risk Governance, financial institutions must adopt risk 
management functions, policies and processes for the identification, assessment, monitoring, control and 
provision of information on credit risk.

In this sense, Banco Keve’s operational risk management process is characterised by four cycles. The cycles were 
established in accordance with BNA’s guidance in Instruction n.º 28/2016 of 16 November on Governance of 
Operational Risk.

In parallel with the above, the Risk Department has carried out various activities with a view to elaborating 
the operational risk management function, i.e., as the unit responsible for monitoring operational risk, the 
GRI uses specific tools that have enabled the timely monitoring of the risks identified, the actions taken, those 
responsible and the current situation, as well as the performance of key risk indicators (KRIs) and the records 
of losses or failures.

For the elaboration of its role in the field of operational risk during 2018, Banco Keve adopted the following 
operational risk management instruments, in accordance with BNA requirement set out in paragraph 3.2 of 
Instruction n.º 28/2016 of 16 November on Governance of Operational Risk:

Operational risk should be understood as the risk arising from the inadequacy of internal processes, people or 
systems, the possibility of the occurrence of internal and external frauds, as well as external events. It includes 
the information systems and compliance risk. Operational risk is inherent to any activity carried out and its 
presence is not limited to certain areas of the Bank (see Notice n.º 2/2013 of 19 April).

According to Service Order n.º 0236/2017 and n.º 300/2017, operational risk management is the responsibility 
of the GRI and is defined as the monitoring level by the Operational Risk Management System (SGRO), which 
includes the implementation, supervision and development of a tool for recording and reporting operational 
risk management events. A set of key risk indicators (KRIs) has also been defined, with the aim of monitoring 
the evolution of risk factors in relation to the limits established, which should consolidate the matrix of risks 
and controls.

All employees are responsible for managing and controlling operational risks within their scope of action. 
It is the responsibility of the Bank’s Risk Office to ensure the identification, assessment and monitoring of 
operational risk inherent to the Bank’s activity.

The methodology implemented for recording and reporting events, designed to give priority to the management 
of operational risk at all levels of the hierarchical structure, allows immediate knowledge of the respective 
hierarchy of all the events that have occurred and the respective measures. 

Database for
Recording of losses

All employees must notify the GRI of operational losses 
that occurred in their respective areas. Loss events should 
be subsequently analysed by the respective GRI 
technicians and monitored by Process Owners who, if they 
so wish, should initiate relevant mitigation actions based 
on the aforementioned events. The Operational Loss 
Events Database will reflect the level of risk within the 
Bank.

Key Risk Indicators (KRI’s)

Indicators must be identified and monitored for regular 
measurement of the level of risk in the processes against 
pre-defined thresholds. Each time a KRI exceeds its limit 
and is based on the evaluation of the Process Owner, 
appropriate mitigation actions should be proposed and 
control of the process should be strengthened. The Risk 
Office will coordinate the process of monitoring the KRIs.
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In order to explain the benefits that the Bank can enjoy from the survey of operational risk events and to raise 
awareness of the reporting of losses associated with events, so that the number of recorded events reflects 
the actual number of executed operations susceptible to operational risk in each period, the GRI has clarified 
doubts on the management of operational risk with the employees of the Commercial Network Department, 
after the on-the-job training conducted from July to September 2018.

According to the flowchart above, the loss recovery process is one of the instruments used for the management 
of operational risk. As a control mechanism of the Operational Risk Management Model, the recording of 
operational risk loss events should include information on the events that have occurred, feeding the processes 
of identification and monitoring of operational risk.

5.6 COMPLIANCE RISK

Main developments in 2018.

1. In order to ensure compliance with the FATCA scheme, in addition to the account opening forms, which 
meet the FATCA information requirements, the FATCA module has been implemented to ensure that this 
automatic information is collected.

Information regarding Customers identified as US Persons is mandatory, as the Compliance Office will 
report annually to the national tax authority, which will in turn report the information directly to the US 
tax authorities.

2. After the implementation of the ARGUS tool, it was necessary to make adjustments to the risk assessment 
modules per Client and the rules for monitoring accounts based on the amounts moved in the account.

3. Under the terms of Law n.º 34/11 of 12 December, in conjunction with Notice n.º 22/12 of 25 April, training 
in the prevention and repression of money laundering and financing of terrorism, with the process having 
started outside Luanda, covering the provinces of Benguela, Cabinda, Cunene, Kwanza - Sul, Malange, 
Namibe, Zaire and Cuando Cubango.

The Compliance Office (GCO) depends functionally and hierarchically on the Executive Committee and its 
primary mission is to ensure, together with the other areas, the adequacy, strengthening and functioning of 
the Institution’s Internal Control System, seeking to mitigate Compliance Risks according to the complexity 
of the business, as well as disseminate the culture of control to ensure compliance with existing external or 
internal laws and regulations. In addition to raising awareness for the prevention of activities and behaviours 
that may represent compliance risks to the image of the Institution.

Within the scope of its mission, the GCO is responsible for the analysis and validation of account opening 
processes, strict compliance with the principles established in the KYC (know-your-customer) policies in force; 
the management of Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing Risk; the identification of Customers who do 
not comply with the basic principles of compliance and their subsequent acceptance; and the analysis and 
monitoring of high-risk entities.

In the regulatory field and in order to comply with recent legislative and regulatory changes, ensuring that 
the Bank is in regulatory compliance, the Compliance Office keeps the Institution abreast of these changes, 
maintaining direct contact with the supervisory institutions of the banking sector on the laws and regulations 
that are in force, as well as the laws and standards published in Diário da República (Official Gazette). In this 
way, the GCO monitors and assesses the adequacy and effectiveness of the measures and procedures adopted 
to detect any risk of non-compliance with the legal obligations and duties applicable to the institution, and 
also measures to correct any deficiencies. It also provides advice to the administrative and management 
bodies for the purpose of complying with legal obligations and duties to monitor and evaluate internal control 
procedures in matters of prevention of money laundering and terrorist financing.

Monitoring and 
production of 

management reports

Event
Classification

Event
Validation

Event 
Identification
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Within the framework of monitoring compliance with reporting obligations to BNA, the FIU and other internal 
bodies, the Compliance Office prepares the following reports:

• Monthly activity report of the Office;

• Annual report of the self-assessment questionnaire submitted to Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA) in 
accordance with Directive No. 01/DRO-DSI/2015;

• Report of Declarations of Cash Transactions - DTN to the Financial Intelligence Unit - FIU.
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6.1 CHARACTERISATION OF HUMAN CAPITAL

Banco Keve recognises that its primary resource is human capital. Based on this concept, the institution carried 
out its activity throughout 2018 focusing on a more humanised and accessible form of management. This 
attitude has made the Bank an Institution that is increasingly measuring its human capital.

At the end of 2018, the Bank had a total of 576 Employees, representing an increase of 5% over the previous 
year (+29 Employees). In the last three (3) years, the Bank recorded a considerable increase in its human capital, 
from 521 to 576 Employees (11%).

Contractual Situation 

The Bank ended 2018 with 531 employees on open-ended contracts (with a weight of 92% of total employees). 
The institution will provide traineeships for young people with no experience or at the beginning of their 
careers so as to equip them with appropriate training in the way banking works.

     

Training upon hire of a new employee aims to bring those employees as trainees into contact with the 
organisation’s social context and serves as their first contact with the Bank’s reality at various levels and 
especially in relation to the area the given employee is joining. 

Evolution of Human Capital

2017 547

2018 576

2016 521

5%

2016 2017 2018

Contract types

Contract of indefinite duration

Traineeship contract

Fixed-term contract

Independent contractors
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420
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340

300
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36 

35

13
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Distribution by Gender

In December 2018, Banco Keve’s human capital consisted of 330 male employees, with an annual increase of 
29 employees (+9%) and 246 female employees, with an annual increase of 8 female employees (+3%).

Male employees outnumber their female counterparts, with on a scale of 57% and 43%, respectively. In 2017, 
the representation of male and female employees was 56% and 44%, respectively, similar to 2016.

227
238

246

294

309

330

2016 2017 2018

Human Capital Structure by Gender
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Academic Qualifications

With regard to the distribution of employees by academic qualifications, students with university degrees are 
the most representative with around 288 employees (293 in 2017). The Bank also invests in attracting and 
retaining employees with one or more degrees in higher education, having reported 179 of such employees in 
2018 (annual increase of 52 employees).

There are currently 9 employees with a master’s degree (7 in 2017), 65 employees with a high school diploma 
(85 in 2017) and 35 employees who have completed their basic education (similar to 2017).

Distribution by Age Group

In terms of age, the age group with the highest number of employees is from 24 to 34 and the average age of 
employees is 34.

2016 2017 2018

<24 years 14 16 14

24-34 years old 315 333 330

35-44 years old 156 161 192

45-54 years old 34 35 38

55-64 1 1 1

>65 Years 1 1 1

Total Employees 521 547 576

320

280

240

200

160

120

80

40

0

Structure of Human Capital by Educational Qualifications
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Years of Service

The Bank had 312 employees with more than five years of service in the institution at the end of 2018 (318 
in 2017). As for employees with up to five years of service, the bank recorded a total of 264 employees (229 in 
2017).

6.2 RECRUITMENT, TURNOVER AND PROMOTION

During 2018, Banco Keve focused on recruiting, attracting and managing CVs via e-mail, surveys and 
recommendations. Interviews and selective tests were carried out on the candidates, culminating in the 
recruitment of 38 employees, of whom 31 were trainees and 7 were technicians with specific qualifications 
and experiences. Within the scope of internal mobility (internal recruitment), 8 employees were transferred to 
the various Departments/Offices.

The recruitment of qualified senior technicians is essential for the control, supervision and support centre 
units, as a guarantee of the quality of the work produced and the increasingly high levels of rigour required.
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Within the scope of internal mobility (internal recruitment), 14 employees were transferred to the various 
Departments/Offices.

Transferring Department/Office N.º of Employees Receiving Department/Office

DRC 4

GAI

GCC

DJC

DCR

GMR 3
DCO

DRC

DOP 7 GCC

In 2018, Banco Keve had a total of 24 promotions, with the most occurring in middle management, namely 
Heads of Department.

Title Number

Coordinating Director 1

Manager 1

Assistant Manager 2

Director 3

Subdirector 3

Manager 4

Treasurer 4

Head of Department 6

6.3 TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT OF HUMAN CAPITAL

The Bank undertook various training activities in 2018, aimed at training its staff with a view to improving 
personal and professional development and achieving the objectives set for the year.

A total of 39 training sessions were held for the bank’s various functional units, including training in Microsoft 
Basic and Advanced Excel, Team Leadership and Motivation, Financial Markets, Insurance - Products and 
Services, Fundamentals of the Visa Business and Credit Risk Analysis.

In addition, the Institution promoted in all its branches a set of training actions aimed at raising awareness 
and mitigating the risks inherent to banking activity and regulatory training required by BNA. Training in 
Operational Risk, Prevention and Combating Money Laundering and Financing of Terrorism are of particular 
importance.

27 27
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Legal-Labour Relations

The banking sector continues to be very attractive in terms of demand for staff. Even in a difficult economic 
context, the banking sector has continued to see good growth rates, which allows a lot of mobility within 
the sector. About 50% of the separations that occurred at Banco Keve, according to the exit interviews, were 
employees who went to work for other banking institutions.

Distribution of Human Capital by Category 

Business Unit Abbreviation Person in charge Category

Control and 
Supervision 

Unit
Business 

Unit

Support 
Centre 

Unit Total

Executive Secretariat SCR Diana Raquel Rocha Semedo
Head of 
Section

7 7

Internal Audit Office GAI António João Cambuta Director 9 9

Compliance Office GCO Helena Isabel Lucas de Morais Director 5 5

Implementation and Strategy Office GIE Wilson Jorge Vieira Monteiro
Head of 
Section

1 1

Legal Department DJC Arlindo Assunção de Sousa Viegas Narciso Director 8 8

Control Planning Office GPC Filipe Miguel Simas Duarte Director 4 4

Foreign Exchange Control Office GCC Wendy Edilson Veríssimo José Subdirector 9 9

Risk Office GRI Paula Cristina C. L. de Paula da Silva Director 4 4

Electronic Banking Department DBE Paulo José Quinta Nova Rodrigues Director 7 7

Assets and Safety Department DPS Bruno Miguel da Silva Barradas Subdirector 14 38 52

Accounting Department DCO Wilson Alfredo Gonçalves Manuel Director 12 12

Credit Department DCR Mário Jeremias Nicodemos Director 14 14

Credit Monitoring, Recovery and 
Collection Office

GMR Leopoldino de Sousa e Silva Director 7 7

Large Corporates Department DGE Telma Liliana Ribeiro Moreso Sampaio Director 27 5 27

Marketing Department DMK Manuel Maria Magalhaes Amaral Director 6 6

Financial Markets Department DMF Henrique Ndalu Costa Batalha Director 19 19

Operations Department DOP Julio Manuel João Director 18 18

Quality and Organisation Department DQO Gisela Barros Bermudes Anapaz Director 6 6

Commercial Network Department DRC
Fernando Pedro Santos Costa
/ Maria Inês Santana

Director/ 
Director

326 62 326

Human Resources Department DRH Alcina Maria Gabriel Director 12 12

Information Systems Department DSI Tatiana Ferreira Flor Subdirector 12 12

International and Investment 
Banking Department

DIB Elsio Carlos Domingos Manuel Technician 2 2

Private Banking Department DPR Palmira Fátima Webber Subdirector 9 1 9

23 538 68 38 576

*Excluding Board of Directors and Executive Committee
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7.1 FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

Assets

At the end of the 2018 financial year, the Bank’s total assets stood at AOA 159.4 billion, which corresponds to 
an increase of AOA 8.4 billion (+5.6%) compared to the end of the previous year.

2016 2017 2018 ∆%

Billion AOA Value Weight Value Weight Value Weight

Cash and Deposits in Central Bank 9,4 6,7% 17,1 11,3% 17,0 10,6% -1%

Cash and Deposits in Other Credit
Institutions

7,8 5,6% 6,0 4,0% 10,6 6,7% 76%

Investments in Central Bank and Other
Credit Institutions

5,2 3,7% 8,9 5,9% 6,0 3,8% -32%

Financial assets at fair value (Profit/loss and 
Other Comprehensive Income)

0,1 0,1% 0,3 0,2% 0,1 0,1% -70%

Investment at amortised cost 50,1 35,6% 52,4 34,7% 63,7 40,0% 22%

Loans to Customers net of impairment 58,1 41,3% 56,0 37,1% 49,7 31,2% -11%

Tangible and Intangible Assets 6,6 4,7% 7,0 4,6% 9,8 6,2% 40%

Other Assets 3,3 2,3% 3,3 2,2% 2,4 1,5% -27%

Assets 140,6 100,0% 151,0 100,0% 159,4 100,0% 5,6%

The growth in assets is mainly explained by growth (i) of the “Investment at amortised cost” in the aggregate, 
which in absolute terms increased by AOA 11.3 billion (+22%) as a result of a strategy of increased investment 
in this type of asset; (ii) the increase in “Cash and cash equivalents at other credit institutions” of AOA 4.6 
Million (+76%) due to increased access to foreign exchange purchases; (iii) in “Loans to Customers”, which is 
driven by the increase in interest, new disbursements and restructured operations; (iv) and, lastly, due to the 
increase of AOA 2.8 billion (+40%) in “Other tangible and intangible assets”, basically influenced by transactions 
of transfer in lieu of payment.

On the other hand, there was a decrease in the item “Loans to Customers” (-AOA 6.3 billion) due to the fact that 
there was an increase in credit impairments of AOA 10.3 billion and also a reduction in the balance of the items 
allocated to interbank market operations, which reduced the item “Applications with central banks and other 
credit institutions” by AOA 2.8 billion (-34%).
 

Credit 

Over the course of 2018, lending grew by 6% on a gross basis. The largest portion of credit was granted to 
companies with a weight of 88.5%, with the remainder granted to individuals.
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Net credit decreased by 4% as a result of the efforts made to reinforce loan impairments. The stock of 
impairments increased by AOA 15.2 billion (including credit impairments and guarantees provided), reaching 
an overall stock of AOA 25.6 billion (+87%).

Billion AOA 2016 2017 2018 Chg.%

Businesses 58,9 61,9 63,6 3%

Individuals 5,3 6,0 8,3 38%

Gross lending 64,2 67,9 71,9 6%

Stock of loan impairments 6,1 11,8 22,2 88%

Stock impairments for guarantees provided 1,9 1,7 3,4 100%

Net Credit 58,1 56,0 49,7 -11%

The ratio of overdue loans to total loans grew by 15,1%, to 29,5% in December 2018.

The transformation ratio stood at 55.98%, a decrease on the previous year’s ratio. This decrease is essentially 
the result of the growth of resources to the detriment of a reduction in lending.
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Liabilities and Own Funds

The Bank recorded a total of AOA 159.4 billion in liabilities and own funds at the end of the 2018 financial year, 
of which AOA 139.1 billion correspond to liabilities and AOA 20.3 billion to own funds. Liabilities are mainly 
made up of resources, of which 80.5% are allocated in the caption “Customer Funds and Other Loans”.

2016 2017 2018 Δ %

Billion  AOA Value Weight Value Weight Value Weight

Funds of Central Banks and Other 
Credit Institutions

1,5 1,1% 8,4 5,5% 2,6 1,6% -69%

Customer Funds and Other Loans 89,8 63,5% 116,3 77,0% 129,2 81,0% 11%

Provisions 2,2 1,5% 1,8 1,2% 3,4 2,2% 87%

Current tax liabilities 0,1 0,1% 0,1 0,0% 0,0 0,0% -53%

Subordinated Liabilities 3,4 2,5% 3,4 2,3% 0,0 0,0% -100%

Other Liabilities 29,4 20,8% 4,6 3,0% 3,9 2,5% -15%

Own Funds 14,2 10,4% 16,3 11,1% 20,3 12,8% 24,9%

Liabilities and Own Funds 140,6 100,0% 151,0 100,0% 159,4 100,0% 5,6%

Liabilities grew by AOA 4.4 billion (+3%), justified on the one hand by growth in “Customer Funds and Other 
Loans” of AOA 12.5 billion (+11%), due to the effect of exchange rate fluctuations on deposits in Euros (USD 
and EUR) and the growth of deposits in both local and foreign currency through operations received from 
abroad. On the other hand, there was a reduction of AOA 5.9 and AOA 3.4 billion in the “Funds of Central 
Banks and Other Credit Institutions Central Banks and other institutions” due to a reduction in the balance 
of borrowings on the interbank money market and in “Subordinated Liabilities” due to the non-renewal of 
existing subordinated debt.
 
Own funds increased by AOA 4.1 billion (+25%) as a result of the distribution of the previous year’s profit and 
the current year’s profit, totalling 20.3 billion.

Funds

Funds totalled AOA 128.4 billion at the end of 2018. This amount represented growth of AOA 12.1 billion 
(+10%) compared to the previous year. The majority of these funds are deposited as demand deposits with 
61% of the funds, of which 37% are term deposits.
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Customer Funds and Other Loans

Billion AOA 2016 Weight 2017 Weight 2018 Weight ∆ %

Demand deposits 51,1 57% 66,5 57% 78,2 61% 18%

Term deposits 38,5 41% 48,0 41% 47,7 37% -1%

Other loans 0,1 2% 1,8 2% 3,2 3% 80%

Total Resources: 89,8 100% 116,3 100% 129,2 100% 11%

Local currency 81,7 91% 106,7 92% 110,0 85% 3%

of which are indexed 12,6 14% 21,9 19% 21,9 17% 0%

Foreign currency 8,1 9% 9,6 8% 19,2 15% 100%

89,8 100% 116,3 100% 129,2 100% 11%

Funds in local currency continue to be more representative but grew by only 2% compared to 2017. Foreign 
currency increased by 102% due to exchange rate fluctuations that occurred in 2018.

The concentration of funds in the commercial sector is 73%, most of which are deposits in local currency.

Income and Profitability

Banco Keve’s net income stood at AOA 6.4 billion at the end of 2018, which corresponds to an increase of 
122% from the income obtained in 2017. This boosted income, including contribution from “Foreign exchange 
gains and losses”, which includes income from foreign exchange revaluations of securities indexed to foreign 
currency, despite the 26% increase in “Administrative and marketing costs”.

Income Statement

Billion AOA 2016 2017 2018 2018-2017 ∆ %

Interest and similar income 12,7 15,2 12,6 -17%

Interest and similar charges -1,9 -3,2 -3,6 13%

Net interest income 10,8 12,0 9,0 -25%

Income from financial services and commissions 3,4 3,9 6,8 72%

Income from investments held until maturity 5,3 0,4 0,8 112%

Foreign exchange gains and losses 1,9 1,3 18,8 1390%

Income from disposal of other assets 0,0 0,0 0,0

Other operating income -0,3 -0,5 -1,0 97%

Total Operating Income 21,1 17,1 34,3 101%

Staff and administrative costs 10,8 11,3 14,2 26%

Provisions net of write-offs 0,8 -0,2 0,1 -147%

Loan impairments 6,9 3,9 15,1 288%

Impairment for other financial assets 0,0 0,0 0,1 100%

Income from subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 0,0 0,0 0,0 0%

Profit before tax 2,5 2,1 4,7 127%

Income tax without profit and loss 0,1 0,0 0,1 100%

Net interest income 2,4 2,1 4,6 122%

Operating cash flow 10,3 5,8 20,1 247%
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Net interest income totalled AOA 9 billion but declined by 25% from 2017. This decline is explained by the 17% 
reduction in “interest and similar income” and the 13% increase in “interest and similar charges”. The reduction 
in “interest and similar income” was essentially due to interest on loans, which fell by 37%. 

Banking income grew by 101% in 2018, despite the negative contribution of net interest income, which 
decreased 25% in the same period. The largest contribution comes from the supplementary margin, which, 
in addition to other items, includes income from exchange rate revaluations, which totalled AOA 18.7 billion.
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Return on average equity (ROAE) and average assets (ROAA) in 2018 stood at 25% and 3% respectively. Both 
indicators were mainly driven by net income growth.

Administrative and marketing costs

Administrative costs grew by 26% from AOA 11.3 billion in 2017 to AOA 14.2 billion in 2018. This is mainly 
explained by the increase in personnel costs (+28%) and third-party supplies and services (+26%).

The increase in personnel costs is due to the salary adjustment carried out in the course of the year, with a 
view to adjusting salaries to the level of inflation and currency devaluation. On the other hand, and despite the 
lower impact, an increase also occurred in social benefits, such as “Gold” health insurance and promotions and 
staff appointments.

Billion AOA 2016 2017 2018 ∆ %

Staff costs 4,9 5,8 7,4 28%

Third-party supplies and services 5,2 4,7 5,9 26%

Amortization and depreciation 0,7 0,8 0,9 8%

Total Staff and dministrative costs 10,8 11,3 14,2 26%

13,4%

25,1%
18,5%

2016 2017 2018

Return on Average Equity (ROAE)

1,4

3,2

1,8

2016 2017 2018

Return on average assets
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The increase in costs with suppliers and services is partly explained by the increase in costs for specialised and 
consultancy services, which grew by around 39%. This item includes database management costs, technical 
and IT consultancy services, static security and cash transportation. Furthermore, communications costs were 
up 62%.

The cost-to-income ratio decreased 26% to 42% in 2018. The decrease in value compared to 2017, is mainly due 
to growth in Banking Income (+110%) than to a reduction in administrative expenses, which also grew 26%. 

Note on Accounting Policies

The Bank’s financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IAS/IFRS”), in accordance with Notice no. 06/2016, of 22 June, of Banco Nacional 
de Angola, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and with the interpretations 
issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee (“IFRIC”).

The requirements relating to the accounting treatment of financial instruments were, until 31 December 2017, 
defined in International Accounting Standard 39 - Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 
39”). As from 1 January 2018 these requirements are defined in International Financial Reporting Standard 9 - 
Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9” or “Standard”), and IAS 39 has been repealed.

The requirements presented by IFRS 9 were applied in general, being also applied retrospectively through the 
adjustment of the opening balance sheet at the date of initial application (1 January 2018). The impacts arising 
from the implementation of IFRS 9 are detailed in Note 3.4 of the notes to the financial statements.
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7.2 PROFIT DISTRIBUITION

Profit or Loss for the Year

Taking into account the legal and statutory provisions, the need to maintain a solid base of own funds to 
meet the Bank’s strategic objectives as well as sustained growth, the Board of Directors proposes the following 
application of the net profit for 2018 of AOA 4,603,485,714.17.

Legal Reserve 20%: AOA 920.697.142,83

Other Reserves 80%: AOA 3.682.788.571,34





8
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 AND 2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 AND 2017

BALANCE SHEET AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 AND 2017 
(Amounts expressed in thousands of Kwanzas - mAOA)

31-12-2018

ASSETS Notes Gross assets
Depreciation and 

impairment Net Assets 31-12-2017 (*)

Cash and deposits in central banks 4 16.972.375 - 16.972.375 17.065.036

Cash and deposits in other credit institutions 5 10.629.798 (16.511) 10.613.287 6.028.9920

Investments in central banks and in other 
credit institutions

6 6.076.977 (29.868) 6.047.109 8.863.816

Financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss

7 - - - 199.763

Financial assets available for sale 8 n.a. n.a. n.a. 121.240

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income

8 96.195 - 96.195 -

Held-to-maturity investments 9 n.a. n.a. n.a. 52.380.068

Investments at amortised cost 9 64.787.439 (1.061.312) 63.726.127 n.a

Loans to customers 10 71.864.564 (22.177.998) 49.686.566 56.015.935

Non-current assets held for sale 11 60.539 - 60.539 60.539

Other tangible assets 12 12.583.764 (2.903.727) 9.680.037 6.958.767

Intangible asset 13 188.184 (21.135) 167.049 56.295

Outros activos 15 2.392.556 - 2.392.556 3.256.323

Total Assets 185.652.391 (26.210.551) 159.441.840 151.006.774

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 31-12-2018 31-12-2017 (*)

LIABILITIES

Funds of central banks and other credit 
institutions

16 2.586.710 8.442.037

Customer funds and other loans 17 129.165.107 116.267.407

Provisions and impairment 18 3.432.778 1.835.417

Current tax liabilities 14 29.589 62.734

Subordinated liabilities 19 - 3.432.401

Other liabilities 20 3.880.198 4.670.948

Total Liabilities 139.094.382 134.710.944

EQUITY

Share capital 21 10.000.000 4.000.000

Other reserves and retained earnings 21 5.743.972 10.220.315

Net profit/loss for the financial year 4.603.486 2.075.515

Total Equity 20.347.458 16.295.830

Total Liabilities and Equity 159.441.840 151.006.774

(*) The balances as at 31 December 2017 correspond to the statutory accounts on that date. These balances are presented exclu-
sively for comparative purposes, not having been restated following the adoption of IFRS 9, with reference to 1 January 2018, as 
permitted in IFRS 9.

N/A - Items that have changed after the application of the new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial 
assets introduced by IFRS 9 - Financial instruments.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these balance sheets.

Notes to the Financial Statements at 31 December 2018
(Amounts in thousands of Kwanzas - mAOA, unless expressly indicated otherwise)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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INCOME STATEMENTS AND STATEMENTS OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE FINANCIAL
YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 AND 2017

(Amounts expressed in thousands of Kwanzas - mAOA)

Notes 31-12-2018 31-12-2017 (*)

Interest and similar income 22 12.560.918 15.197.623

Interest and similar charges 22 (3.591.141) (3.173.654)

Net interest income 8.969.777 12.023.969

Income from services and commissions 23 6.978.871 4.126.487

Charges with services and commissions 23 (200.145) (179.303)

Income from held-to-maturity investments 24 n.a. 363.612

Income from investments at amortised cost 24 769.159 n.a.

Foreign exchange gains and losses 25 18.763.571 1.258.895

Income from disposal of other assets 26 (16.826) -

Other operating income 27 (968.370) (490.382)

Total operating income 34.296.037 17.103.278

Staff costs 28 (7.438.871) (5.797.577)

Third-party supplies and services 29 (5.917.987) (4.715.351)

Amortization and depreciation for the year 12 and 13 (878.949) (817.416)

Net Loans impairment of reversals and recoveries 18 (15.217.292) (3.712.971)

Impairment for other assets net of reversals and write-offs 18 (139.452) 15.552

Income before taxes from continuing operations 4.703.486 2.075.515

Current Income taxes 14 (100.000) -

Net profit/loss for the financial year 4.603.486 2.075.515

Income not included in the income statement - -

Comprehensive income for the year 4.603.486 2.075.515

Average number of ordinary shares issued 5.000.000 5.000.000

Basic earnings per share (in Kwanzas) 0,92 0,42

Diluted earnings per share (in Kwanzas) 0,92 0,42

(*) The balances as at 31 December 2017 correspond to the statutory accounts on that date. These balances are presented exclu-
sively for comparative purposes, not having been restated following the adoption of IFRS 9, with reference to 1 January 2018, as 
permitted in IFRS 9.

N/A - Items that have changed after the application of the new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial 
assets introduced by IFRS 9 - Financial instruments.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 AND 2017
(Amounts expressed in thousands of Kwanzas - mAOA)

Other reserves and retained earnings

Share 
capital

Legal 
reserve

Other 
reserves

Retained 
earnings Total

Net profit/
loss for the 

financial 
year Total equity

Balance at 31 December 2016 (pro-forma) 4.000.000 1.946.888 6.093.477 (255.418) 7.784.947 2.435.368 14.220.315

Appropriation of profit for the year 2016 - 487.074 1.948.294 - 2.435.368 (2.435.368) -

Constitution of reserves and funds - - - - - - -

Net profit/loss for the financial year - - - - - 2.075.515 2.075.515

Balance as at 31 December 2017 
- Before IFRS 9

4.000.000 2.433.962 8.041.771 (255.418) 10.220.315 2.075.515 16.295.830

Impairment implementation of IFRS 9 - 
Financial instruments (Note 3.4):

Cash and deposits in other credit 
institutions (Note 5)

- - - (14.468) (14.468) - (14.468)

Investments in central banks and other 
credit institutions (Note 6)

- - - (111.663) (111.663) - (111.663)

Investments at amortised cost (Note 9) - - - (842.108) (842.108) - (842.108)

- - - (968.239) (968.239) - (968.239)

Balance as at 1 January 2018 - After IFRS 9 4.000.000 2.433.962 8.041.771 (1.223.657) 9.252.076 2.075.515 15.327.591

Appropriation of profit for the year 2017 - 415.103 1.660.412 - 2.075.515 (2.075.515) -

Share capital increases (Note 21) 6.000.000 - (6.000.000) - (6.000.000) - -

Effects of adjustments to accounting 
policies

- - - 416.381 - - 416.381

Comprehensive income for the year - - - - - 4.603.486 4.603.486

Balance at 31 December 2018 10.000.000 2.849.065 3.702.183 (807.276) 5.327.591 4.603.486 20.347.458

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Notes to the Financial Statements at 31 December 2018
(Amounts in thousands of Kwanzas - mAOA, unless expressly indicated otherwise)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017
(Amounts expressed in thousands of Kwanzas - mAOA)

31-12-2018 31-12-2017 (*)

Cash flows of operating activities

Interest, commissions and similar income received 17.675.122 20.803.880

Interest, commissions and similar costs paid (4.376.815) (2.564.315)

Payments to employees and suppliers (11.478.365) (11.051.531)

Other profit and loss (200.830) 1.258.895

Cash flows before changes in operating assets and liabilities 1.619.113 8.446.929

(Increases) / decreases in operating assets:

Investments in central banks and in other credit institutions (3.905.706) (3.635.193)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - (199.763)

Non-current assets held for sale (31.553) (12.418)

Investments at amortised cost 4.549.915 n.a.

Held-to-maturity investments n.a. (1.528.033)

Loans to customers 2.475.892 (1.761.427)

Other assets (863.767) 47.397

Net cash flow from operating assets 2.224.782 (7.089.437)

Increases / (decreases) in operating liabilities:

Funds of central banks and other credit institutions 6.138.260 5.151.377

Customer funds and other loans 3.342.113 24.335.654

Other liabilities (13.003) (967.161)

Net cash flow from operating liabilities 9.467.371 28.519.870

Net cash from operating activities before income taxes 13.311.265 29.877.362

Income taxes paid - (375.738)

Net cash from operating activities 13.311.265 29.501.624

Cash flows from investment activities

Acquisitions of other tangible assets, net of disposals 1.209.805 (1.203.366)

Acquisitions of intangible assets, net of disposals 55.128 (48.942)

Net cash from investing activities 1.264.933 (1.252.308)

Cash flows from financing activities

Remuneration paid on debt securities issued - (349.440)

Net cash provided by financing activities - (349.440)

Changes in cash and cash equivalents 14.576.198 27.899.876

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 22.927.671 16.772.794

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (11.182.280) (21.744.999)

26.321.589 22.927.671

Credits in payment system 1.280.584 166.357

Impairment for cash and deposits in other credit institutions (Note 18) (16.511) -

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 27.585.662 23.094.028

(*) The balances as at 31 December 2017 correspond to the statutory accounts on that date. These balances are presented 
exclusively for comparative purposes, not having been restated following the adoption of IFRS 9, with reference to 1 January 
2018, as permitted in IFRS 9.

N/A - Items that have changed after the application of the new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial 
assets introduced by IFRS 9 - Financial instruments.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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2. INTRODUCTORY NOTE

Banco Keve, S.A. (hereinafter also referred to as “Banco Keve” or the “Bank”) is a private bank headquartered 
at Av. Ho Chi Min, Empreendimento Comandante Gika Garden Towers 11º e 12º Andar Maianga - Alvalade, 
Municipality of Luanda. It was incorporated on 19 September 2003. Commercial activity began on 1 October 
2003. By public deed of August 2018, the Bank adopted the trade name “Banco Keve”.

The Bank’s object is the exercise of banking activity as permitted by law, which includes obtaining resources 
from third parties in the form of deposits or other instruments, which it applies together with its own resources, 
in the granting of loans, deposits with Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA), investments in credit institutions, 
acquisition of securities and other assets. It also provides other banking services and performs various types of 
operations in foreign currency.

The Bank was incorporated with a share capital of 456,000 mAOA (equivalent to USD 5,700,000 on that date), 
represented by 570,000 registered shares of 800 kwanzas each, which were fully subscribed and paid up in 
cash.

In 2006, the Bank recorded a capital increase of 344,000 mAOA to 800,000 mAOA (equivalent to USD 10,000,000 
on that date), fully paid up in cash, with the capital being represented by 1,000,000 registered shares of 800 
kwanzas each.

In 2007, the Bank recorded a capital increase to 4,000,000 mAOA (equivalent to USD 50,000,000 on that date), 
of which 2,400,000 mAOA was contributed in cash and 800,000 mAOA in the form of incorporation of reserves, 
now represented by 5,000,000 registered shares of 800 Kwanzas each.

On 21 February 2018, BNA published Notice no. 02/2018 establishing the minimum share capital of 7,500,000 
mAOA. Thus, in 2018, the Bank recorded a capital increase to 10,000,000 mAOA (equivalent to USD 47,057,495 
on that date) by capitalisation of reserves within the share capital in the amount of 6,000,000 mAOA 
represented by 5,000,000 registered shares of 2,000 Kwanzas each.

3. BASIS OF PRESENTATION, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
     AND SIGNIFICANT ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS USED IN THE PREPARATION
      OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The Bank’s financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IAS/IFRS”), in accordance with Notice no. 06/2016, of 22 June, of Banco Nacional 
de Angola, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and with the interpretations 
issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee (“IFRIC”).

The requirements relating to the accounting treatment of financial instruments were, until 31 December 2017, 
defined in International Accounting Standard 39 - Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 
39”). As from 1 January 2018 these requirements are defined in International Financial Reporting Standard 9 - 
Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9” or “Standard”), and IAS 39 has been repealed.

The requirements presented by IFRS 9 are, in general, applied retrospectively through the adjustment of 
the opening balance sheet at the date of initial application (1 January 2018). The impacts resulting from 
implementation of IFRS 9 are detailed in Note 3.4.

The financial statements were prepared in accordance with the historical cost principle, modified by the 
application of fair value to financial assets and liabilities recognised at fair value through profit or loss and 
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income. Financial assets and liabilities and non-
financial assets and liabilities are recorded at amortised cost or historical cost.

The Bank’s financial statements as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 are expressed in thousands of Kwanzas, 
with assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies having been converted into local currency, based on 
the average exchange rate published by Banco Nacional de Angola on those dates.

31-12-2018 31-12-2017

USD 1 308,607 165,924

EUR 1 353,015 185,400
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The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the Board of Directors, on the advice 
of the Executive Committee, to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
accounting policies and the value of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances and form the basis for judgements about the values of assets and liabilities for which valuation 
is not evident from other sources. Actual results may differ from estimates. The issues that require a higher 
degree of judgment or complexity or for which assumptions and estimates are considered significant are 
presented in Note 3.6.

3.2. STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS, AMENDMENTS AND REVISIONS THAT HAVE COME INTO FORCE DURING    
        THE YEAR

The following standards, interpretations, amendments and revisions were mandatory for the first time in the 
financial year beginning on 1 January 2018:

Standard / Interpretation

Applicable to 
annual periods 
beginning on 

or after

IFRS 9 – Financial instruments 1-jan-18

This standard is part of the draft revision of IAS 39 and 
establishes the new requirements regarding the classification 
and measurement of financial assets and liabilities, the 
methodology for calculating impairment and the application 
of hedge accounting rules.

IFRS 15 – Revenue from contracts 
with customers

1-jan-18

This standard introduces a revenue recognition structure 
based on principles and based on a model to be applied to 
all contracts entered into with customers, replacing IAS 18 
- Revenue, IAS 11 - Construction contracts; IFRIC 13 - Loyalty 
programmes; IFRIC 15 - Agreements for the construction of 
buildings; IFRIC 18 - Transfers of assets from customers and 
SIC 31 - Revenue - Direct exchange transactions involving 
advertising services.

Clarifications on IFRS 15 - 
Revenue from contracts with 
customers

1-jan-18
These amendments introduce a number of clarifications to 
the standard in order to eliminate the possibility of divergent 
interpretations of several of several topics.

Amendment to IFRS 4: 
Application of IFRS 9, Financial 
instruments, with IFRS 4, 
Insurance contracts

1-jan-18
This amendment provides guidance on the application of IFRS 
4 in conjunction with IFRS 9. IFRS 4 will be replaced with the 
entry into force of IFRS 17.

Amendment to IFRS 2: 
Classification and measurement 
of equity payment transactions

1-jan-18

This amendment introduces several clarifications to the 
standard related to: (i) the recording of share-based payment 
transactions that are settled with cash; (ii) the recording of 
changes in share-based payment transactions (from cash-
settled to equity-settled); (iii) the classification of transactions 
with cleared settlement characteristics.

Improvements to International 
Financial Reporting Standards 
(2014-2016 cycle)

1-jan-18 
with the 

exception of 
amendments 

to IFRS 12, 
the date of 
application 
of which is 

1-jan-17

These improvements involve the clarification of some aspects 
related to: IFRS 1 - First-time adoption of International 
Financial Reporting Standards: eliminates some short-term 
exemptions; IFRS 12 - Disclosure of interests in other entities: 
clarifies the scope of the standard as to its application to 
interests classified as held for sale or held for distribution 
under IFRS 5; IAS 28 - Investments in associates and joint 
ventures: introduces clarifications on the measurement at 
fair value through profit or loss of investments in associates 
or joint ventures held by venture capital companies or by 
investment funds.

IFRIC 22 - Foreign currency 
transactions including advances 
for the purchase of assets

1-jan-18

This interpretation establishes the date of initial recognition 
of the advance or deferred income as the date of the 
transaction for the purposes of determining the exchange 
rate for the recognition of revenue.

Amendment to IAS 40: Transfers 
of investment properties

1-jan-18
This amendment clarifies that a change of classification from 
or to investment property should only be made when there is 
evidence of a change in the use of the asset.
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No significant effects were produced in the Bank’s financial statements as a result of the adoption of these 
new standards, interpretations, amendments and revisions referred to above, except for IFRS 9, as disclosed in 
Note 3.4.

IFRS 9 establishes, for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2018, a set of new rules for financial 
instruments, which can be presented as follows:

(i) Classification and measurement of financial instruments: new requirements are defined for the 
classification and measurement of financial instruments, namely with regard to the business model 
used in the management of these instruments, and their contractual characteristics;

(ii) Methodology for calculating impairment losses: three risk categories are defined for financial assets, 
the classification in each of which depends on the change in credit risk at each reporting date, in view 
of their initial recognition. The methodology for the recognition of impairment losses of these financial 
assets is now determined on the basis of expected loss model or “ECL” (expected credit loss), and not 
on incurred losses, as provided for in IAS 39. This methodology implies the recognition of expected 
losses before the occurrence of loss events. For this purpose, it is necessary to include forward-looking 
information in the estimates of expected loss, including future trends and scenarios, namely those of a 
macroeconomic nature;

(iii) Hedge accounting: where new possibilities of applying the hedge accounting rules are presented through 
a greater number of hedging relationships between the hedged items and the hedged instruments.

3.3. STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS, AMENDMENTS AND REVISIONS THAT ENTER INTO FORCE DURING THE YEAR

The following accounting standards and interpretations are mandatory in future financial years:

Standard / Interpretation

Applicable to 
annual periods 
beginning on 

or after

IFRS 16 - Leases 1-jan-19

This standard introduces the principles of recognition 
and measurement of leases, replacing IAS 17 - Leases. 
The standard defines a single accounting model for lease 
contracts that results in the recognition by the lessee of 
assets and liabilities for all lease contracts, except for leases 
with a term of less than 12 months or for leases for low-value 
assets. Lessors will continue to classify leases as operating or 
finance leases, and IFRS 16 will not imply substantial changes 
for such entities compared to IAS 17.

Amendment to IFRS 9: 
characteristics of advance 
payments with negative 
compensation

1-jan-19

This amendment allows financial assets with contractual 
conditions that foresee, in their early amortisation, the 
payment of a considerable amount by the creditor, can be 
measured at amortised cost or at fair value through reserves 
(depending on the business model), provided that: (i) on the 
date of initial recognition of the asset, the fair value of the 
component of early amortisation is insignificant; and (ii) the 
possibility of negative compensation in early amortisation is 
the only reason for the asset in question not being considered 
an instrument that only includes payments of principal and 
interest.

IFRIC 23 - Uncertainty over 
Income Tax Treatments

1-jan-19

This interpretation provides guidance on the determination 
of taxable income, tax bases, tax losses to be reported, 
tax credits to be used and tax rates in uncertain scenarios 
regarding the treatment of income tax.

IFRS 17 - Insurance Contracts 1-jan-21

Within its scope of application, this standard establishes the 
principles for recognition, measurement, presentation and 
disclosure of insurance contracts. This standard replaces IFRS 
4 - Insurance Contracts.

continues
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continuation 

Standard / Interpretation

Applicable to 
annual periods 
beginning on 

or after

Improvements to International 
Financial Reporting Standards 
(2015-2017 cycle)

1-jan-19

These improvements involve the clarification of some 
aspects related to: IFRS 3 - Business combination: requires 
remeasurement of previously held interests when an entity 
obtains control over an associate over which it previously 
had joint control; IFRS 11 - Joint ventures: clarifies that there 
should be no remeasurement of previously held interests 
when an entity obtains joint control over a joint operation; 
IAS 12 - Income tax: clarifies that all tax consequences of 
dividends should be recorded in the income statement, 
regardless of how the tax arises; IAS 23 - Borrowing costs: 
clarifies that the portion of the loan directly related to 
the acquisition/construction of an asset, due after the 
corresponding asset has been ready for its intended use, is, for 
the purpose of determining the capitalisation rate, considered 
an integral part of the entity’s general financing.

Amendment to IAS 28: Long-term 
investments in associates and 
joint arrangements

1-jan-19

This amendment clarifies that IFRS 9 shall be applied 
(including the related impairment requirements) to 
investments in associates and joint arrangements when the 
equity method is not applied in measuring them.

Amendments to IAS 19: Plan 
Amendment, Curtailment or 
Settlement

1-jan-19

If an amendment, curtailment or settlement of the plan 
occurs, it is mandatory that the current service cost and net 
interest for the period after remeasurement are determined 
using the assumptions used for remeasurement. In addition, 
amendments have been included to clarify the effect of a 
change, reduction or settlement of the plan on the asset 
ceiling requirements.

Amendments to references to the 
Framework in IFRS Standards

1-jan-20

Corresponds to amendments in several standards (IFRS 2, IFRS 
3, IFRS 6, IFRS 14, IAS 1, IAS 8, IAS 34, IAS 37, IAS 38, IFRIC 12, 
IFRIC 19, IFRIC 20, IFRIC 22 and SIC 32) for references to the 
Framework revised in March 2018. The revised Framework 
includes revised definitions of an asset and a liability and new 
guidance on measurement, derecognition, presentation and 
disclosure.

Amendment to IFRS 3 - Business 
definition

1-jan-20

Corresponds to amendments to the definition of business, 
aiming to clarify the identification of a business acquisition 
or acquisition of a group of assets. The revised definition also 
clarifies the definition of a business output as the supply of 
goods or services to customers. Changes include examples for 
identifying the acquisition of a business.

Amendment to IAS 1 and IAS 8 - 
Definition of material

1-jan-20

Corresponds to amendments to clarify the definition of 
material in IAS 1. The definition of material in IAS 8 now refers 
to IAS 1. The amendment changes the material definition in 
other standards to ensure consistency. Information is material 
if, by omission, distortion or concealment, it is reasonably 
expected to influence the decisions of primary users of the 
financial statements based on the financial statements.

These standards, although approved, were not adopted by the Bank in 2018, as their application is not yet 
mandatory. As a result of the application of the standards referred to above, no significant impacts on the 
Bank’s financial statements are expected. 
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3.4 - IMPACTS OF THE ADOPTION ON JANUARY 1, 2018 OF INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARD 
9 (“IFRS 9”)

This standard is part of the draft revision of IAS 39 and establishes the new requirements for the classification 
and measurement of financial assets and liabilities and the methodology for calculating impairment. IFRS 
9 replaced IAS 39 - Financial Instruments: Recognition and measurement and establishes new rules for the 
accounting of financial instruments presenting changes mainly with regard to impairment requirements.

The requirements presented by IFRS 9 were, in general, applied retrospectively through the adjustment of the 
opening balance sheet at the date of initial application, 1 January 2018.

The Bank adopted IFRS 9 in the period beginning on 1 January 2018. There was a negative impact of 968,239 
mAOA from the adoption of IFRS 9 on the Bank’s own funds.

Impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 on the Bank’s own funds

The impacts on the Bank’s own funds arising from the implementation of IFRS 9 with reference to 1 January 
2018 are detailed as follows:

Other Equity 
items

Other reserves and 
retained earnings

Total
Equity

Equity at 31 December 2017 6.075.515 10.220.315 16.295.830

Impairment (Note 18)

Cash and deposits in other credit institutions - (14.468) (14.468)

Investments in central banks and other credit 
institutions

- (111.663) (111.663)

Financial assets at amortised cost - (842.108) (842.108)

- (968.239) (968.239)

Equity as at 01 January 2018 - IFRS 9 6.075.515 9.252.076 15.327.591
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Reconciliation of balance sheet accounting values in IAS 39 and IFRS 9

The impacts on the Bank’s balance sheet arising from the implementation of IFRS 9 with reference to 1 January 
2018 are detailed as follows:

IAS 39
31-12-2017 Reclassification Remeasurement

IFRS 9
01-01-2018

Assets

Cash and deposits in central banks 17.065.036 - - 17.065.036

Cash and deposits in other credit 
institutions

6.028.992 - (14.468) 6.014.524

Investments in central banks and in 
other credit institutions

8.863.816 - (111.663) 8.752.153

Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss

199.763 - 199.763

Financial assets available for sale 121.240 (121.240) - -

Financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income

n.a 121.240 - 121.240

Held-to-maturity investments 52.380.068 (52.380.068) - -

Financial assets at amortised cost n.a 52.380.068 (842.108) 51.537.960

Loans to customers 56.015.935 - - 56.015.935

Non-current assets held for sale 60.539 - - 60.539

Other tangible assets 6.958.767 - - 6.958.767

Intangible assets 56.295 - - 56.295

Other assets 3.256.323 - - 3.256.323

Total Assets 151.006.774 - (968.239) 150.038.535

Liabilities

Funds of central banks and other credit 
institutions

8.442.037 - - 8.442.037

Customer funds and other loans 116.267.407 - - 116.267.407

Provisions 1.835.417 - - 1.835.417

Current tax liabilities 62.734 - - 62.734

Subordinated liabilities 3.432.401 - - 3.432.401

Other liabilities 4.670.948 - - 4.670.948

Total Liabilities 134.710.944 - - 134.710.944

Equity

Share capital 4.000.000 - - 4.000.000

Other reserves and retained earnings 10.220.315 - (968.239) 9.252.076

Net profit/loss for the financial year 2.075.515 - - 2.075.515

16.295.830 - (968.239) 15.327.591

Total Liabilities and Equity 151.006.774 - (968.239) 150.038.535

No deferred tax assets were recorded on the impacts from transition to the extent that the Bank has presented 
tax losses in recent years and there are no studies or business plans that support the future use of these 
deferred taxes for future years. 
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3.5 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.5.1 Accrual basis

The Bank adopts the accrual accounting principle. Income and costs are recognised in accordance with the 
period of validity of the operations and are recorded as they are generated, irrespective of when they are 
received or paid.

3.5.2 Transactions in Foreign Currencies

Transactions in foreign currency are recorded in accordance with the multi-currency system, whereby each 
transaction is recorded on the basis of the currencies involved. Assets and liabilities expressed in foreign 
currency are converted into Kwanzas at the average exchange rate published by Banco Nacional de Angola 
on the balance sheet date.

On the date of their contracting, purchases and sales of foreign currency on a spot and forward basis are 
recorded in the foreign exchange position.

Costs and income relating to exchange rate differences, whether realised or potential, are recorded in the 
income statement for the year in which they occur, under “Foreign exchange gains and losses” (Note 25).

3.5.3 Financial instruments – IFRS 9

As described in Note 3.1 - Basis of Presentation, the Bank adopted IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments on 1 January 
2018 replacing IAS 39 - Financial Instruments, Recognition and Measurement, which was in force until 31 
December 2017. The Bank has not early adopted any of the requirements of IFRS 9 in prior periods

As permitted by the transitional provisions of IFRS 9, the Bank opted not to restate the comparative balances 
of the previous period. The changes in the information disclosed in the notes to the financial statements, 
arising from the amendments to IFRS 7, following IFRS 9, were applied only to the reporting period of 31 
December 2018, and as such, the information included in the notes to the financial statements for the 
comparative period corresponds to the information that was disclosed in the previous period.

a) Financial assets

Classification, initial recognition and subsequent measurement

On initial recognition, financial assets can be classified into the following categories: (i) investments at 
amortised cost; (ii) financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income; and (iii) financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss. As at 31 December 2018, financial assets are classified as 
financial investments at amortised cost and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income.

The classification of financial assets is made taking into account (i) the business model that the Bank 
has defined for the management of the financial asset and (ii) the characteristics of the contractual 
flows of the financial asset.

Business Model Assessment

With reference to 1 January 2018, the Bank assessed the business model through which the financial 
instrument is managed, at portfolio level, since this approach more adequately reflects the way in 
which financial assets are managed and how information is made available to management bodies.

This analysis took into account the following factors:

• The objectives and policies established for the portfolio, as well as its operability;

• Evaluation of the risks that have an impact on the performance of the business model, and the way in 
which the risks are managed;

• The regularity, volume and frequency of sales occurred in previous periods, and what motivated them, 
as well as the expectation of future sales;
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• How the performance of the portfolio is assessed and reported to the Bank’s management; and

• The remuneration of managers of the business.

Assessment of whether contractual cash flows correspond only to the receipt of principal and interest 
(SPPI - Solely Payments of Principal and Interest).

In the scope of this evaluation, it is considered that capital corresponds to the fair value of the financial 
asset on its initial recognition and interest against the time value of money, for the credit risk associated 
with the amount outstanding during a certain period of time.

For instruments in which the receipt of contractual cash flows corresponds only to principal and interest, 
the original contractual terms of the instrument were considered. The Bank analysed the existence of 
situations in which the contractual terms may have modified the amount and frequency of cash flows 
so that the SPPI requirements are not met.

• Investments at amortised cost

Classification

A financial asset is classified in the category “Investments at amortised cost” if it cumulatively 
meets the following requirements: (i) the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the outstanding amount (SPPI) and occur on specified dates, and (ii) are held under a 
business model with the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows.

This category includes “Investments at amortised cost” (Note 9) and “Loans to customers” (Note 10).

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

Debt securities are recognised on the trade date, which is the date on which the Bank acquires the 
securities. Loans to customers are recognised on the date on which the funds are made available to 
the counterparty.

Financial investments at amortised cost are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs and 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost. From their initial recognition, they are subject to the 
calculation of impairment losses for expected credit losses, which are recorded against “Impairment 
for loans to Customers net of reversals and recoveries” (Note 18) and Impairment for other assets net 
of reversals and write-offs (Note 18).

Interest on financial assets at amortised cost is recognised under “Interest and similar income”    
(Note 22).

• Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

Classification

A financial asset is classified in the category of “Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income” if it fulfils the following: (i) the contractual cash flows are solely payments of 
principal and interest (SPPI) on the outstanding amount and occur on specified dates, and (ii) are held 
in a business model with the objective of collecting their contractual cash flows.

In addition, on initial recognition of an equity instrument that is not held for trading or contingent 
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which IFRS 3 applies, the Bank may 
irrevocably elect to classify it as “Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income”. 
This option is exercised on a case-by-case, investment-by-investment basis and is only available for 
financial instruments that meet the definition of equity instruments in IAS 32.

As at 31 December 2018, financial assets classified as “Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income” (Note 8) relate to the investments in EMIS - Empresa Interbancária de Serviços, 
S.A.R.L., Gestcall - Gestão de Serviços de Atendimento and Sagripek.
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Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

Equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income are initially recognised at fair 
value plus transaction costs and subsequently measured at fair value. Changes in the fair value of 
these financial assets are recorded against other comprehensive income under “Other reserves”.

No impairment is recognised for equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive 
income, and the respective accumulated gains or losses are recorded in changes in fair value 
transferred to “Retained earnings” at the time of their derecognition.

Reclassification between categories of financial assets

Financial assets are reclassified to other categories only if the business model is changed.

The reclassification is applied on a forward-looking basis from the reclassification date, and no gains, 
losses or interest that have been previously recognised are restated, however, the financial assets are 
reclassified at fair value on the reclassification date.

Investments in equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income may 
not be reclassified.

b)  Customer loans

Valuation

Loans and receivables include loans granted to Customers and Credit Institutions.

Initially, loans and receivables are recorded at fair value. In general, the initial fair value corresponds to 
the transaction value and includes commissions, taxes or other costs and income associated with credit 
operations.

Subsequently, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method and are subject to impairment tests.

Interest and commissions associated with credit operations are accrued over the life of the operations 
and charged against the income statement headings, irrespective of when they are collected or paid. 
Other fees and commissions charged, namely commissions for financial services on a loan, commitment 
fees to originate a loan and other costs and income associated with credit operations, are recognised in 
the income statement when they are charged.

Guarantees provided

Liabilities for guarantees given and documentary credits for imports are recorded in off-balance sheet 
items at the value at risk, with the flows of interest, commissions or other income being recorded in the 
income statement over the life of the operations.

Interest write-off

The Bank writes off interest accrued for more than 90 days and does not recognise interest from that 
date until the Customer rectifies the situation.

c) Debt securities

Treasury Bonds issued in local currency indexed to the exchange rate of the United States Dollar and 
Treasury Bonds issued in foreign currency are subject to exchange rate adjustment. Thus, the result of 
the exchange rate adjustment of the nominal value of securities is reflected in the income statement 
for the year in which it occurs under “Foreign exchange gains and losses” (Note 25), with the discount 
and accrued interest being reflected under “Interest and similar income” (Note 22).
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Non-adjustable Treasury Bonds in local currency are issued at a discounted value with predefined 
coupon interest rates by maturity. The discount and accrued interest are reflected in the item “Interest 
and similar income” (Note 22).

Treasury Bills are issued at a discounted value and recorded at their acquisition cost. The difference 
between this and the nominal value, which constitutes the Bank’s remuneration, is recognised in the 
accounts as income over the period between the purchase date and the maturity date of the securities 
under “Interest and similar income” (Note 22).

Securities purchased from third parties with resale agreements

In 2018, the Bank carried out temporary liquidity sales operations in the interbank market with Banco 
Nacional de Angola. These are operations in which the Bank invests funds receiving Treasury Bonds as 
collateral. These transactions have an underlying agreement to resell the securities at a future date, for 
a price previously agreed between the parties.

Securities purchased under a resale agreement are not recorded in the securities portfolio. On the 
settlement date, the funds delivered are recorded as assets under “Liquidity investments - Securities 
purchased from third parties with resale agreements”, with the amount of interest accruing under the 
same heading.

Income from transactions involving the purchase of securities from third parties with resale agreements 
corresponds to the difference between the resale value and the purchase value of the securities. Income 
is recognised on an accrual basis due to the passage of time of operations under “Interest and similar 
income” (Note 22).

d)  Financial liabilities

A financial instrument is classified as a financial liability when there is a contractual obligation of a 
settlement to be carried out through the delivery of money or another financial asset, regardless of its 
legal form.

Non-derivative financial liabilities include resources from credit institutions and Customers and 
loans. Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost. The 
associated transaction costs are part of the effective interest rate. The interest recognised through the 
effective interest rate method is recognised in the financial margin (Note 22).

The amortised cost of a financial liability is the amount through which such liability is initially 
recognised, minus receipts of capital, plus or minus accumulated amortisations using the effective 
interest rate method, resulting from the difference between the initially recognised value and the 
amount upon maturity.

e) Indexed deposits

Term deposits of customers in Angolan currency indexed to the exchange rate of the United States 
Dollar (USD) are subject to exchange rate adjustment. Thus, the result of the exchange rate adjustment 
of the nominal value of deposits is reflected in the income statement for the year in which it occurs 
under “Foreign exchange gains and losses” (Note 25), while accrued interest is reflected under “Interest 
and similar charges” (Note 22).

f) Impairment

The Bank determines the expected credit losses of each financial asset based on the deterioration of 
credit risk since its initial recognition. To this end, operations are classified into one of the following 
three stages:

• Stage 1: operations in which there has been no significant increase in credit risk since their initial 
recognition are classified at this stage. Impairment losses associated with operations classified at this 
stage correspond to expected credit losses resulting from a default event that may occur within a 
period of 12 months after the reporting date (12-month expected losses);
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• Stage 2: operations in which there has been no significant increase in credit risk since their initial 
recognition but that are not subject to impairment are classified at this stage. Impairment losses 
associated with operations classified at this stage correspond to expected credit losses resulting from 
default events that may occur over the expected residual life of the operations (lifetime expected 
credit losses);

• Stage 3: operations in a situation of impairment are classified at this stage. Impairment losses 
associated with operations classified at this stage correspond to “lifetime” expected credit losses.

The analysis of expected losses is carried out for cash, investments and securities, assuming the 
following assumptions:

• With regard to the balances of “Cash and deposits in central banks”, it is assumed that the Loss Given 
Default (LGD) is zero and no impairment is estimated;

• Regarding the balances of “Cash and deposits in other credit institutions”, the rating of the entity or, 
if not available, of the country in which it has its head office, is verified. Based on the Moody’s study 
“Sovereign default and recovery rates, 1983-2017”, the Probability of Default (PD) for companies in 
the entity’s rating and the Loss Given Default (LGD) associated with verified sovereign default events, 
indicated in the same study (60%), are considered;

• Regarding the balances of “Investments at amortised cost”, Angolan public debt securities in Angolan 
currency, the Probability of Default (PD) for B3 sovereign debt (rating level above the Angolan State) of 
Moody’s “Sovereign default and recovery rates, 1983-2017” and the Loss Given Default (LGD) associated 
with the sovereign default events verified, indicated in the same study (60%), are considered.

Periodically, financial assets are subject to impairment tests. Impairment losses identified are 
recognised in the income statement. If, in future periods, there is a reduction in the estimated loss, 
the initially recorded impairment is also reversed through the income statement. For this purpose and 
in accordance with IFRS 9, the Bank analyses the portfolio of loans granted to customers, guarantees 
given and documentary import credits.

During 2018, the Bank implemented a new impairment model based on the principles defined by IFRS 
9, which take credit risk into account. Accordingly, the Bank determines the expected credit losses of 
each operation based on the deterioration of the credit risk observed since its initial recognition.

The significant increase in risk is determined according to the following criteria: a) internal rating 
downgrade by two or more levels since the transaction was granted; b) the customer has a high, very 
high or maximum internal rating; c) the customer’s financial statements show a negative financial 
result in the last 3 years; and d) the customer’s financial statements show a decrease in sales volume 
of over 25% in the last year.

Definition of loans in default

Loans/customers are classified as in default whenever the following conditions are met:

i. Loan with instalments of principal or interest overdue for more than 90 days;

ii. Unauthorised overdrafts or use of credit lines above the approved limit;

iii. Operation takes the form of a collateralised current account used above the contracted amount, i.e., 
the outstanding balance exceeds 100% of the authorised credit limit; and

iv. Customers are in a situation of bankruptcy or liquidation.

Definition of loans that show “signs of impairment”

Loans/customers show signs of impairment whenever the following conditions are met:

a) Existence of at least one operation with overdue principal, i.e. a callable capital payment not made 
for at least 30 days;

b) The existence of unauthorised overdrafts at the Bank in the last 12 months;

c) The existence of at least one credit agreement restructured due to financial difficulties of customers 
in the last 12 months;
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d) The existence of loan write-offs with the Bank in the last 12 months, whether they refer to 
instalments of capital as well as interest;

e) Significant reduction in average balances - a reduction of more than 75% in the amount of average 
balances over the last 6 months;

f) Existence of secured accounts in an amount above 95% of the contracted limit, on a permanent 
basis, in the last 12 months;

g) Customers with cheques returned to the Bank;

h) Existence of records, in the last 12 months, in the list of customers subject to recovery, or any other 
pre-litigation effort;

i) Existence of records, in the last 5 years, in the list of customers with cases in litigation;

j) Verification of situations of default of the debtor against the financial system, through recourse to 
the CIRC (Credit Risk and Information Centre);

k) Other situations which show that the debtor is in real financial difficulty;

l) Existence of preferential claims in case of insolvency;

m) Payments by promissory notes; and

n) Contract with a decrease of more than 20% in the value of the collateral when this results in a 
financing/guarantee ratio of more than 80%.

Individual Analysis

The Bank regularly assesses, on an individual basis, whether there is objective evidence of impairment 
in its loan portfolio. Impairment losses on financial assets at amortised cost reduce the book value of 
these assets, with a contra-entry in profit or loss, and are subsequently reversed through profit or loss 
if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated loss decreases.

In a first phase of impairment calculation, the Bank segregates its loan portfolio based on Customers’ 
overall exposure (amount of credit and off-balance sheet) into two blocks: i) significant exposures and 
ii) non-significant exposures.

For significant exposures there is a breakdown of the signs of impairment of customers, based on 
the current risk of the Customer, namely the current risk of the operation and the customer’s history, 
namely in terms of internal rating and number of days of default. Thus, a customer with significant 
exposure may have one of the following ratings:

a) with objective signs of impairment;

b) without objective signs of impairment; and

c) with a significant increase in risk.

Significant exposures are subject to an individual analysis in order to determine their impairment 
rate. If for a given loan there is no objective evidence of impairment on an individual basis, this loan is 
included in a group of loans with similar credit risk characteristics and, consequently, the impairment 
is attributed on a collective basis.

Collective Analysis

Non-significant exposures are grouped according to credit exposures with similar credit risk 
characteristics, which are assessed on a collective basis. This segmentation is based on the 
characteristics of Customers and their operations, as well as the existence of collateral associated with 
these operations.

As at 31 December 2018, no historical data are available that are statistically representative of the 
behaviour of operations and that allow the risk factors (Probability of Default-PD and Loss Given Default-
LGD to be reliably calculated). The risk factors were thus determined by a judgemental approach, taking 
into account the experience of the recovery areas that reflect the expected probability of default (PD) 
and the expected loss given default (LGD). These two risk factors make it possible to determine the 
amount of impairment losses for non-significant exposures and for significant exposures to which 
these parameters are applied.
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The calculation of the collective impairment or expected loss over the lifetime of the asset will consider 
a set of macroeconomic scenarios, in which for each risk factor values will be determined for the 
various scenarios (optimistic, pessimistic and base) and will be applied to the portfolio according to its 
probability of occurrence.

Within the scope of the adoption of IFRS 9 in 2018, the Bank implemented a model for calculating and 
recording impairment for credit risk, which is dependent on the process of improving the databases 
that support it, mainly in terms of the identification of restructured credit operations and the recording 
and evaluation of guarantees received.

3.5.4 Financial Instruments – IAS 39

The Bank’s financial statements for 2017 were prepared in accordance with IAS 39 - Financial Instruments - 
Recognition and Measurement, as follows:

a) Loans to Customers and receivables

Valuation

Initially, loans and receivables are recorded at fair value. In general, the initial fair value corresponds 
to the transaction value and includes commissions, taxes or other costs and income associated with 
credit operations. Subsequently, loans and receivables are valued at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method and are subject to impairment tests.

i. Credit granted
Loans are financial assets and are recorded at the amounts contracted when originated by the Bank, 
or at the amounts paid when acquired from other entities.

ii. Overdue loans and interest
Capital, interest and other overdue and uncollected amounts, less interest written off, are recorded 
under this heading. As provided for in Banco Nacional de Angola Instruction no. 09/2015 of 4 June, 
the Bank writes off interest due for more than 90 days. 

iii. Recognition of income
Interest and commissions associated with credit operations are accrued over the life of the operations 
against income statement headings, regardless of when they are collected or paid. Other fees and 
commissions charged, namely commissions for financial services on a loan, commitment fees to 
originate a loan and other costs and income associated with credit operations, are recognised in the 
income statement when they are charged.

Guarantees given and documentary credits for imports

Liabilities for guarantees given and documentary credits for imports are recorded in off-balance sheet 
headings at the value at risk, with the flows of commissions or other income being recorded in the 
income statement over the life of the operations.

Derecognition

Loans are written off when there is no realistic expectation of their recovery from an economic 
perspective, and for collateralised loans, when the funds from the realisation of the collateral were 
already received, through the use of impairment losses when they correspond to 100% of the value of 
the loans considered as non-recoverable.

Impairment

In 2017, the Bank maintained its procedures with a view to complying with the registration of provisions 
based on the requirements of Banco Nacional de Angola Instruction no. 09/2015, of 4 June.

Thus, the impairment for loan operations was based on the analysis of open loans operations (overdue 
and due, including guarantees and sureties provided and documentary import credits) in an amount 
considered sufficient to cover possible losses in accordance with the Credit Regulation, meeting the 
standards established by Instruction no. 09/2015, resulting from the product resulting from the 
application of the provision percentages over the book value of each loan, thus considering the amount 
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receivable from the borrower, plus income and charges of any nature not received, including those 
resulting from foreign exchange variation, if any. It is calculated on the basis of the Customer’s risk 
classification, based on a periodic analysis of the quality of the Customer and the operation, and not 
only on the occurrence of delays in the payment of principal or interest.

Operations with a maturity of less than 24 months:

Risk Risk Level Days in default Minimum impairment to be constituted

None A Up to 15 days 0%

Very low B 15 to 30 1%

Low C 30 to 60 3%

Moderate D 60 to 90 10%

High E 90 to 150 20%

Very high F 150 to 180 50%

Loss G Over 180 100%

Operations with a maturity of more than 24 months:

Risk Risk Level Days in default Minimum impairment to be constituted

None A Up to 30 days 0%

Very low B 30 to 60 1%

Low C 60 to 120 3%

Moderate D 120 to 180 10%

High E 180 to 300 20%

Very high F 300 to 360 50%

Loss G Over 360 100%

Credit transactions of the same customer are classified, for purposes of the setting aside of provisions, 
according to the class which presents the greatest risk.

The reclassification of credit to a lower risk category according to the decrease in the delay was limited 
to the level established in the initial classification or arising from the periodic risk evaluation.

Provisions for loans to customers are recorded as assets under “Impairment”, to be deducted from 
“Loans to customers” (Note 10) and the provisions for guarantees and sureties given and documentary 
credits not guaranteed at the balance sheet date are shown as liabilities under “Provisions” (Note 18).

b)  Other financial assets and liabilities

Other financial assets and liabilities were recognised and valued in accordance with IAS 32 and IAS 39, 
being recorded on the contract date at their fair value.

i. Held-to-maturity investments
Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity, for which the Bank had 
the intention and ability to hold to maturity (Note 9), were recognised in this category. Securities 
classified under this heading were valued at their amortised cost-plus accrued interest and the 
premium/discount, with the Bank recognising any profits or losses calculated on the maturity date 
by the difference between the amount received on that date and the respective book value. Interest 
and premium/discount are calculated using the effective interest rate method and recognised as net 
interest income (Note 22).

Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement when identified. If, in a subsequent period, 
the amount of the impairment loss decreases, and the decrease can be objectively related to an event 
that occurred after the impairment was recognised, it is reversed through the income statement.

Treasury Bills are issued at a discounted value and recorded at their acquisition cost. The difference 
between this and the nominal value, which constitutes the Bank’s remuneration, is recognised in the 
accounts as income over the period between the purchase date and the maturity date of the securities 
(Notes 9 and 22).
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Treasury Bonds issued in foreign currency, as well as those issued in local currency indexed to the exchange 
rate of the United States Dollar (USD), are subject to exchange rate adjustment. Thus, the result of the 
exchange rate adjustment of the nominal value of securities is recorded in the income statement in the 
year in which it occurs under “Foreign exchange gains and losses” (Note 25), with accrued interest being 
reflected in net interest income (Note 22).

Any reclassification or sale of financial assets recognised in this category that is not carried out close to the 
maturity would oblige the Bank to fully reclassify this portfolio into financial assets available for sale and 
for two years no financial asset can be classified under this category.

As at 31 December 2017, the Bank had only investments in its portfolio relating to Treasury Bills and 
Treasury Bonds, being classified in the category of held-to-maturity investments.

ii. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets and liabilities held for trading include some Treasury Bonds indexed to the exchange 
rate of the United States Dollar (USD).

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss were initially recognised at fair 
value. Gains and losses arising from subsequent valuation at fair value were recognised in the income 
statement.

Interest inherent to financial assets and differences between cost and nominal value (premium or 
discount) were calculated in accordance with the effective interest rate method and recognised in the 
income statement under “Interest and similar income” (Note 22). The effective rate is the one that, 
being used to discount the estimated future cash flows associated with the financial instrument, 
allows their present value to be equal to the value of the financial instrument on the date of initial 
recognition.

The fair value of financial assets traded on active markets is their bid price or closing price on the 
balance sheet date. If a market price is not available, the fair value of the instrument is estimated 
based on valuation techniques, which include pricing models or contractual cash flow discounting 
techniques.

When contractual cash flow discounting techniques are used, future cash flows are estimated in 
accordance with market expectations and the discount rate used corresponds to the market rate for 
financial instruments with similar characteristics. In pricing models, the data used corresponds to 
market price information.

iii. Financial assets available for sale
Available-for-sale financial assets include equity instruments, namely the investments in EMIS, 
Sagripek and Gestcall (Note 8).

Financial assets available for sale were measured at fair value, with the exception of equity 
instruments not listed in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, which 
remain recorded at cost, which is the case of these holdings.

If there were any changes in the value of this investment, they would be recorded under “Other 
reserves”.

At the time of sale, or if impairment is determined, the accumulated changes in fair value were 
transferred to income or costs for the year, being recorded under “Income from available-for-
sale financial assets” or “Impairment of other financial assets, net of reversals and recoveries”, 
respectively. Foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary assets were recognised directly in the 
income statement.

Impairment

As mentioned above, available-for-sale financial assets are recorded at fair value, with changes in fair 
value reflected in equity under “Revaluation reserves”.

Whenever there is objective evidence of impairment, the accumulated losses that have been recognised 
in reserves were transferred to costs for the year in the form of impairment losses, under “Impairment 
of other financial assets, net of reversals and recoveries”.
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IAS 39 provides the following specific indications for impairment in equity instruments:

• IInformation on significant changes with an adverse impact on the technological, market, economic 
or legal environment in which the issuer operates that indicates that the cost of the investment will 
not be recovered;

• A significant or prolonged decline in market value below cost.

Impairment losses on equity instruments cannot be reversed, and any potential losses arising after 
the recognition of impairment losses are reflected in “Revaluation reserves”. If additional capital losses 
are subsequently determined, it is always considered that there is impairment, and such losses are 
therefore reflected in the income statement for the year.

Impairment losses recorded in fixed income securities may be reversed through profit or loss if there 
is a positive change in their fair value resulting from an event occurring after the impairment was 
determined.

iv. Financial liabilities
A financial instrument is classified as a financial liability when there is a contractual obligation of a 
settlement to be carried out through the delivery of money or another financial asset, regardless of 
its legal form.

Non-derivative financial liabilities include resources from credit institutions and Customers and 
loans. Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost. 
The associated transaction costs are part of the effective interest rate. The interest recognised 
through the effective interest rate method is recognised in the financial margin (Note 22).

The amortised cost of a financial liability is the amount through which such liability is initially 
recognised, minus receipts of principal, plus or minus accumulated amortisations using the effective 
interest rate method, resulting from the difference between the initially recognised value and the 
amount at maturity.

The income referring to interest from financial asset and liability instruments measured at amortised 
cost is recognised in the categories of similar interest and income or similar interest and charges 
(Note 22), through the effective interest rate method.

The effective interest rate corresponds to the rate that discounts the estimated future payments 
or receipts during the expected life of the financial instrument (or, when appropriate, for a shorter 
period) for the current net balance sheet value of the financial asset or liability.

For the determination of the effective interest rate, the Bank estimates the future cash flows 
considering all the contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, early payment 
options), whilst not considering possible impairment losses. The calculation includes fees and 
commissions paid or received that are considered as to be an integral part of the effective interest 
rate, transaction costs and all the premiums or discounts directly related to the transaction, except 
for financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

In the case of financial assets or groups of similar financial assets for which impairment losses were 
recognised, the interest recorded in the income statement is determined based on the interest rate 
used for discount of future cash flows in the measurement of the impairment loss.

Specifically with regard to the policy for recording interest on overdue loans, the following aspects 
are considered:

• Interest on overdue collateralised loans until the prudently assessed hedging limit is reached is 
recorded in the income statement in accordance with IAS 18 – Revenue in the assumption that there 
is a reasonable probability of its recovery; and

• The already recognised and non-paid interest relative to a loan due more than 90 days ago that is not 
hedged by collateral is written off and is only recognised when received in considering its recovery to 
be remote in the context of IAS 18 – Revenue.



ANNUAL REPORT 2018

118

v. Indexed deposits
Term deposits of Customers in Angolan currency indexed to the exchange rate of the United 
States Dollar (USD) are subject to exchange rate adjustment. Thus, the result of the exchange rate 
adjustment of the nominal value of deposits is reflected in the income statement for the year in 
which it occurs under “Foreign exchange gains and losses” (Note 25), while accrued interest is 
reflected under “Interest payable” (Note 17).

3.5.5 Non-current assets held for sale

Under the item “Non-current assets held for sale” the Bank records assets received as payment in kind, 
following the recovery of defaulted loans, if intended for subsequent disposal.

These assets are recorded at the lower of the amount determined between their valuation and the value of 
the credit due less the respective specific provisions set up.

The assets recorded under this item are not depreciated, being valued at the lower of the carrying amount 
and the estimated realisable value, less the costs to be incurred on the sale. The revaluation value of these 
assets is determined on the basis of periodic valuations carried out by independent expert asset valuers. 
Whenever the value resulting from these valuations (net of selling costs) is lower than the value at which 
they are recorded, impairment losses are recorded under “Impairment of other assets net of reversals and 
recoveries”.

When the legal period of 2 years has elapsed without the assets being sold (extendable by BNA authorisation), 
a new valuation is conducted, aimed at determining the adjusted market value, with a view to the possible 
constitution of the corresponding impairment.

3.5.6 Other tangible assets

Other tangible assets are recorded at acquisition cost, less the respective accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses. The cost includes expenditure which is directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
goods and which is essential to put them in working order.

Subsequent costs are recognised as a separate asset only if it is probable that future economic benefits for 
the Bank will result from them. Maintenance and repair expenses are recognised as a cost insofar as they are 
incurred in accordance with the accrual accounting principle (Note 29). Depreciation is calculated over the 
estimated useful life of the assets, which corresponds to the period in which the assets are expected to be 
available for use. The years of estimated useful life for the Bank’s main tangible asset classes are as follows:

Years of useful life

Real estate for own use (buildings) 25 a 50

Work on leased buildings 4 a 50

Equipment

Computer equipment 3

Furniture and materials 6

Transport equipment 4

Machines and tools 3 a 8

Fixtures and fittings 3 a 25

Safety equipment 8

Other equipment 5

When there is a sign that an asset may be impaired, IAS 36 – Impairment of assets requires the estimate 
of its recoverable amount, and an impairment loss must be recognised whenever the net value of an asset 
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.

3.5.7 Intangible assets

Intangible assets essentially correspond to software.

Intangible assets are recorded at acquisition cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
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Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets, which 
corresponds on average for a period of 3 years.

Expenditure on software maintenance is recorded as a cost in the year in which it is incurred, and the 
development of computer applications for which there is an expectation that future economic benefits will 
be generated beyond one year are recognised and recorded as intangible assets.

3.5.8 Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies

Under the terms of IAS 29 - Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies (“IAS 29”), financial 
institutions should, in the event of the existence of hyperinflation, consider on a monthly basis the effects 
of the change in the purchasing power of local currency, based on the application of the Consumer Price 
Index to the balances of capital, reserves and retained earnings. The financial statements of an entity 
whose functional currency is the currency of a hyperinflationary economy must be expressed in terms of 
the current measurement unit at balance sheet date. Hyperinflation is indicated by the characteristics of 
the economic environment of a country which includes, but is not limited to, the following situations:

• The general population prefers to keep its wealth in non monetary assets or in relatively stable foreign 
currency. The amounts of the local currency held are immediately invested in order to maintain purchasing 
power;

• The population in general sees monetary quantities in terms of stable foreign currency. Prices must be 
quoted in that currency;

• Credit sales and purchases take place at prices which compensate for the expected loss in purchasing 
power during the credit period, even where the period is short;

• Interest rates, salaries and prices are linked to a price index; and

• The accumulated rate of inflation over 3 years approaches or exceeds 100%.

The amount resulting from the monetary revaluation should be reflected on a monthly basis as a debit 
in the “Gain or loss in the net monetary position” account of the income account, as contra-entry for the 
increase in equity balances, with the exception of the item “Share capital”, which should be classified under 
a specific heading (“Revaluation reserves”) that can only be used for subsequent capital increases.

The Angolan Banking Association (“ABANC”) and Banco Nacional de Angola (“BNA”) issued an interpretation 
that not all the requirements of IAS 29 - Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies (“IAS 29”) are 
met for the Angolan economy to be considered hyperinflationary for the year ended 31 December 2018. 
Based on this interpretation, the Board of Directors decided to continue not applying such principles to the 
financial statements in the year ending on the date of their presentation according to this standard, in line 
with the Board’s position as at 31 December 2017.

3.5.9 Income taxes

Current tax

Current tax is calculated based on the taxable profit for the year, which may differ from the accounting result 
due to adjustments to the taxable income resulting from costs or income not relevant for tax purposes, or 
which will only be considered in other accounting periods.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets and liabilities correspond to the amount of tax recoverable or payable in future periods, 
resulting from deductible or taxable temporary differences between the value of assets and liabilities on 
the balance sheet and their tax base, used in determining taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are recorded 
for all taxable temporary differences, while deferred tax assets are only recognised up to the amount for 
which the existence of future taxable profits is likely to allow the use of the corresponding deductible tax 
differences or the carry forward of tax losses.

In addition, deferred tax assets are not recognised in cases in which their recoverability is questionable due 
to other situations, including issues relating to the interpretation of prevailing tax legislation.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, as the Bank calculates tax losses and has no studies that demonstrate 
the existence of future taxable profits, does not record deferred tax assets.
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Industrial tax

The Bank is subject to the Industrial Tax at the rate of 30% and is considered for tax purposes as a Group A 
taxpayer.

On 1 January 2015, the new Industrial Tax Code, approved by Law no. 19/14, of 22 October, went into effect, 
which now determines that income subject to Capital Investment Tax (“IAC”) is deductible for purposes of 
determining taxable income, and IAC does not constitute a cost accepted for tax purposes (Note 14).

In addition, under the terms of the new Industrial Tax Code, taxpayers whose activity is within the scope of the 
supervisory powers of Banco Nacional de Angola must, until the end of August of each year, make a provisional 
assessment of the Industrial Tax for that financial year, the tax to be paid being calculated on the basis of 2% of 
the result derived from financial intermediation operations, calculated in the first six months of the previous 
financial year, excluding income subject to IAC.

Note 14 shows the reconciliation between the tax result and the accounting result.

Capital Investment Tax (“IAC”)

Presidential Legislative Decree no. 5/11, of 30 December, introduced several legislative changes to the Capital 
Application Tax Code, having been amended by Presidential Legislative Decree no. 2/14, of 20 October. IAC 
is generally levied on income from the Bank’s financial investments, namely income from investments and 
income from securities. The rate varies between 5% (in the case of income from debt securities admitted to 
trading on a regulated market and having a maturity of three years or more) and 15%.

According to the latest formal interpretation of the General Tax for the Angolan Banking Association 
(“ABANC”), although income from the exchange revaluation of public debt securities issued in foreign 
currency is subject to IAC, it should be taxed on industrial tax until Banco Nacional de Angola has withheld 
this tax on the income in question.
In a letter from Banco Nacional de Angola to ABANC dated 26 September 2013, it was reiterated that interest 
on Treasury Bonds, Treasury Bills and Central Bank Securities are only subject to IAC, in respect of securities 
issued after 1 January 2013.

Urban Properties Tax (“IPU”)

At a rate of 0.5%, IPU is levied on the assessed value of own properties intended for the development of the 
Bank’s normal business when their assessed value exceeds 5,000 mAOA.

Other taxes

The Bank is also subject to indirect taxes, namely customs duties, stamp duty, consumption tax and other 
fees.

3.5.10 Provisions and contingencies

A provision is set up when there is a present obligation (legal or constructive) resulting from past events for 
which the future expenditure of resources is likely and this can be reliably determined. The amount of the 
provision corresponds to the best estimate of the amount to be disbursed in order to settle the liability at 
the balance sheet date.

If future expenditure of resources is not probable, this is a contingent liability, which is disclosed in 
accordance with the requirements of IAS 37 - “Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets”.

Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the best estimate, whilst 
being reversed in the income statement in the proportion of the payments that are not probable. Provisions 
are derecognised through their use for the obligations for which they were initially constituted or in the 
cases in which they are no longer observed.

3.5.11 Recognition of income from services and commissions

The income resulting from services and commission is recognised in accordance with the following criteria:

• When it is obtained whilst the services are provided, its recognition in the income statement is carried out 
in the period to which it relates; and
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• When it results from a provision of services, its recognition is carried out when the aforementioned service 
is completed.

3.5.12 Earnings per share

The basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net income attributable to shareholders of the 
Bank by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in circulation, excluding the average number of 
own shares held by the Bank.

If the earnings per share are altered as a result of an issue at a premium or discount or another event that 
alters the potential number of ordinary shares or changes in the accounting policies, the calculation of the 
earnings per share for all the presented periods is retrospectively adjusted.

3.5.13 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of preparing the cash flow statement, the Bank considers as “Balance at year end” the 
total balances of “Cash and deposits in central banks” and “Cash and deposits in other credit institutions”, 
excluding the item relating to “Credits in payment system” (Notes 4 and 5).

3.6 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS IN PREPARING THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

International Financial Reporting Standards define a set of accounting treatments, and on that basis the Board of 
Directors makes judgements and estimates necessary to decide which is the most appropriate accounting treatment.

The main accounting estimates and judgements used in the application of the accounting principles presented 
in this Note are intended to facilitate understanding of their application and of how they affect the results 
reported by the Bank, and the respective disclosures. The description of the main accounting policies used by 
the Bank is presented in Note 3.5 to the financial statements.

With regard to the results disclosed by the Bank, since in many situations there are alternatives to the accounting 
treatment, if the Bank opted for another treatment the results could be different. The Board of Directors 
considers that the choices made are appropriate and that the financial statements truly and accurately present 
the Bank’s financial position and the income from its operations in all materially relevant aspects.

Financial instruments - IFRS 9

Classification and measurement

The classification and measurement of financial assets depends on the results of the SPPI test (analysis of 
the characteristics of the contractual cash flows, to conclude whether they correspond solely to payments of 
principal and interest on the principal outstanding) and on the definition of the business model for managing 
those cash flows.

The Bank determines the business model taking into account how groups of financial assets are managed 
together to achieve a specific business objective. This assessment requires judgement, insofar as the following 
aspects have to be considered, among others: the way in which the performance of the assets is assessed; the 
risks affecting the performance of the assets and the way in which these risks are managed; and the way in 
which asset managers are remunerated.

The Bank monitors financial assets measured at amortised cost and fair value through other comprehensive 
income that are derecognised before their maturity, to understand the reasons for their disposal and determine 
whether they are consistent with the objective of the business model defined for these assets. This monitoring 
is part of the Bank’s ongoing process of evaluating the business model of the financial assets remaining in the 
portfolio, to determine whether it is appropriate and, if not, whether there has been a change in the business 
model and, consequently, a prospective change in the classification of these financial assets.

Impairment losses on financial assets at amortised cost

The determination of impairment losses for financial instruments involves judgements and estimates 
regarding the following aspects, among others:

Significant increase in credit risk

Impairment losses correspond to expected losses in the event of default within a 12-month period, for assets 
in stage 1 of impairment, and to expected losses considering the probability of occurrence of a default event 
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at some point up to the maturity date of the financial instrument, for assets in stages 2 and 3. An asset is 
classified as stage 2 whenever there has been a significant increase in its credit risk since its initial recognition. 
In assessing the existence of a significant increase in credit risk, the Bank takes into account qualitative and 
quantitative, reasonable and sustainable information.

Loss given default

This corresponds to an estimate of the loss in a default scenario. It is based on the difference between 
the contractual cash flows and those that the Bank expects to receive, via the cash flows managed by the 
Customer’s business or the loan collateral. The calculation of the estimated loss due to default is based, among 
other aspects, on the different recovery scenarios, historical information, the costs involved in the recovery 
process and the estimated valuation of collateral associated with credit operations.

Taxes on profit

Taxes on profits are determined by the Bank on the basis of the rules defined by the tax framework in force. 
However, in some situations tax legislation may not be sufficiently clear and objective and may give rise to 
different interpretations. In these cases, the amounts recorded result from the best understanding of the 
bodies responsible for the Bank of the correct framework of its operations, which is, however, subject to being 
questioned by the Tax Authorities.

The Tax Authorities have the possibility of reviewing the calculation of the taxable income carried out by the 
Bank for a period of five years. As such, it is possible that there will be corrections to the taxable income, 
principally resulting from differences in the interpretation of the tax legislation, which due to their probability, 
the Board of Directors does not consider will have a materially significant effect on the financial statements.

Going concern principle

The financial statements were prepared on a going concern basis, given that the Board of Directors considers 
that the Bank has the means and capacity to continue operations in the foreseeable future. To this end, in 
order to provide the Bank with the necessary resources for the development of its activity and to ensure the 
continuity of its operations, the Board of Directors will propose to the General Meeting of Shareholders the 
measures it deems appropriate, namely the implementation of a capital increase.  

4. CASH AND DEPOSITS IN CENTRAL BANKS

This item comprises the following:

2018 2017

Cash

Domestic notes and currencies 3.396.328 3.494.337

Foreign notes and coins

Expressed in United States Dollars 115.161 54.371

In other currencies 34.686 15.627

3.546.175 3.564.335

Cash and cash equivalents at Banco Nacional de Angola

In local currency 12.144.347 12.802.161

Expressed in United States Dollars (USD) 1.281.853 698.540

13.426.200 13.500.701

16.972.375 17.065.036

Demand deposits held with Banco Nacional de Angola in local and foreign currency are intended to comply 
with the provisions in force for the maintenance of required reserves and are not remunerated.

Notes to the Financial Statements at 31 December 2018
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As at 31 December 2018, the required reserves are calculated in accordance with the provisions of Instruction 
no. 10/2018 of 19 July and Banco Nacional de Angola Directive no. 04/DSP/DRO/2018. As at 31 December 
2017, these were determined in accordance with the provisions of Banco Nacional de Angola Instruction no. 
06/2017 of 1 December. The required reserves are constituted in local and foreign currency, according to the 
respective denomination of the liabilities that constitute their reserve base.

As at 31 December 2018, required reserves were determined by applying a quotient of 17% to eligible liabilities 
in local currency and 15% in foreign currency. As at 31 December 2017, required reserves were determined by 
applying a quotient of 21% to eligible liabilities in local currency and 15% in foreign currency.

With the entry into force of Banco Nacional de Angola Instruction no. 06/2017 of 1 December, it was no longer 
possible to comply with reserve requirements on Treasury Bonds, which implied the effective strengthening of 
required reserves.

5. CASH AND DEPOSITS IN CREDIT INSTITUTIONS

This item is broken down as follows:

2018 2017

Cash and deposits in credit institutions in Angola

Banco Angolano de Investimentos, S.A. 238.448 35.794

Other entities 83.765 -

322.213 35.794

Cash and deposits in credit institutions abroad

Banco BAI Europa, S.A. 2.845.139 3.828.923

Banque de Commerce et de Placements, S.A. 2.440.613 713.175

Byblos Bank Europe, S.A. 1.816.724 (238.759)

Banco Atlântico Europa, S.A. 739.266 843.721

Banco BIC Português, S.A. 711.880 267.227

Banco UBAE, S.A. 266.453 -

Banco BAI Europa, S.A. 118.635 380.827

Other entities 88.291 31.727

9.027.001 5.826.841

Credits in payment system 1.280.584 166.357

10.629.798 6.028.992

Impairment for cash and deposits in other credit 
institutions (Note 18)

(16.511) -

10.613.287 6.028.992

In 2018 and 2017, “Cash and deposits in other credit institutions” are not remunerated.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, “Cash and deposits in credit institutions in Angola” includes a deposit with 
Banco BAI that serves as collateral for transactions made with Visa credit cards of Banco Keve customers. Banco 
BAI acts as an intermediary between Banco Keve and Visa.

As at 31 December 2017, “Cash and deposits at credit institutions abroad” included a bank overdraft at Byblos 
Bank Europe S.A. in the amount of (238,759) mAOA. The regularisation of this overdraft occurred in January 
2018.
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The breakdown by currency of the item “Cash and deposits in other credit institutions” is as follows: 

2018 2017

Cash and deposits in credit institutions abroad

Expressed in United States Dollars (USD) 5.374.042 3.096.432

Expressed in Euros (EUR) 3.652.959 2.723.501

Expressed in South African Rand (ZAR) - 452

Expressed in Pounds Sterling (GBP) - 6.456

9.027.001 5.826.841

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the balance of “Credits in payment system” is 1,280,584 mAOA and 166,357 
mAOA, respectively. The item “Credits in payment system” includes cheques received at the Bank presented for 
clearing in the first working days of 2019 and 2018.

6. INVESTMENTS IN CENTRAL BANKS AND OTHER CREDIT INSTITUTIONS

This item is broken down as follows:

2018 2017

Investments in domestic credit institutions

Banco Nacional de Angola 1.500.000 1.900.000

Banco Sol, S.A - 2.000.000

Banco de Poupança e Crédito, S.A. - 1.000.000

Banco Angolano de Negócios e Comércio, S.A - 800.000

1.500.000 5.700.000

Income receivable 645 10.522

1.500.645 5.710.522

Investments in foreign credit institutions

Deposits

Byblos Bank Europe, S.A. 1.700.065 248.554

Banco BIC Português, S.A. - 727.457

Banque de Commerce et de Placements, S.A. - 202.976

Banco Atlântico Europa, S.A. - 414.810

1.700.065 1.593.797

Income receivable 986 848

1.701.051 1.594.645

Letter of credit collateral transactions

Banco Atlântico Europa, S.A. 2.209.910 237.769

Banca Ubae, S.p.A 325.592 -

Byblos Bank Europe, S.A. 285.798 -

Banco BAI Europa, S.A. 52.953 1.320.368

Banque de Commerce et de Placements, S.A. 1.028 -

First National Bank - 512

2.875.281 1.558.649

6.076.977 8.863.816

Impairment for cash and deposits in other credit institutions (Note 18) (29.868) -

6.047.109 8.863.816
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As at 31 December 2018, “Investments in credit institutions in Angola - Banco Nacional Angola” corresponds to 
a sale of own securities with repurchase agreements (REPOS) with a maturity of 1 month and interest of 3.93%.

As at 31 December 2017, the balance relating to “Investments in credit institutions in Angola - Banco Nacional 
de Angola” corresponded to four operations of sale of own securities with repurchase agreement (REPOS), with 
contracting dates between 19 and 26 December 2017 and the average interest rate of the operations is 8.74%. 
These operations were liquidated on 16 January 2018. As at 31 December 2017, the Bank had an investment 
in local currency with Banco Sol, S.A. in the amount of 2,000,000 mAOA, with a maturity of less than 1 month 
and remunerated at 16.4%. This investment was liquidated in January 2018.

As at 31 December 2017, the Bank had two investments in local currency with Banco Poupança e Crédito, 
S.A. and Banco Angolano de Negócios e Comércio, S.A. in the amount of 1,000,000 mAOA and 800,000 
mAOA, respectively, both remunerated at an interest rate of 16.4% and maturing in less than 1 month. These 
investments were liquidated in January 2018.

The breakdown by currency of “Investments in credit institutions abroad” is as follows:

2018 2017

Investments in foreign credit institutions:

Expressed in United States Dollars (USD) 1.700.065 1.135.303

Expressed in Euros (EUR) - 458.494

1.700.065 1.593.797

As at 31 December 2018, the balance relating to “Loan applications abroad - Byblos Bank Europe, S.A.” 
corresponded to an investment remunerated at an average interest rate of 2.33%, in foreign currency (USD), in 
the amount of 1,700,065 mAOA.

As at 31 December 2017, the balance relating to “Investments in credit institutions abroad - Banco BIC 
Português, S.A.” corresponded to non-remunerated investments in foreign currency (Euros) in the amount of 
458,494 mAOA and to interest-bearing investments at a rate of 0.95% in foreign currency (USD) in the amount 
of 268,963 mAOA.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, “Letter of credit collateral operations” correspond to operations that
serve as collateral for letter of credit operations, as indicated by specific counterparties.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the residual term of investments in central banks and other credit
institutions, including income receivable and net of impairment, is detailed as follows:

2018 2017

Up to 15 days 7.532 5.198.596

Between 15 and 30 days 1.5000.000 1.392.740

Between 1 and 2 months 4.469.445 2.272.480

6.076.977 8.863.816

The movement in impairment in investments in central banks and other credit institutions is analysed in Note 18.

7. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

This item is broken down as follows:

2018 2017

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - 199.763

- 199.763
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As at 31 December 2017, “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” presents the following values:

2017

Description Currency Country
Average 

interest rate
Acquisition 

costs
Income 

receivable
Book
value 

Treasury bonds indexed to USD AOA Angola 5,00% 193.201 6.562 199.763

193.201 6.562 199.763

In accordance with the accounting policy described in Note 3.5.4. b), in accordance with IAS 39, securities 
held for trading are those that are acquired with the objective of being traded in the short term. With the 
implementation of IFRS 9 these securities, according to their nature and business model, were reclassified to 
the item “Investments at amortised cost”.

As at 31 December 2017, the balance sheet value of Treasury Bonds indexed to the Dollar consists of an indexed 
Treasury Bond, which was acquired in March 2017 and whose maturity date occurs in September 2023. This 
security bears interest according to half-yearly coupons at a rate of 5%.

8. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND
     AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

“Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income” and “Financial assets available for sale” 
comprise the following equity instruments:

Holdings in other companies % Stake
Nº of 

Securities Type
Valuation 

Method

EMIS - Empresa Interbancária de Serviços 2,24% 90.938 Ordinary Acquisition cost(i)

Gestcall - Gestão de Serviços de Atendimento 15,00% 1.500 Ordinary Acquisition cost(i)

Sagripek 5,00% 80 Ordinary Acquisition cost(i)

(i) IFRS 9 provides that, in limited circumstances, acquisition cost may be an appropriate estimate of fair value. 
Therefore, the Bank’s financial holdings are valued at acquisition cost to the extent that the Board of Directors 
considers that they correspond to an estimate of reasonable and prudent fair value, in accordance with the 
policy described in Note 3.5.3.

IFRS 9 provides alternatives for the classification and measurement of these investments, since it is an equity 
instrument and, consequently, the equity instruments do not fall within the scope of SPPI, since the cash flows 
generated do not only correspond to principal and interest. In view of this fact, the equity instruments would 
be classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss. Nevertheless, IFRS 9 allows an alternative under 
which the Bank may, irrevocably and at the time of initial recognition, elect to classify and measure equity 
instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income. Based on this alternative, the Bank opted to 
recognise these investments at acquisition cost, thus considering this value as an approximately reasonable 
and prudent estimate of the fair value of the equity instrument in question.
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These captions as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 include the following financial investments:

2018 2017

Shares

EMIS - Empresa Interbancária de Serviços, SARL

Capital 90.938 93.958

Additional contributions - 22.025

90.938 115.983

Gestcall – Gestão de Serviços de Atendimento 3.090 3.090

Sagripek 2.167 2.167

96.195 121.240

EMIS - Empresa Interbancária de Serviços, S.A.R.L. (EMIS) was incorporated in Angola to manage electronic 
means of payment and complementary services, with the Bank’s equity interest totalling 2.24%. Following the 
27th General Meeting of EMIS, on 20 May 2016, the Bank’s adoption of the EMIS statutes was approved, thus 
acquiring an equity holding in the company. In addition, the amounts corresponding to the issue premium and 
supplementary capital of the respective share capital were also delivered to EMIS.

9. INVESTMENTS AT AMORTISED COST AND HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS

These headings comprise the following:

        2018          2017

Interest rate Book value Interest rate Book value

Treasury Bills 23,90% 2.500.938 21,82% 9.643.417

2.500.938 9.643.417

Treasury Bonds

In local currency

Indexed to USD (1) 7,10% 48.451.452 7,05% 37.781.104

Non-adjustable 11,45% 10.092.819 8,96% 1.798.136

58.544.271 39.579.240

In foreign currency (USD) 5,00% 2.539.836 5,00% 1.614.441

2.539.836 1.614.441

63.585.045 50.837.098

Income receivable 1.202.394 1.542.970

1.202.394 1.542.970

Gross Total 64.787.439 1.542.970

Impairment (Note 18) (1.061.312) -

63.726.127 52.380.068

(1) Nominal value indexed to the United States Dollar.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the item “Treasury Bills” corresponds to treasury bills issued by the Angolan 
State in Angolan currency, with a residual maturity of less than one year and whose average rate of return is 
23.90% and 21.82%, respectively.
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The increase in the balance sheet value of “USD Indexed Treasury Bonds” between 2018 and 2017 is essentially 
due to the significant currency devaluation of the Kwanza against the Dollar in 2018. During 2018, the Bank 
acquired three USD indexed bonds remunerated at an average rate of 7% in the amount of 2,352,469 mAOA.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the item “Treasury Bonds - Non-adjustable” corresponds to Treasury Bonds 
in local currency in the amount of 10,092,819 mAOA and 1,798,136 mAOA, respectively. In 2018 these bonds 
were acquired at a discount, with an average discount rate of approximately 20%, issued this year with an 
average maturity in 2022 and a maximum maturity in 2024, with a coupon rate of approximately 11%.
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, investments at amortised cost present the following breakdown, excluding 
interest receivable and impairment, according to residual maturities:

Up to one 
month

From one 
to three 
months

From three 
to six 

months

From six 
months 

to a year
More than 

one year Total

Treasury bills - - 1.599.430 901.508 - 2.500.938

Treasury bonds in local currency

Indexed to the exchange rate 
of the US Dollar

- 2.748.630 4.367.271 6.789.474 34.546.077 48.451.452

Non-indexed - - 333.140 150.244 9.609.435 10.092.819

Foreign currency treasury bonds - - - - 2.539.836 2.539.836

As at 31 December 2018 - 2.748.630 6.299.841 7.841.226 46.695.348 63.585.045

Treasury bills 2.652.043 1.812.853 3.798.647 1.379.874 - 9.643.417

Treasury bonds in local currency

Indexed to the exchange rate 
of the US Dollar

- 730.217 1.265.062 11.068.786 24.717.039 37.781.104

Non-indexed - - 332.311 - 1.465.825 1.798.136

Foreign currency treasury bonds - - - 248.886 1.365.555 1.614.441

As at 31 December 2017 2.652.043 2.543.070 5.396.020 12.697.546 27.548.419 50.837.098

The movement of impairment in investments at amortised cost is analysed in Note 18.
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10. LOANS TO CUSTOMERS

As disclosed in Note 3.5.3.b), the Bank implemented in 2018 a computer tool with the definition of the 
methodology to be applied for the calculation of impairment losses of the loan portfolio, which aims to comply 
with the requirements defined by IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments - classification and measurement (“IFRS 9”).

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the item “Loans to Customers” was broken down as follows:

2018 2017

Interest-Bearing Loans

Local currency

Companies 40.811.780 48.104.959

Individuals 5.905.364 6.917.453

Credit Cards 1.524.502 -

Public sector businesses 63.716 40.324

Income receivable 45.634 1.846.818

48.350.996 56.909.555

Foreign currency

Companies 1.982.765 333.475

Individuals 288.527 165.625

Income receivable 46.766 406.177

2.318.058 905.278

Total interest-bearing loans 50.669.054 57.814.833

Overdue loans

Local currency

Companies 17.389.814 7.992.839

Public sector businesses 491 577.574

Individuals 232.317 425.003

Income receivable 3.278.048 6.223

20.900.670 9.001.639

Foreign currency

Companies - 807.910

Public sector businesses 286.647 158.522

Individuals 8.193 94.616

294.840 1.061.048

Total overdue loans 21.195.510 10.062.687

Total gross lending 71.864.564 67.877.520

Impairment for principal (20.137.585) (11.861.585)

Impairment for interest (2.040.413) -

Total impairment (Note 18) (22.177.998) (11.861.585)

Total net credit 49.686.566 56.015.935

As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, “Overdue loans” shows the amount of 21,195,510 mAOA and 10,062,687 
mAOA, respectively. At the beginning of 2019 the amount of 2,148,227 mAOA corresponding to a Customer’s 
past due exposure was settled.
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As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, loans to Customers earned interest at an average annual rate of 22.28% and 
22.72%, respectively, for loans granted in local currency, and 11% and 11.87%, respectively, for loans granted in 
foreign currency. Foreign currency lending is mostly in United States Dollars.

As disclosed in Note 31, as at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Bank had credit operations with related parties 
in the amount of 29,123,342 mAOA and 24,329,507 mAOA, respectively. Despite the share capital increase of 
6,000,000 mAOA carried out in 2018 (Note 21), the Bank’s exposure to these operations exceeds the limits of 
large risks stipulated by Notice no. 09/2016 of Banco Nacional de Angola.

As at 31 December 2018, the balance of “Income receivable - overdue loans” shows an amount of 3,278,048 
mAOA and 6,223 mAOA, respectively. The change compared to 2017 is the result of restructuring processes of 
loans that are in a grace period, at the end of the year 2018.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the loan portfolio, including income receivable, has the following structure 
according to the residual maturity period:

2018 2017

In local currency

From one to three months 4.354.680 13.025.314

From three to six months 1.832.486 1.315.346

From six months to a year 450.250 1.701.026

More than one year 40.159.482 39.410.794

Credit Cards 1.524.502 1.266.399

Bank overdrafts 29.596 190.676

Past Due 20.889.457 9.001.639

69.240.453 65.911.194

In foreign currency

From one to three months 1.061 413.711

From six months to a year - -

More than one year 2.325.190 490.686

Past Due 297.860 1.061.048

2.624.111 1.966.326

71.864.564 67.877.520

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the loan portfolio, including income receivable, had the following structure 
by sector of activity:

2018 2017

Total exposure Impairment Total exposure Impairment

Trade 17.851.844 (4.261.111) 12.348.178 (2.816.629)

Services 17.317.414 (4.778.875) 19.144.006 (4.547.810)

Construction 8.799.854 (2.433.686) 10.186.877 (1.173.532)

Individuals 7.037.963 (632.263) 6.336.299 (460.933)

Sport 5.332.984 (3.309.850) 4.407.815 (968.234)

Manufacturing 4.990.992 (1.336.609) 6.302.359 (843.693)

Agriculture 4.020.201 (2.055.508) 360.803 (129.098)

Real Estate 3.557.333 (1.472.709) 3.525.351 (281.793)

Hospitality & Tourism 1.993.164 (1.773.616) 4.299.838 (616.961)

Education 920.140 (64.271) 722.105 (19.160)

Health 42.675 (59.501) 145.959 (480)

Agriculture - - 97.930 (3.262)

71.864.564 (22.177.998) 67.877.520 (11.861.585)
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As at 31 December 2018, the “Sport” sector includes the amount of 1,345,573 mAOA relating to the 
reclassification of an advance made to the Clube Recreativo Desportivo do Libolo, which was converted into a 
medium- and long-term financing (Note 15).

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the loan portfolio, including income receivable, had the following structure 
by domicile:

2018 2017

Resident 71.856.209 67.741.703

Non-residents 8.355 135.817

71.864.564 67.877.520

Due to the limitations of the Bank’s information tools, the detail of the credit portfolio by segment and by year 
of issuance of operations, excluding the amount of 1,524,502 mAOA relating to credit cards, is as follows:

2018

Corporate lending Individual lending Public and corporate sector Total

Year 
granted

Number of 
operations Amount Impairment

Number of 
operations Amount Impairment

Number of 
operations Amount Impairment

Number of 
operations Amount Impairment

2012 and 
earlier

65 11.160.495 (4.423.100) 184 1.320.199 (250.148) 2 404.639 (156.452) 251 12.885.333 (4.829.700)

2013 18 1.572.347 (937.300) 36 135.727 (6.821) - - - 54 1.708.074 (944.121)

2014 26 6.843.321 (2.623.348) 137 469.903 (79.487) - - - 163 7.313.224 (2.702.835)

2015 16 4.731.808 (1.042.424) 273 892.739 (56.287) - - - 289 5.624.547 (1.098.711)

2016 34 14.767.311 (9.830.468) 440 647.918 (98.762) - - - 474 15.415.229 (9.929.230)

2017 93 11.028.874 (1.930.231) 2.627 1.462.064 (256.368) 1 40.223 (6.214) 2.721 12.531.161 (2.192.813)

2018 221 13.329.094 (256.317) 1.710 1.508.871 (221.612) 1 24.529 (2.659) 1.932 14.862.494( 480.588)

Total 473 63.433.250 (21.043.188) 5.407 6.437.421 (969.485) 4 469.391 (165.325) 5.884 70.340.062 (22.177.998

2017

Corporate lending Individual lending Public and corporate sector Total

Year 
granted

Number of 
operations Amount Impairment

Number of 
operations Amount Impairment

Number of 
operations Amount Impairment

Number of 
operations Amount Impairment

2012 and 
earlier

122 13.132.508 (3.333.121) 204 2.068.869 (57.374) 2 778.056 (158.522) 328 15.979.434 (3.549.017)

2013 18 4.022.883 (403.172) 44 313.303 (3.429) - - - 62 4.336.185 (406.601)

2014 28 9.573.801 (355.693) 141 477.737 (19.691) - - -  169 10.051.538 (375.384)

2015 23 5.016.189 (1.051.134) 427 1.038.787 (41.827) - - - 450 6.054.976 (1.092.961)

2016 41 15.316.512 (5.182.621) 456 922.707 (53.810) - - - 497 16.239.219 (5.236.431)

2017 124 12.067.661 (984.019) 5.440 1.839.517 (215.947) 1 42.591 (1.225) 5.565 13.949.769 (1.201.191)

Total 356 59.129.554 (11.309.760) 6.712 6.660.920 (392.078) 3 820.648 (159.747) 7.071 66.611.121 (11.861.585)

The amount of credit operations granted in 2018 relating to corporate lending includes operations restructured 
during the year to the extent that it was not possible to identify the respective year of lending.

As disclosed in Note 3.5.3. b), during 2018 the Bank implemented a model for calculating and recording 
impairment for credit risk, which is dependent on the process of improving the databases that support it, 
mainly at the level of flagging restructured credit operations and the recording and evaluation of guarantees 
received.
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The detail of the amount of gross credit exposure and the amount of impairment, by activity segment, is as 
follows:

Corporate Lending Individual Lending Public Sector Businesses Credit cards Total

2018
Total 

exposurel Impairment
Total 

exposure Impairment
Total 

exposure Impairment
Total 

exposure Impairment
Total 

exposure Impairment

Individual analysis 62.076.877 (20.890.035) 4.258.865 (565.631) 445.391 (162.666) - - 68.305.635 (21.618.332)

Collective analysis 1.356.373 (153.153) 2.178.556 (403.854) 24.000 (2.659) 1.524.502 - 3.558.929 (559.666)

63.433.250 (21.043.188) 6.437.421 (969.485) 469.391 (165.325) 1.524.502 - 71.864.564 (22.177.998)

Corporate Lending Individual Lending Public Sector Businesses Credit cards Total

2017
Total 

exposure Impairment
Total 

exposure Impairment
Total 

exposure Impairment
Total 

exposure Impairment
Total 

exposure Impairment

Collective analysis(1) 59.129.554 (11.309.760) 6.660.920 (392.078) 820.648 (159.747) 1.266.399 - 67.877.520 (11.861.585)

59.129.554 (11.309.760) 6.660.920 (392.078) 820.648 (159.747) 1.266.399 - 67.877.520 (11.861.585)

(1) As disclosed in Note 3.5.3.2 a), the Bank considers Notice n.º 3/2012 to calculate impairment. Thus, it is not possible to distinguish
    between individual and collective impairment.

The distribution of the loan portfolio measured by degrees of internal risk is as follows:

2018

Null (A)
Very 

Low (B) Low (C) Moderate (D) High (E)
Very 

High (F) Loss (G) Total

Corporate Lending 792.837 19.834.119 7.367.813 2.203.773 12.048.669 1.207.632 19.822.718 63.277.561

Individual Lending 59.366 5.125.686 320.449 48.095 55.806 21.941 961.767 6.593.110

Public Sector Businesses - 64.752 - - - - 404.639 469.391

Credit Cards - - 1.524.502 - - - - 1.524.502

852.203 25.024.557 9.212.764 2.251.868 12.104.475 1.229.573 21.189.124 71.864.56

2017

Null (A)
Very 

Low (B) Low (C) Moderate (D) High (E)
Very 

High (F) Loss (G) Total

Corporate Lending 17.725 18.190.778 22.352.200 674.634 8.903.114 42.515 8.948.587 59.129.554

Individual Lending 1.169.233 817.896 3.276.429 124.605 21.569 9.036 1.242.151 6.660.920

Public Sector Businesses - - 42.591 - - - 778.056 820.648

Credit Cards - - 1.266.399 - - - - 1.266.399

1.186.957 19.008.674 26.937.620 799.240 8.924.683 51.552 10.968.795 67.877.520

In relation to the fair book value of buildings received in lieu of payment or execution; the history of buildings 
received in lieu of payment or execution is residual. The properties received during 2018 were acquired for own 
use (Note 12) and the remaining properties are recorded under “Non-current assets held for sale” (Note 11).

During 2018, the Bank implemented new software to calculate impairment. However, this one as of 31 
December 2018 was still in the testing phase, so there are some weaknesses in the system. Therefore, it was 
not possible to conclude the implementation of the methodological tool for the calculation of impairment 
losses for loans granted before the closing of the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 
2018, and, as such, it was not possible to disclose the following information, required by Instruction no. 5/2016 
of 08 August, published by Banco Nacional de Angola:

• Table I – The detail of the exposures and impairment constituted by segment and by interval of days in 
arrears is as follows;

• Table IV – Detail of the portfolio of restructured loans by restructuring measure applied;
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• Table V – Entry and exit movements in the restructured credit portfolio;

• Table VI – Detail of the fair value of the guarantees subjacent to the loan portfolio of the segments of 
companies, real estate construction and development and housing is as follows;

• Table VII – Funding-to-Guarantee ratio of business, construction and real estate development and housing 
segments;

• Table X – Disclosure of risk factors associated with the impairment model by segment.

11. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the balance of this item is composed of a building in the amount of 60,539 
mAOA. This property was received on 12 November 2015, through the signing of a contract for transfer in lieu 
of payment of a defaulted loan.

12. OTHER TANGIBLE ASSETS

The item “Other tangible assets” shows the following movement during the year 2018:

31.12.2017
Amortisation and 

depreciation 31.12.2018

Gross 
Assets

Accumulated 
depreciation Net assets Increase Transfers

Write-offs, 
disposals 

and other of the year Write-offs
Gross 

Assets
Accumulated 
depreciation Net assets

Real Estate

For own use 3.890.707 (1.033.348) 2.857.359 2.969 - (15.680) (269.516) 15.680 3.877.996 (1.286.723) 2.591.273

Works on rented premises 1.789.050 (277.103) 1.511.947 38.934 18.191 (23.544) (66.967) 23.500 1.822.631 (320.570) 1.502.061

5.679.757 (1.310.451) 4.369.306 41.903 18.191 (39.224) (336.483) 39.180 5.700.627 (1.607.293) 4.093.335

Equipment

Computer equipment 2.243.067 (1.259.565) 983.502 162.346 19.662 (901.137) (296.116) 892.383 1.523.938 (663.216) 860.722

Furniture and materials 517.202 (282.863) 234.339 77.231 - (141.530) (56.098) 134.596 452.903 (211.592) 241.311

Transport equipment 525.176 (297.317) 227.859 89.561 - (286.279) (82.842) 253.417 328.458 (126.742) 201.716

Machines and tools 314.384 (250.022) 64.362 17.961 1.260 (172.910) (26.468) 172.822 160.695 (94.700) 65.995

Fixtures and fittings 294.521 (183.230) 111.291 12.091 - (116.432) (32.689) 115.673 190.179 (100.235) 89.944

Safety equipment 282.779 (187.984) 94.795 84.725 - (160.109) (23.485) 160.005 207.395 (51.411) 155.984

4.177.129 (2.460.981) 1.716.148 443.914 20.922 (1.778.398) (517.699) 1.728.895 2.863.567 (1.247.895) 1.615.671

Fixed assets in progress 813.564 - 813.564 3.138.012 (46.039) - - - 3.905.537 - 3.905.537

813.564 - 813.564 3.138.012 (46.039) - - - 3.905.537 - 3.905.537

Other fixed assets 265.183 (205.434) 59.749 23.587 - (174.737) (15.144) 174.477 114.033 (48.539) 65.494

265.183 (205.434) 59.749 23.587 - (174.737) (15.144) 174.477 114.033 (48.539) 65.494

10.935.633 (3.976.866) 6.958.767 3.647.416 (6.926) (1.992.359) (869.327) 1.942.552 12.583.764 (2.903.727) 9.680.037

In the last financial year, the Bank acquired a property from related entities in the amount of 1,850,000 mAOA, 
which is used within the scope of its activity. However, due to bureaucratic issues, the Bank has been unable to 
register the respective property to date.

As at 31 December 2018, the balance of the “Fixed assets in progress” is composed essentially of a unit on level 
1 of the Garden Towers head office building, a property referred to in the preceding paragraph, acquired for the 
amount of 1,850,000 mAOA, and a pavilion in the Retail Park acquired for the amount of 866,672 mAOA. These 
properties were acquired through the signing of contracts for transfer in lieu of payment of defaulted loans 
with the aim of expanding the facilities.
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During the year ended 31 December 2018, 6,926 mAOA were reclassified through transfers from “Fixed assets 
in progress” to “Intangible assets in progress” (Note 13).

“Other tangible assets” shows the following movement during 2017:

31.12.2016 (Pro-forma)
Amortisation and 

depreciation 31.12.2017

Gross 
Assets

Accumulated 
depreciation Net assets Increase Transfers

Write-offs, 
disposals 

and other of the year Write-offs
Gross 

Assets
Accumulated 
depreciation Net assets

Real Estate

For own use 3.359.540 (768.714) 2.590.826 83.235 447.932 - (264.634) - 3.890.707 (1.033.348) 2.857.359

Works on rented premises 1.502.570 (215.793) 1.286.777 128.061 158.419 - (61.310) - 1.789.050 (277.103) 1.511.947

4.862.110 (984.507) 3.877.603 211.296 606.351 - (325.944) - 5.679.757 (1.310.451) 4.369.306

Equipment

Computer equipment 1.922.040 (995.955) 926.085 321.274 - (247) (263.726) 116 2.243.067 (1.259.565) 983.502

Furniture and materials 449.445 (232.957) 216.488 67.290 467 - (50.373) - 517.202 (282.863) 234.339

Transport equipment 396.046 (258.565) 137.481 293.107 - (163.977) (59.810) 21.058 525.176 (297.317) 227.859

Machines and tools 310.580 (212.750) 97.830 5.314 (1.510) - (35.762) - 314.384 (250.022) 64.362

Fixtures and fittings 232.904 (152.267) 80.637 61.617 - - (30.963) - 294.521 (183.230) 111.291

Safety equipment 219.135 (167.683) 51.452 63.644 - - (20.301) - 282.779 (187.984) 94.795

3.530.150 (2.020.177) 1.509.973 812.246 (1.043) (164.224) (460.935) 21.174 4.177.129 (2.460.981) 1.716.148

Fixed assets in progress 1.087.475 - 1.087.475 332.440 (606.351) - - - 813.564 - 813.564

1.087.475 - 1.087.475 332.440 (606.351) - - - 813.564 - 813.564

Other fixed assets 252.532 (184.349) 68.183 11.608 1.043 - (22.128) - 265.183 (205.434) 59.749

252.532 (184.349) 68.183 11.608 1.043 - (22.128) - 265.183 (205.434) 59.749

9.732.267 (3.189.033) 6.543.234 1.367.590 - (164.224) (809.007) 21.174 10.935.633 (3.976.866) 6.958.767

As at 31 December 2017, “Fixed assets in progress” corresponds essentially to investments made for the Bank’s 
expansion through the growth of its branch network.

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

“Intangible assets” shows the following movements during 2018 and 2017:

31.12.2017
Amortisation and 

depreciation 31.12.2018

Gross 
Assets

Accumulated 
depreciation Net assets Increase Transfers

Write-offs, 
disposals 

and other of the year Write-offs
Gross 

Assets
Accumulated 
depreciation Net assets

Software 348.193 (341.954) 6.239 41.667 - (333.849) (8.859) 333.849 56.011 (16.965) 39.047

Multiannual Costs 427.588 (426.475) 1.113 - - (423.068) (763) 423.068 4.520 (4.170) 350

Start-up Expenses 5.766 (5.766) - - - (5.766) - 5.766 0 - 0

Intangible assets in 
progress

48.943 - 48.943 71.783 6.926 - - - 127.652 - 127.652

Other 17.817 (17.817) - - - (17.817) - 17.817 0 - 0

848.307 (792.012) 56.295 113.451 6.926 (780.500) (9.622) 780.500 188.184 (21.135) 167.049

31.12.2016 (Pró-forma)
Amortisation and 

depreciation 31.12.2017

Gross 
Assets

Accumulated 
depreciation Net assets Increase Transfers

Write-offs, 
disposals 

and other of the year Write-offs
Gross 

Assets
Accumulated 
depreciation Net assets

Software 348.193 (338.325) 9.868 - - - (3.629) - 348.193 (341.954) 6.239

Multiannual Costs 427.588 (422.262) 5.326 - - - (4.213) - 427.588 (426.475) 1.113

Start-up Expenses 5.766 (5.766) - - - - - - 5.766 (5.766) -

Intangible assets in 
progress

- - - 48.943 - - - - 48.943 - 48.943

Other 17.817 (17.250) 567 - - - (567) - 17.817 (17.817) -

799.364 (783.603) 15.761 48.943 - - (8.409) - 848.307 (792.012) 56.295

During the year ended 31 December 2018, 6,926 mAOA were reclassified through transfers from “Fixed assets 
in progress” (Note 12) to “Intangible assets in progress”.

Notes to the Financial Statements at 31 December 2018
(Amounts in thousands of Kwanzas - mAOA, unless expressly indicated otherwise)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



ANNUAL REPORT 2018

135

14. CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The Bank is subject to the Industrial Tax, and is considered, in tax terms, as a Group A taxpayer.

The calculation of the current tax of the financial years ending 31 December 2018 and 2017 was determined 
under the terms of paragraphs 1 and 2 of Article 4, of Law no. 19/14, of 22 October, with the applicable tax 
rate being 30%.

Tax returns are subject to review and correction by the tax authorities during a period of 5 years, and due to 
different interpretations of tax legislation, could result in corrections to the taxable profits relating to the 2014 
to 2018 financial years. However, no correction relating to these financial years is expected to occur and, if that 
were the case, no significant impact on the financial statements is expected.

The tax losses determined in a certain financial year, as provided for in Article 46 of the Industrial Tax Code, can 
be deducted from the taxable profits of the subsequent three years.

Current tax assets and liabilities recognised in the balance sheet as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 can be 
detailed as follows:

2018 2017

Current tax liabilities

Special contribution on banking operations - 75.806

Income tax for the year 29.589 (13.072)

29.589 62.734

Estimated taxes for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

2018 2017

Income before taxes and other charges 4.603.486 2.075.515

Income from public debt securities or equivalent subject to IAC (5.935.939) (4.772.856)

Costs not accepted for tax purposes:

Representation costs 21.987 336.045

Other 878.641 535.696

Taxable Profit (431.825) (1.825.600)

Nominal tax rate 30% 30%

Industrial tax on net income for the year - -

No tax payable was calculated for 2018; however, on a prudential basis the Bank recorded an estimate of 
100,000 mAOA to cover possible corrections that may be applied by the tax authorities.

Taxes on income are reflected in the income statement, except in cases where the transactions that gave rise to 
them have been reflected in equity items. In these situations, the corresponding tax is also reflected in equity, 
and does not affect the financial year’s income statement.

The income from the public debt securities resulting from Treasury Bonds and Treasury Bills issued by the 
Angolan State, up to 31 December 2012, whose issue is regulated by the Direct Public Debt Framework Law 
(Law no. 16/02, of 5 December), as well as by Regulatory Decrees 51/03 and 52/03, of 8 July, are exempt from 
all taxation. This status is supported by the provisions of Article 23(1)(c) of the Industrial Tax Code (Law no. 
18/92, of 3 July), in force until 31 December 2014, which expressly provides the returns from any Angolan 
public debt securities are not considered as income for the purposes of determining the Industrial Tax payable.

On 31 December 2017, the Bank recorded 75,806 mAOA relating to the special contribution on banking 
operations (“CEOB”) under “Current tax liabilities”, as a decision was pending on the Bank’s liability for this 
contribution. As at 31 December 2018, the Bank fulfilled all its obligations and this liability was reclassified to 
cover other charges.
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Likewise, the cost determined with the settlement of the Capital Gains Tax is excluded from the tax-acceptable 
costs for determination of the taxable income, as provided for in Article 18(1)(a) of the Industrial Tax Code.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Bank did not present any amount relating to income tax payable 
because negative taxable income was determined for the current year. The Bank did not record deferred tax 
assets on tax losses as it does not have a study to support their recoverability through taxable income in the 
coming years.

The reconciliation between the nominal tax rate and the tax burden in 2017, as well as the reconciliation 
between the tax expense/income and the product of the accounting profit and the nominal tax rate, can be 
analysed as follows:

2018 2017

Tax rate Value Tax rate Value

Profit before tax 4.603.486 2.075.515

Tax calculated based on nominal tax rate 30,00% 1.381.046 30,00% 622.655

Income from public debt securities or 
equivalent subject to IAC

-38,68% (1.780.782) -68,99% (1.431.857)

Costs not accepted for tax purposes:

Representation costs 0,14% 6.596 4,86% 100.814

Other 5,73% 263.592 7,74% 160.709

Tax payable/recoverable 0,00% - 0,00% -

15. OTHER ASSETS

The breakdown of “Other assets” is as follows:

2018 2017

State sector 1.013.933 528.181

Prepaid expenses 789.791 330.769

Recoverable taxes 171.084 309.537

Other advances 119.656 1.808.121

Cash differences 108.718 70.314

Corporate sector 63.583 219.050

Individuals 47.299 55.299

Office supplies 32.224 13.166

Public sector 24.662 -

Artistic heritage 18.558 18.558

Other 3.048 -

2.392.556 3.352.995

Impairment (Note 18) - (96.672)

2.392.556 3.256.323

As at 31 December 2018, the item “State sector” includes amounts receivable from the Ministry of Economy 
relating to interest subsidies under the Angola Invest project in the amount of 867,801 mAOA. On 31 December 
2017, the item “State sector” included payments for the purchase of registration tags for cars.
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“Prepaid expenses” includes deferred costs relating to rent and lease contracts, as well as contracts relating to 
consultancy projects with external entities. In addition, this item also includes the deferral of amounts paid in 
respect of health insurance, motor vehicle insurance, occupational accidents, engineering risks and multi-risk 
insurance.

As at 31 December 2018, the balance of “Taxes receivable” includes 171,084 mAOA relating to industrial tax 
receivable of the Bank for an overpayment of provisional settlement in 2012. The change from 2017 is justified 
by double movements of the Bank, made in error, for the Single Treasury Account (“CUT”) in the amount of 
135,853 mAOA.

As at 31 December 2017, “Other advances” includes the amount receivable from the sale of the financial 
investment in Global Seguros to the Group’s holding, which occurred during 2014, in the amount of 386,689 
mAOA. During 2017, the Bank recognised an impairment of 25% of this value, corresponding to 96,672 mAOA. 
During 2018, the Bank used the impairment recorded in 2017 and recognised the remaining amount receivable 
as a cost for the year because it does not consider this item recoverable. Therefore, there are no receivables 
from Global Seguros related to the sale of this investment.

On 31 December 2018, the Bank reclassified the advance made to Clube Recreativo Desportivo do Libolo in 
the amount of 1,345,573 mAOA to the item “Loans to Customers”, since this operation was converted into 
medium- and long-term financing.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the item “Corporate sector” includes the recording of advances to suppliers 
and staff.

16. FUNDS OF CENTRAL BANKS AND OTHER CREDIT INSTITUTIONS

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, this heading comprises the following:

2018 2017

Resources of other credit institutions

Banco Nacional de Angola - 5.870.783

Payment system obligations 2.586.710 2.571.254

2.586.710 8.442.037

On 31 December 2017, the Bank carried out securities sales to BNA with a repurchase agreement in the total 
amount of 5,870,783 mAOA, with the objective of obtaining short-term liquidity, paying an interest rate of 
21% and maturing in January 2018.

As at 31 December 2018, “Payment system obligations” includes an amount of 1,223,307 mAOA relating to 
certified cheques issued that have not yet been cleared as well as the use of credit cards. These balances were 
settled at the beginning of 2019.
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17. CUSTOMER FUNDS AND OTHER LOANS

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, “Customers funds and other loans” is made up as follows:

2018 2017

Demand deposits of residents

In local currency

Companies 53.194.646 47.154.011

Individuals 11.278.925 13.187.380

In foreign currency

Companies 10.435.354 3.758.570

Individuals 2.102.194 1.504.548

Demand deposits of non-residents

In local currency

Companies 835.028 374.780

Individuals 259.539 428.614

In foreign currency

Companies 22.593 14.626

Individuals 81.649 45.607

78.209.928 66.468.136

Resident term deposits

In local currency

Companies 11.399.567 9.655.305

Individuals 10.882.244 13.991.475

In foreign currency

Companies 707.622 673.693

Individuals 2.769.261 1.745.367

Demand deposits of non-residents

In local currency

Companies 2.730 -

Individuals 11.392 -

25.772.816 26.065.840

Indexed deposits 21.275.603 21.219.835

Interest payable 668.788 706.093

Total demand and term deposits 47.717.207 47.991.768

Resident loans 144.031 144.031

Non-resident loans 3.093.941 1.663.472

3.237.972 1.807.503

129.165.107 116.267.407

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, Customer demand deposits are not remunerated.

Deposits indexed to the USD correspond to a financial investment with capital indexed to the United States 
Dollar (USD) that safeguards the deposit of depreciation of the local currency (MN), with the repayment of 
principal being made at the revaluation value at the exchange rate of the maturity date, plus the respective 
interest.
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As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, term deposits in foreign currency are remunerated at an average interest 
rate of 1.93% and 2.66%, respectively, and term deposits in local currency are remunerated at a weighted 
average interest rate of 9.71% and 8.40%, respectively.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, “Non-resident loans” corresponds to financing of 10 million USD granted 
by Norsad Finance Limited, equivalent to 3,093,941 mAOA and 1,663,472 mAOA, respectively. This loan was 
granted for a 5-year term and matures on 22 December 2022, and is remunerated at a variable interest rate 
indexed to LIBOR at 3 months plus an 8% spread. Interest is paid quarterly in arrears on 30 March, June, 
September and December of each year.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, customer term deposits had the following structure by currency and 
average interest rate:

2018 2017

Interest Rate
Amount in 

currency
Amount 

in mAOA Interest Rate
Amount in 

currency
Amount 

in mAOA

Angolan Kwanza 9,71% 22.964.721 22.964.721 8,40% 24.326.486 24.326.486

Indexed to the United States Dollar 1,50% - 21.275.603 1,50% - 21.219.835

In United States Dollar (USD) 1,96% 11.257 3.473.873 2,10% 14.723.983 2.443.062

In Euros 1,25% 9 3.010 1,60% 12.864 2.385

47.717.207 47.991.768

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, “Term deposits” have the following structure by residual maturity periods:

2018 2017

Term deposits

Up to 3 months 21.567.070 12.813.925

From 3 to 6 months 3.340.452 5.662.693

From 6 months to one year 834.083 8.259.803

From one to five years 21.975.595 21.253.375

More than five years 7 1.972

47.717.207 47.991.768

Other loans

From one to three years 144.031 144.031

From three to five years 3.093.941 1.663.472

3.237.972 1.807.503

50.955.179 49.799.271
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18. PROVISIONS AND IMPAIRMENT

The movement in “Provisions” and “Impairment” as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 was as follows:

Balance 
31.12.2017

Transition 
Adjustments 

IFRS 9
Appropria-

tions Reversals Use Transfers

Foreign 
exchange 

gains/
losses

Balance 
31.12.2018

Impairment for cash and deposits in other 
credit institutions (Note 5)

- 14.468 2.043 - - - - 16.511

Investments in central banks and in other 
credit institutions (Note 6)

- 111.663 - (81.795) - - - 29.868

Impairment for investments at amortised 
cost (Note 9)

- 842.108 219.204 - - - - 1.061.312

Impairment for other assets (Note 15) 96.672 - - - (96.672) - - -

Impairment for other assets net of reversals 
and write-offs

96.672 968.239 221.247 (81.795) (96.672) - - 1.107.691

Credit impairment (Note 10) 11.861.585 - 13.619.931 - (3.303.518) - - 22.177.998

Provisions for guarantees (Note 30) 1.583.739 - 1.604.530 - - - - 3.188.269

Other provisions 251.678 - - (7.169) - - - 244.509

Impairment and provisions for Customer 
loans

13.697.002 - 15.224.461 (7.169) (3.303.518) - - 25.610.776

13.793.674 968.239 15.445.708 (88.964) (3.400.190) - - 26.718.467

Balance 
31/12/2016 
(pro-forma) Appropriations Reversals

Recoveries 
of loans Use Transfers

Foreign ex-
change gains/

losses
Balance 

31/12/2017

Credit impairment (Note 10) 6.143.620 3.896.555 - 3.705.057 (1.883.647) - - 11.861.585

Impairment for other assets (Note 15) - 15.552 - - (57.349) 138.469 - 96.672

Provisions for guarantees (Note 30) 1.939.336 250.424 (606.177) - - - 156 1.583.739

Provisions for post-retirement liabilities 138.469 - - - - (138.469) - -

Other provisions 79.509 191.294 (19.125) - - - - 251.678

8.300.934 4.353.825 (625.302) 3.705.057 (1.940.996) - 156 13.793.674

The balance of “Provisions for liabilities and other commitments and provisions for general banking risks” is 
intended to reflect the coverage of certain duly identified contingencies arising from the Bank’s activity and is 
reviewed at each reporting date in order to reflect the best estimate of the amount and respective probability 
of payment.

The Bank is studying the possibility of granting a supplementary retirement pension to its employees and in 
that vein it is in the process of adopting a retirement pension plan.

The effective date of the liability, as well as the amount relating to it, are not yet defined, so there is no legal 
or constructive obligation to do so on the date of approval of these financial statements. Therefore, the Bank 
opted to derecognise the provision that had been recorded in 2017.

Notwithstanding the significant increase in impairment for the portfolio of loans granted in 2018 and 2017 
in the net amounts of 15,217,292 mAOA and 3,896,555 mAOA, respectively, the Bank’s Board of Directors will 
continue its efforts to strengthen impairment in 2019.

19. SUBORDINATED LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, this heading comprises the following:

2018 2017

Subordinated debt - 3.318.480

Interest payable - 113.921

- 3.432.401
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As at 31 December 2017, the balance of the item relates to an issue of USD 20 million, equivalent to 3,318,480 
mAOA in Corporate Bonds, which occurred on 27 September 2012. These bonds were remunerated at a fixed 
rate of 11% and matured on 26 March 2018.

20. OTHER LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, “Other liabilities” is made up as follows:

2018 2017

Funds linked to foreign exchange operations 1.560.790 3.456.484

Suppliers 1.110.796 822.582

Tax obligations 1.010.209 238.886

Obligations of an administrative/commercial nature 162.806 143.205

Other liabilities 25.806 -

Outros passivos 9.791 9.791

3.880.198 4.670.948

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the balance of “Resources linked to foreign exchange operations” includes 
1,560,790 mAOA and 3,456,484 mAOA, respectively. This item includes amounts deposited by customers for 
which the Bank legitimises the settlement of import operations for the purpose of opening the respective 
documentary credits.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, “Staff costs” includes the holiday pay of the Bank’s employees, in the amount 
of 235,850 mAOA and 166,493 mAOA, respectively. In accordance with the provisions of the General Labour 
Law, the holiday allowance paid to workers in a given year is a right acquired by them in the immediately 
preceding year. Therefore, the Bank increased the holiday allowance for the year 2018, which was only paid in 
January 2019. This item also includes the provision for “Variable performance bonuses” (RVD), in the amount 
of 707,598 mAOA and 498,688 mAOA, respectively (Note 28). This variable remuneration will be paid in 2019 
and 2018.

21. EQUITY

The movement in equity in the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 is detailed as follows:

Other reserves and retained earnings

Share 
capital

Legal 
reserve

Other 
reserves

Retained 
earnings Total

Net profit/loss 
for the financial 

year Total Equity

Balance at 31 December 2016 (pro-forma) 4.000.000 1.946.888 6.093.477 (255.418) 7.784.947 2.435.368 14.220.315

Appropriation of profit for the year 2016 - 487.074 1.948.294 - 2.435.368 (2.435.368) -

Constitution of reserves and funds - - - - - - -

Net profit/loss for the financial year - - - - - 2.075.515 2.075.515

Balance as at 31 December 2017 - Before IFRS 9 4.000.000 2.433.962 8.041.771 (255.418) 10.220.315 2.075.515 16.295.830

Impairment implementation of IFRS 9:

Cash and deposits in other credit institutions 
(Note 5)

- - - (14.468) (14.468) - (14.468)

Investments in central banks and other finan-
cial institutions (Note 6)

- - - (111.663) (111.663) - (111.663)

Financial assets at amortised cost (Note 9) - - - (842.108) (842.108) - (842.108)

Balance as at 1 January 2018 - After IFRS 9 4.000.000 2.433.962 8.041.771 (1.223.657) 9.252.076 2.075.515 15.327.591

Appropriation of profit for the year 2017 - 415.103 1.660.412 - 2.075.515 (2.075.515) -

Share capital increases 6.000.000 - (6.000.000) - (6.000.000) - -

Effects of adjustments to accounting policies - - - 416.381 - - 416.381

Net profit/loss for the financial year - - - - - 4.603.486 4.603.486

Balance at 31 December 2018 10.000.000 2.849.065 3.702.183 (807.276) 5.743.972 4.603.486 20.347.458
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Share Capital

With a view to compliance with the provisions of paragraph 1 of Article 3 of Notice n.º 02/2018, of 21 February 
of Banco Nacional de Angola, in an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 4 August 2018, the Bank approved 
an increase in share capital from 4,000,000 mAOA to 10,000,000 mAOA by capitalisation of reserves. No new 
shares were issued and the nominal value of these shares was 2,000 AOA compared to 800 AOA in 2017.

Balances with related parties for the years 2018 and 2017 are presented in Note 31.

Shareholder structure

Tier % Accumulated holding N.º of shareholders N.º of shares held Amount

Less than 2% 29,28% 28 1.463.910 2.928.000

From 2% to 5% 63,77% 21 3.188.511 6.377.000

Over 5% 6,95% 1 347.579 695.000

100% 50 5.000.000 10.000.000

Given the large size of Banco Keve’s shareholder structure, as at 31st December 2018, such structure was 
presented by percentage of holdings.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Bank’s shareholder structure remained unchanged.

The Bank did not hold own shares as at 31 December 2018.

Other reserves and retained earnings

Legal reserve

Under prevailing legislation, the Bank must constitute a legal reserve fund equal to the amount of the share 
capital. To this end, a minimum of 10% of the net profit of the previous year is transferred annually to this 
reserve. This reserve can only be utilised to absorb accumulated losses once all the other reserves have been 
exhausted.

By unanimous resolution of the General Meeting of 6 April 2018 a decision was made to transfer 20% of the 
net profit for 2017 to the “Legal reserve” and 80% to the “Other reserves”.

22. NET INTEREST INCOME

In the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, this item comprises the following:

2018 2017

Interest and similar income

Interest on loans to Customers 6.479.407 10.273.040

Interest on treasury bonds indexed to USD 4.157.309 2.244.691

Interest on non-adjustable treasury bonds 963.876 169.887

Interest from investments in central banks and other financial 145.572 138.975

Interest on Treasury Bills 814.754 2.371.030

12.560.918 15.197.623

Interest and similar charges

Interest from Customer funds and other loans (2.750.400) (2.618.329)

Interest from resources of central banks and credit institutions (756.678) (185.239)

Interest liabilities represented by securities (84.063) (370.086)

(3.591.141) (3.173.654)

8.969.777 12.023.969
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Presidential Legislative Decree no. 2/14, which approves the revision and republication of the Capital 
Investment Tax (“IAC”) Code, was published in the Official Gazette on 20 October 2016. According to such 
decree, in addition to interest, any other income from public debt securities (Treasury Bills and Treasury Bonds) 
and private debt securities (bonds and other corporate debt securities) is taxed on the invested capital. The 
costs incurred by the Bank for IAC are recorded under “Other operating income” (Note 27).

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, “Interest and similar income - Loans and advances to customers” includes 
the balance of interest received from credit operations in the amount of 6,479,407 mAOA and 10,273,040 
mAOA, respectively. The change from 2017 is essentially justified from the write-off of interest that was being 
capitalised.

Regarding the item “Interest and similar income - Interest on treasury bonds indexed to the United States 
Dollar (USD)”, the increase in the balance between the two periods is related to foreign exchange variation.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, “Interest and similar income - Interest on non-adjustable treasury bonds” 
includes the balance of interest received from Treasury bonds. As at 31 December 2018, the Bank’s treasury 
bonds in Angolan currency - Non-adjustable - has a nominal value of 10,092,819 mAOA (Note 9).

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, “Interest and similar charges - Customer resources and other loans” refers 
to the remuneration paid for customers’ time deposits, as well as the interest associated with the loan entered 
into in 2017 with Norsad Finance Limited (Note 17).

23. INCOME AND CHARGES FROM SERVICES AND COMMISSIONS

In the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, this item comprises the following:

2018 2017

Income from services and commissions

Commissions on foreign exchange operation 3.296.520 1.406.847

Commissions on banking services provided 1.933.441 1.717.451

Commissions on credit operations 1.627.363 879.232

Commissions on securities transactions 75.495 4.523

Card fees 46.052 27.593

Other income - 90.841

6.978.871 4.126.487

Fees and commission charges

Commissions for contingent liabilities or commitments (200.145) (179.303)

(200.145) (179.303)

6.778.726 3.947.184

In the financial years 2018 and 2017, “Fees on foreign exchange transactions” corresponds to the fees charged 
by the Bank on the issuing of payment orders abroad, reflecting a significant variation due to the foreign 
exchange variation that occurred in 2018.

In the financial years 2018 and 2017, “Commissions on banking services provided” refers essentially to 
income arising from commissions related to the collection of amounts and electronic compensation. These 
commissions are associated with the daily balances at the electronic clearing houses, which are only settled on 
the following business day.

“Commissions on credit operations” in 2018 and 2017 essentially corresponds to commissions charged for the 
opening of credit lines.

In 2018 and 2017, “Fees and commissions - Commissions for contingent liabilities or commitments” includes 
commissions on guarantees received, commissions on commitments to third parties, commissions associated 
with banking services provided, among others.
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24. INVESTMENT INCOME AT AMORTISED COST AND INCOME FROM HELD-TO-MATURITY 
        INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, “Gains and losses in investments at amortised cost and held to maturity” 
corresponds to the gains recorded on the disposal of Treasury Bonds in the amount of 769,159 mAOA and 
363,612 mAOA, respectively.

25. FOREIGN EXCHANGE GAINS AND LOSSES

In the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, this item comprises the following:

2018 2017

Income Costs Total Income Costs Total

Exchange rate revaluation and 
foreign exchange operations

3.231.549 (459.078) 2.772.471 1.471.126 (209.122) 1.262.004

Revaluation of indexed financial 
instruments

29.803.371 (13.812.271) 15.991.100 - (3.109) (3.109)

33.034.920 (14.271.349) 18.763.571 1.471.126 (212.231) 1.258.895

“Foreign exchange revaluation and results of foreign exchange operations” includes commissions received by 
the Bank on sales of foreign currency to third parties. In accordance with Instruction no. 03/2014, of 3 April, 
financial institutions are authorised to apply effective exchange rates in each currency sale operation, i.e. the 
nominal exchange rate plus all commissions and gross tax costs, up to a limit of 3% to be added to the selling 
reference exchange rate published by Banco Nacional de Angola.

The item “Revaluation of indexed financial instruments” includes income resulting from exchange rate 
fluctuations of Treasury Bonds in local currency indexed to the exchange rate of the United States Dollar (Note 
9) and costs of Customer deposits indexed to the exchange rate of the United States Dollar (Note 17).

26. INCOME FROM DISPOSAL OF OTHER ASSETS

As at 31 December 2018, this item shows an amount of 16,826 mAOA as a result of the capital loss relating to 
the sale of vehicles that the Bank carried out during 2018.

27. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, this heading comprises the following:

2018 2017

Other operating income

Other operating income 470.117 409.118

Gains/losses from the sale of investments in subsidiaries - 119

Other operating costs

Gains/losses from the sale of investments in subsidiaries (18.369) -

Direct and indirect taxes (822.899) (431.732)

Negotiation of loans (311.850) (466.278)

Fines and penalties imposed by the regulatory authority (187.569) (1.332)

Other operating costs (97.800) (277)

(968.370) (490.382)
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As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, “Other operating income” refers essentially to foreign exchange income 
arising from transactions carried out daily using VISA cards. As at 31 December 2018, “Other operating income” 
includes 213,079 mAOA relating to the use of VISA cards in foreign currency.

“Other operating income - Direct and indirect taxes” corresponds essentially to tax on capital investments 
(Note 3.5.9).

In the financial years 2018 and 2017, “Negotiation of credits” refers to costs resulting from the renegotiation of 
loans through debt forgiveness. As at 31 December 2018 this item essentially corresponds to a partial pardon 
of a bank overdraft, in January 2018, in the amount of 290,000 mAOA.

As at 31 December 2018, the balance of “Fines and penalties” is 187,569 mAOA relating to the calculation of 
industrial tax for the year 2013.

28. STAFF COSTS

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, this heading comprises the following:

2018 2017

Wages and salaries

Remunerations 5.709.992 4.369.706

Variable performance bonuses 707.598 498.668

Optional social contributions 699.478 660.339

Mandatory social contributions 305.545 236.604

Other costs 16.258 32.260

7.438.871 5.797.577

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the number of employees was 596 and 544, respectively.

This item also includes “Variable performance bonuses” (RVD) payable in 2019 for the year 2018, in the amount 
of 707,598 mAOA. As at 31 December 2017, this amount corresponded to 498,668 mAOA (Note 20).

As at 31 December 2018, the item “Representation costs” includes the costs associated with per diems, health 
insurance and clinical services.

The amount relating to staff costs, considering permanent and fixed-term employees, presents the following 
breakdown by professional category:

2018 2017

Senior management positions 4.572.749 2.365.917

Managerial positions 1.430.661 1.130.122

Specific positions 1.201.950 1.871.688

Administrative and other positions 233.511 429.850

7.438.871 5.797.577
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29. THIRD-PARTY SUPPLIES AND SERVICES

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, this heading comprises the following:

2018 2017

Communications 1.049.987 648.177

Security in transport of valuables 903.148 558.132

Advertising and marketing 836.293 893.998

Security and surveillance 500.181 426.788

Rentals 481.206 358.776

Misc. supplies 473.463 299.034

Consultancy 456.051 200.893

IT 444.937 267.950

Security, maintenance and repairs 313.560 362.057

Transportation, travel and accommodations 212.488 225.174

Insurance 85.185 71.742

Water and power 32.313 25.507

Other specialised services 28.916 245.839

Notary services 25.582 9.834

Staff recruitment 5.027 910

Expenditure on cultural actions - 74

Training - 37.948

Security in equipment transport - 178

Other costs 69.650 82.340

5.917.987 4.715.351

As at 31 December 2018, “Communications” recorded a significant variation from the previous year due to the 
increase in suppliers’ tariffs related to the Bank’s payment terminals.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the balance of “Other costs” includes expenses related to payment operations 
abroad, maintenance of machinery and other expenses related to the maintenance of office supplies.

30. OFF-BALANCE SHEET ITEMS

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, this heading comprises the following:

2018 2017

Guarantees and other contingent liabilities

Provided guarantees and sureties 7.513.791 7.740.825

Import documentary credits 30.890.338 6.341.032

38.404.129 14.081.857

Commitments to third parties

Irrevocable lines of credit 185.807 4.155

Liabilities for services rendered

Deposit and custody of securities 5.810.887 1.363.365

44.400.823 15.449.377
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Guarantees and sureties provided are banking operations that do not result in mobilisation of funds by the 
Bank, being related to guarantees provided in support of import operations and for the execution of contracts 
by the Bank’s customers. Guarantees given represent amounts that may be due in the future.

Open documentary credits are irrevocable commitments by the Bank, on behalf of its customers, to pay/order 
to pay a certain amount to the supplier of a given good or service, within a stipulated period, upon submission 
of documents relating to the shipment of the good or provision of the service. The irrevocable condition means 
that the commitment cannot be cancelled or altered without the express agreement of all the parties involved.

The significant increase in the item “Documentary import credits” results from the entry into force of 
Instruction no. 09/2018, of July 2018, of Banco Nacional de Angola which establishes limits for carrying out 
foreign exchange operations of goods with the aim of ensuring control over the country’s foreign currency 
indebtedness.

Notwithstanding the particularities of these contingent liabilities and commitments, the assessment of these 
transactions obeys the same basic principles of any other commercial transaction, namely that of solvency, 
of either the customer, or of the underlying business, with the Bank requiring these transactions to be duly 
collateralised when necessary.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the provisions created on liabilities for guarantees given and documentary 
credits to imports totalled 3,188,269 mAOA and 1,583,739 mAOA, respectively (Note 18).

Liabilities for the provision of “Deposits and custody of securities” services relate to third-party securities 
deposited with the Bank.

31. RELATED PARTIES

In accordance with IAS 24, the following are considered entities related to the Bank:

• Entities that exercise, directly or indirectly, significant influence over the Bank’s management and 
financial policy - Shareholders;

• The members of the key management personnel of the Bank, for which purpose the members of the 
Board of Directors are considered executive and non-executive;

• Companies in which the members of the Board of Directors have significant influence.

As at 31 December 2018, the total amount of assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet liabilities relating to 
shareholders, members of governing bodies, associated companies and companies and collective entities over 
which shareholders and members of governing bodies have significant influence, is made up as follows:

Shareholders

Members of 
the Board of 

Directors

Companies in which the members 
of the Board of Directors have 

significant influence
Total

31-12-2018

Assets

Credit 204.049 338.641 28.580.652 29.123.342

204.049 338.641 28.580.652 29.123.342

Liabilities

Demand deposits (574.423) (97.318) (537.295) (1.209.036)

Term deposits (947.097) (193.171) (9.251) (1.149.519)

(1.521.520) (290.489) (546.546) (2.358.555)

Income

Interest and similar income 2.603 - 996.151 998.754

Interest and similar charges (21.005) - (167) (21.172)

(18.402) - 995.984 977.582

Off-balance sheet

Bank guarantees - - 3.925.634 3.925.634
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As at 31 December 2017, the main balances and transactions maintained by the Bank with related parties are 
as follows:

Shareholders

Members of 
the Board of 

Directors

Companies in which the mem-
bers of the Board of Directors 

have significant influence
Total 

31-12-2017

Assets

Credit 47.432 599.348 23.682.726 24.329.507

Other securities 
and valuables

- - 1.732.262 1.732.262

47.432 599.348 25.414.988 26.061.769

Liabilities

Demand deposits (642.624) (89.234) (342.640) (1.074.498)

Term deposits (902.981) (154.536) (45.935) (1.103.452)

(1.545.605) (243.770) (388.575) (2.177.950)

Income

Interest and similar income 13 - 1.944.645 1.944.658

Interest and similar 
charges

(52.891) (2.367) - (55.258)

(52.878) (2.367) 1.944.645 1.889.400

Off-balance sheet

Bank guarantees - - 4.064.849 4.064.849

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Bank held with related parties credits amounting to 29,123,342,000 
and 24,329,507,000, respectively, and documentary credits for imports and guarantees provided, the balances 
of which totalled 3,925,634,000 and 4,064,849,000, respectively. Despite the share capital increase in 2018 of 
6,000,000 mAOA (Note 21), the Bank’s exposure to these operations exceeds the limit of large risks established 
by Banco Nacional de Angola Notice no. 9/2016. Additionally, as disclosed in Note 12, the Bank has acquired 
in recent years a number of properties from related parties in the amount of 1,850,000 mAOA, which are 
used within the scope of its activity. In this context, the Board of Directors is strengthening the procedures 
implemented to approve transactions with related parties.
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32. BALANCE SHEET BY CURRENCY

2018 2017

Local 
currency

Indexed 
to foreign 

currency
Foreign 

currency Total
Local 

currency

Indexed 
to foreign 

currency
Foreign 

currency Total

ASSETS

Cash and deposits in central banks 15.540.675 - 1.431.700 16.972.375 16.296.498 - 768.538 17.065.036

Cash and deposits in other credit 
institutions

1.682.935 - 8.930.352 10.613.287 202.151 - 5.826.841 6.028.992

Investments in central banks and in 
other credit institutions

1.500.645 - 4.546.464 6.047.109 7.269.171 1.594.645 8.863.816

Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss

- - - - - 199.763 - 199.763

Financial assets available for sale n.a n.a n.a n.a 121.240 - - 121.240

Financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income

96.195 - - 96.195 n.a n.a n.a n.a

Held-to-maturity investments n.a n.a n.a n.a 12.984.523 37.781.104 1.614.441 52.380.068

Financial assets at amortised cost 14.605.770 49.120.357 - 63.726.127 n.a n.a n.a n.a

Loans to Customers 47.073.678 - 2.612.888 49.686.566 54.049.610 - 1.966.325 56.015.935

Non-current assets held for sale 60.539 - - 60.539 60.539 - - 60.539

Other tangible assets 9.680.037 - - 9.680.037 6.958.767 - - 6.958.767

Intangible assets 167.049 - - 167.049 56.295 - - 56.295

Other assets 2.282.148 - 110.408 2.392.556 3.256.323 - - 3.256.323

Total Assets 92.689.671 49.120.357 17.631.812 159.441.840 101.255.117 37.980.867 11.770.790 151.006.774

LIABILITIES

Funds of central banks and other 
credit institutions

2.560.910 - 25.800 2.586.710 8.442.037 - - 8.442.037

Customer funds and other loans 91.770.831 21.275.603 16.118.673 129.165.107 87.305.161 21.219.835 7.742.411 116.267.407

Provisions 3.432.778 - - 3.432.778 1.835.417 - - 1.835.417

Current tax liabilities 29.589 - - 29.589 62.734 - - 62.734

Subordinated liabilities - - - - - - 3.432.401 3.432.401

Other liabilities 3.880.198 - - 3.880.198 4.670.948 - - 4.670.948

Total Liabilities 101.674.306 21.275.603 16.144.473 139.094.382 102.316.297 21.219.835 11.174.812 134.710.944

Net Assets/(Liabilities) (8.984.635) 27.844.754 1.487.339 20.347.458 (1.061.180) 16.761.032 595.978 16.295.830

n.a. - Items that have changed after the application of the new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets introduced by IFRS 9 - 
Financial instruments.

33. RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk management is the Bank’s fundamental pillars of action, ensuring convergence with the corporate policy 
in force. The risk management function is based on a set of principles, strategies, policies, systems, processes, 
rules and procedures, which aim to ensure the efficient and profitable performance of the Bank’s activity in the 
medium and long term, ensuring the effective use of assets and resources and adequate management not only 
of controls but also of the risks inherent in the activity, which aim to implement mechanisms to prevent and 
protect against errors and fraud and thus guarantee business continuity.

The Bank’s risk management is based on the constant identification and analysis of exposure to different risks 
(credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk, operational risk and other risks), and on the execution of strategies aimed 
at maximising results in relation to the risks to which it is exposed, taking into account pre-established and 
duly supervised restrictions.
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Taking into account the Bank’s activity, the risks considered materially relevant and, consequently, for which a 
greater effort is made to identify, monitor, evaluate, monitor and control, are as follows:

• Credit risk;

• Liquidity risk;

• Market risk;

- Interest rate risk

- Foreign exchange risk

• Operational risk.

33.1. CREDIT RISK

Credit risk corresponds to the risk of default of the counterparties with which the Bank holds open positions 
in financial instruments, as a creditor. The Bank has an adequate credit risk management structure, covering 
all stages of the process, from acceptance of the proposal until settlement of the loan, including monitoring 
and recovery.

Banco Nacional de Angola defines the legislation regarding the levels of regulatory own funds, which ensures 
that adequate levels of exposure to credit risk are maintained, in which the following are noteworthy:

• Notice nº. 02/2016, of 28 April: establishes the regulatory capital requirements for credit risk and 
counterparty credit risk;

• Instruction of Banco de Portugal nº. 12/2016 of 8 August: defines the calculation method and the 
regulatory capital requirements for credit risk and counterparty credit risk;

• Instruction nº. 13/2016 of 08 August: defines the provision of information on the regulatory capital 
requirement for credit risk and counterparty credit risk.

The Bank classifies credit operations in ascending order of risk, in accordance with the levels of risk defined in 
Banco Nacional de Angola Notice no. 11/2014 of 10 December, as follows:

Level Risk

A Minimum risk

B Very low risk

C Low risk

D Moderate risk

E High risk

F Very high risk

G Maximum risk

The individual classification of the exposure considers the characteristics and risks of the operation and of the 
borrower and is initially classified on the basis of the following criteria adopted by the Bank.

Operations with the following characteristics are classified in risk level A:

i) Exposures assumed by the Angolan State, including its central and provincial administrations;

ii) Assumed by administrations or central banks of countries disclosed by Banco Nacional de Angola 
(Instruction no. 01/2015, of 14 January), with a lower level of risk;

iii) Exposures fully secured by cash deposits made or issued by the Bank;

iv) Exposures fully guaranteed by securities or obligations issued by the Angolan State or Banco Nacional 
de Angola.
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The remaining transactions that do not comply with the requirements for classification in risk level A and are 
classified under risk level B if they do not result from previous defaults.

The levels of risk must be reviewed in the event of default on the basis of:

Level Risk

B In arrears for 30 days or more

C In arrears for more than 30 but no more than 60 days

D In arrears for more than 60 but no more than 90 days

E Delay of more than 90 days but not more than 150 days

F In arrears for more than 150 but no more than 180 days

G In arrears for more than 180 days

If a customer records several operations, classified in different risk levels, the final classification will be based 
on the most severe risk class.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the maximum exposure to credit risk by financial instrument can be 
detailed as follows:

2018 2017

Gross 
book value Impairment

Net 
book value

Gross 
book value Impairment

Net 
book value

On-balance sheet

Cash and deposits in central banks (Note 4) 16.972.375 - 16.972.375 17.065.036 - 17.065.036

Cash and deposits in other credit
institutions (Note 5)

10.629.798 (16.511) 10.613.287 6.028.992 - 6.028.992

Investments in central banks and in other 
credit institutions (Note 6)

6.076.977 (29.868) 6.047.109 8.863.816 - 8.863.816

Financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss (Note 7)

- - - 199.763 - 199.763

Financial assets available for sale (Note 8) n.a n.a n.a 121.240 - 121.240

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (Note 8)

96.195 - 96.195 n.a n.a n.a

Held-to-maturity investments (Note 9) n.a n.a n.a 52.380.068 - 52.380.068

Financial investments at amortised cost 
(Note 9)

64.787.439 (1.061.312) 63.726.127 n.a n.a n.a

Loans and advances to Customers (Note 10) 71.864.564 (22.177.998) 49.686.566 67.877.520 (11.861.585) 56.015.935

Other assets (Note 15) 2.392.556 - 2.392.556 3.352.995 (96.672) 3.256.323

172.819.904 (23.285.689) 149.534.215 155.889.430 (11.958.257) 143.931.173

Off-balance sheet

Guarantees and sureties given (Note 30) 7.513.791 (661.214) 6.852.577 7.740.825 (1.583.739) 6.157.086

Open documentary credits (Note 30) 30.890.338 (2.527.056) 28.363.282 6.341.032 - 6.341.032

38.404.129 (3.188.269) 35.215.859 14.081.857 (1.583.739) 12.498.118
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As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the credit quality of financial assets was as follows:

2018

Rating 
origin

Rating 
level

Gross 
exposure Impairment

Net 
exposure

Cash and deposits in central banks (Note 4)
Internal 

rating
Null (A) 16.972.375 - 16.972.375

Cash and deposits in other credit 
institutions (Note 5)

Internal 
rating

Low (C) 10.629.798 (16.511) 10.613.287

Investments in central banks and in other credit 
institutions (Note 6)

Internal 
rating

Low (C) 6.076.977 (29.868) 6.047.109

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (Note 8)

Internal 
rating

Null (A) 96.195 - 96.195

Financial investments at amortised 
cost (Note 9)

Internal 
rating

Null (A) 64.787.439 (1.061.312) 63.726.127

Loans and advances to Customers 
(Note 10)

Internal 
rating

Null (A) 852.203 - 852.203

Very Low (B) 25.024.557 (1.538.364) 23.486.193

Low (C) 7.212.764 (697.431) 6.515.333

Moderate (D) 2.251.868 (376.984) 1.874.884

High (E) 104.475 (38.294) 66.181

Very High (F) 774.034 (108.020) 666.014

Loss (G) 35.644.663 (19.418.905) 16.225.758

Other assets (Note 15)
Internal 

rating
Null (A) 2.392.556 - 2.392.556

172.819.904 (23.285.689) 149.534.215

2017

Rating 
origin

Rating 
level

Gross 
exposure Impairment

Net 
exposure

Cash and deposits in central banks (Note 4)
Internal 

rating
Null (A) 17.065.036 - 17.065.036

Cash and deposits in other credit 
institutions (Note 5)

Internal 
rating

Low (C) 6.028.992 - 6.028.992

Investments in central banks and in other credit 
institutions (Note 6)

Internal 
rating

Low (C) 8.863.816 - 8.863.816

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
(Note 7)

Internal 
rating

Low (C) 199.763 - 199.763

Financial assets available for sale (Note 8)
Internal 

rating
Low (C) 121.240 - 121.240

Held-to-maturity investments (Note 9)
Internal 

rating
Very Low (B) 52.380.068 - 52.380.068

Loans and advances to Customers (Note 10)
Internal 

rating
Null (A) 1.137.604 - 1.137.604

Very Low (B) 19.625.950 (2.246.455) 17.379.495

Low (C) 25.175.103 (2.973.423) 22.201.680

Moderate (D) 8.908.686 (1.971.993) 6.936.693

High (E) 1.108.020 (527.250) 580.770

Very High (F) 37.861 (18.929) 18.932

Loss (G) 11.884.296 (4.123.535) 7.760.761

Other assets (Note 15)
Internal 

rating
Null (A) 1.544.874 - 1.544.874

Low (C) 1.808.121 (96.672) 1.711.449

155.889.430 (11.958.257) 143.931.173
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As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the geographical concentration of exposure to credit risk is as follows:

2018

Geographical area

Angola
Other countries 

in Africa Europe Other Total

On-balance sheet

Cash and deposits in central banks (Note 4) 16.972.375 - - - 16.972.375

Cash and deposits in other credit 
institutions (Note 5)

238.448 101.453 10.273.386 - 10.613.287

Investments in central banks and in other 
credit institutions (Note 6)

1.500.000 - 4.547.109 - 6.047.109

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (Note 7)

96.195 - - - 96.195

Financial investments at amortised cost (Note 
8)

63.726.127 - - - 63.726.127

Loans and advances to Customers (Note 10) 49.686.566 - - - 49.686.566

Other assets (Note 15) 2.392.556 - - - 2.392.556

82.533.145 101.453 14.820.495 - 97.455.093

Off-balance sheet

Guarantees and sureties given (Note 30) 6.852.577 - - - 6.852.577

Open documentary credits (Note 30) 28.363.282 - - - 28.363.282

35.215.859 - - - 35.215.859

Total 117.749.005 101.453 14.820.495 - 132.670.953

2018

Geographical area

Angola
Other countries 

in Africa Europe Other Total

On-balance sheet

Cash and deposits in central banks (Note 4) 17.065.036 - - - 17.065.036

Cash and deposits in other credit 
institutions (Note 5)

202.151 - 5.826.841 - 6.028.992

Investments in central banks and in other 
credit institutions (Note 6)

5.710.522 512 3.152.782 - 8.863.816

Financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss (Note 7)

199.763 - - - 199.763

Financial assets available for sale (Note 11) 121.240 - - - 121.240

Held-to-maturity investments (Note 8) 52.380.068 - - - 52.380.068

Loans and advances to Customers (Note 10) 56.015.935 - - - 56.015.935

Other assets (Note 15) 3.256.323 - - - 3.256.323

134.951.038 512 8.979.623 - 143.931.173

Off-balance sheet

Guarantees and sureties given (Note 30) 6.157.086 - - - 6.157.086

Open documentary credits (Note 30) 6.341.032 - - - 6.341.032

12.498.118 - - - 12.498.118

Total 147.449.156 512 8.979.623 - 156.429.291
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During 2018, the Bank implemented new software to calculate impairment. However, as of 31 December 2018 
it was still in the testing phase, so there are some weaknesses. Therefore, it was not possible to disclose a set 
of information required by Banco Nacional de Angola Instruction no. 05/2016 of 08 August, namely:

• Table XX - Composition of loans to customers;

• Table XXI - Composition of overdue loans without impairment;

• Table XXII - Composition of overdue loans with impairment;

• Table XXIII - Restructured credit;

• Table XXIV - Guarantees or other collateral realised in connection with credit operations.

33.2. LIQUIDITY RISK

The Bank controls and reports on liquidity risk in accordance with the provisions of Instruction no. 19/2016, of 
8 August, and Instruction no. 26/2016, of 16 November, both published by Banco Nacional de Angola, entitled 
Liquidity Risk and Governance of Liquidity Risk, respectively.

Liquidity Risk reflects the Bank’s potential inability to meet its obligations, including those arising from binding 
guarantees, without affecting its daily operations and without incurring significant losses.

In order to make the Bank’s liquidity surpluses profitable, it makes investments with maturities of up to 12 
months for its own portfolio in addition to investments in the Interbank Monetary Market, which make a 
positive contribution to the Bank’s net interest income. This area includes Treasury Bills and the acquisition of 
Repurchase Agreements (Repos).

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the contractual cash flows related to capital were broken down as follows:

2018

Contractual residual maturities

Sight
Up to 1 
month

From 1 
to 3 months

Between 
3 and 6 
months

6 months
to 1 year

Between 
1 and 3 

years

Between 
3 and 5 

years
More than 

5 years Indefinite Total

Assets

Cash and deposits in central banks 16.972.375 - - - - - - - - 16.972.375

Cash and deposits in other credit 
institutions

10.629.798 - - - - - - - - 10.629.798

Investments in central banks 
and in other credit institutions

- 3.201.696 - 2.875.281 - - - - - 6.076.977

Financial assets at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income

- - - - - - - - 96.195 96.195

Financial investments at amortised 
cost

- - 2.748.630 6.299.841 7.841.226 42.654.187 3.225.087 816.074 - 63.585.045

Loans to Customers - 1.554.098 4.355.741 1.832.486 450.250 40.159.482 2.316.997 306.053 20.889.457 71.864.564

Other assets - - - - - - - - 2.392.556 2.392.556

27.602.173 4.755.794 7.104.371 11.007.608 8.291.476 82.813.669 5.542.084 1.122.127 23.378.208 171.617.510

Liabilities

Funds of central banks and other 
credit institutions

(2.262.665) - (324.045) - - - - - - (2.586.710)

Customer funds and other loans (78.209.928) (16.159.815) (15.476.644) (12.522.387) (6.744.769) (42.523) (7.068) (1.973) - (129.165.107)

(80.472.593) (16.159.815) (15.800.689) (12.522.387) (6.744.769) (42.523) (7.068) (1.973) - (131.751.817)

Liquidity gap (52.870.420) (11.404.021) (8.696.318) (1.514.779) 1.546.707 82.771.146 5.535.016 1.120.154 23.378.208 39.865.693

Cumulative liquidity gap (52.870.420) (64.274.441) (72.970.759) (74.485.538) (72.938.831) 9.832.315 15.367.331 16.487.485 39.865.693 39.865.693
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2017

Contractual residual maturities

Sight
Up to 1 
month

From 1 
to 3 months

Between 
3 and 6 
months

6 months
to 1 year

Between 1 
and 3 years

Between 3 
and 5 years

More than 5 
years Indefinite Total

Assets

Cash and deposits in central 
banks

17.065.036 - - - - - - - - 17.065.036

Cash and deposits in other 
credit institutions

6.028.992 - - - - - - - - 6.028.992

Investments in central banks 
and in other credit institutions

- 6.591.336 2.272.480 - - - - - - 8.863.816

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss

- - - - - - - 199.763 - 199.763

Financial assets available 
for sale

- - - - - - - - 121.240 121.240

Held-to-maturity investments - 2.652.043 2.543.070 5.396.020 12.697.546 23.264.292 5.360.045 467.052 - 52.380.068

Loans to Customers - 10.599.955 2.103.273 1.738.039 695.250 7.530.774 23.055.493 9.026.752 1.266.399 56.015.935

Other assets - - - - - - - - 3.256.323 3.256.323

23.094.028 19.843.334 6.918.823 7.134.059 13.392.796 30.795.066 28.415.538 9.693.567 4.643.962 143.931.173

Liabilities

Funds of central banks and 
other credit institutions

(2.571.254) - (5.870.783) - - - - - - (8.442.037)

Customer funds and other 
loans

(66.468.136) (8.932.927) (3.880.998) (5.662.693) (8.403.834) (21.242.405) (1.674.442) (1.972) - (116.267.407)

Subordinated liabilities - - (3.256.323) - - - - - - (3.256.323)

(69.039.390) (8.932.927) (13.008.104) (5.662.693) (8.403.834) (21.242.405) (1.674.442) (1.972) - (127.965.767)

Liquidity gap (45.945.362) 10.910.407 (6.089.281) 1.471.366 4.988.962 9.552.661 26.741.096 9.691.595 4.643.962 15.965.406

Cumulative liquidity gap (45.945.362) (35.034.955) (41.124.236) (39.652.870) (34.663.908) (25.111.247) 1.629.849 11.321.444 15.965.406 15.965.406

33.3. MARKET RISK

Market risk is defined as the possibility of incurring financial losses resulting from unexpected changes in 
the market values of the exposures held. These financial losses may be incurred as a result of the impact of 
changes in interest rates, exchange rates, share and commodity prices. Market risk can be broken down into 
interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk.

33.3.1 Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is defined as the probability of the occurrence of negative impacts on the Bank’s results or 
capital arising from adverse movements in interest rates.

In accordance with Banco Nacional de Angola Notice n.º 08/2016, of 22 June, the analysis and reporting 
requirements associated with interest rate risk are defined.
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As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the breakdown of financial instruments by exposure to interest rate risk is 
as follows:

2018

Exposure to

Fixed rate Variable rate

Not subject
to interest

rate risk Derivatives Total

Assets

Cash and deposits in central banks - - 16.972.375 - 16.972.375

Cash and deposits in other credit institutions - - 10.613.287 - 10.613.287

Investments in central banks and in other credit 
institutions

6.047.109 - - - 6.047.109

Financial assets at fair value through other compre-
hensive income

96.195 - - - 96.195

Financial investments at amortised cost 63.726.127 - - - 63.726.127

Other assets - - 2.392.556 - 2.392.556

69.869.431 - 29.978.218 - 99.847.649

Liabilities

Funds of central banks and other credit institutions - - (2.586.710) - (2.586.710)

Customer funds and other loans (49.622.884) (1.332.295) (78.209.928) - (129.165.107)

(49.622.884) (1.332.295) (80.796.638) - (131.751.817)

20.246.547 (1.332.295) (50.818.420) - (31.904.168)

2017

Exposure to

Fixed rate Variable rate

Not subject
to interest

rate risk Derivatives Total

Assets

Cash and deposits in central banks - - 17.065.036 - 17.065.036

Cash and deposits in other credit institutions - - 6.028.992 - 6.028.992

Investments in central banks and in other
credit institutions

8.863.816 - - - 8.863.816

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 199.763 - - - 199.763

Financial assets available for sale - - 121.240 - 121.240

Held-to-maturity investments 52.380.068 - - - 52.380.068

Other assets - - 3.256.323 - 3.256.323

61.443.647 - 26.471.591 - 87.915.238

Liabilities

Funds of central banks and other credit institutions (6.162.225) - (2.279.812) - (8.442.037)

Customer funds and other loans (48.432.061) (1.663.572) (66.171.774) - (116.267.407)

Subordinated liabilities (3.432.401) - - - (3.432.401)

(58.026.687) (1.663.572) (68.451.586) - (128.141.845)

3.416.960 (1.663.572) (41.979.995) - (40.226.607)
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Detail of the financial instruments with an exposure to interest rate risk according to the maturity or re-setting 
date at 31 December 2018 and 2017:

2018

Reset date / Maturity dates

Up to 1 
month

From 1 to 3 
months

Between 
3 and 6 
months

6 months to 
1 year

Between 1 
and 3 years

Between 3 
and 5 years

More than 
5 years Indefinite Total

Assets

Investments in central banks and 
in other credit institutions

- 3.200.065 - 2.115.284 731.760 - - - 6.047.109

Financial investments at 
amortised cost

- 2.889.752 6.299.841 7.841.226 42.654.187 3.225.087 816.074 - 63.726.167

Loans to Customers 1.554.098 4.355.741 1.832.486 450.250 36.981.484 2.316.997 306.053 1.889.457 49.686.566

1.554.098 10.445.558 8.132.327 10.406.760 80.367.431 5.542.084 1.122.127 1.889.457 119.459.842

Liabilities

Customer funds and other loans (8.485.332) (10.529.003) (3.340.452) (834.083) (4.807.077) (17.369.872) (5.589.360) - (50.955.179)

(8.485.332) (10.529.003) (3.340.452) (834.083) (4.807.077) (17.369.872) (5.589.360) - (50.955.179)

Net exposure (10.039.430) (20.974.561) (11.472.779) (11.240.843) (85.174.508) (22.911.956) (6.711.487) (1.889.457) (170.415.021)

2017

Reset date / Maturity dates

Up to 1 
month

From 1 to 3 
months

Between 
3 and 6 
months

6 months to 
1 year

Between 1 
and 3 years

Between 3 
and 5 years

More than 
5 years Indefinite Total

Activos

Investments in central banks and 
in other credit institutions

6.591.336 2.272.480 - - - - - - 8.863.816

Financial assets available for sale - - - - - - 199.763 - 199.763

Held-to-maturity investments 2.652.043 2.543.070 5.396.020 12.697.546 23.264.292 5.360.045 467.052 - 52.380.068

Loans to Customers 10.599.955 2.103.273 1.738.039 695.250 7.530.774 23.055.493 9.026.752 1.266.399 56.015.935

19.843.334 6.918.823 7.134.059 13.392.796 30.795.066 28.415.538 9.693.567 1.266.399 117.459.582

Liabilities

Funds of central banks and other 
credit institutions

- (5.870.783) - - - - - - (5.870.783)

Customer funds and other loans (8.932.927) (3.880.998) (5.662.693) (8.403.834) (20.885.164) (1.674.442) (1.972) (357.241) (49.799.271)

Subordinated liabilities - (3.432.401) - - - - - - (3.432.401)

(8.932.927) (13.184.182) (5.662.693) (8.403.834) (20.885.164) (1.674.442) (1.972) (357.241) (59.102.455)

Net exposure (28.776.261) (20.103.005) (12.796.752) (21.796.630) (51.680.230) (30.089.980) (9.695.539) (1.623.640) (176.562.037)
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As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the sensitivity analysis of the results generated by financial instruments to 
changes in interest rates presents the following detail:

2018

Changes in interest rates

-200 bp1 -100 bp1 -50 bp1 +50 bp1 +100 bp1 +200 bp1

Assets

Investments in central banks and 
in other credit institutions

(5.130) (2.565) (1.283) 1.283 2.565 5.130

Investments at amortised cost (204.671) (102.335) (51.168) 51.168 102.335 204.671

Loans to Customers (302.554) (151.277) (75.638) 75.638 151.277 302.554

(512.355) (256.177) (128.089) 128.089 256.177 512.355

Liabilities

Customer funds and other loans 252.303 126.152 63.076 (63.076) (126.152) (252.303)

252.303 126.152 63.076 (63.076) (126.152) (252.303)

Net impact (260.051) (130.026) (65.013) 65.013 130.026 260.051

2017

Changes in interest rates

-200 bp1 -100 bp1 -50 bp1 +50 bp1 +100 bp1 +200 bp1

Assets

Investments in central banks and 
in other credit institutions

(3.068) (1.534) (767) 767 1.534 3.068

Financial assets available for sale (2.625) (1.312) (656) 656 1.312 2.625

Held-to-maturity investments (265.261) (132.630) (66.315) 66.315 132.630 265.261

Loans to Customers (232.004) (116.002) (58.001) 58.001 116.002 232.004

(502.958) (251.478) (125.739) 125.739 251.478 502.958

Liabilities

Customer funds and other loans 168.117 84.059 42.029 (42.029) (84.059) (168.117)

Passivos subordinados 20.713 10.356 5.178 (5.178) (10.356) (20.713)

188.830 94.415 47.207 (47.207) (94.415) (188.830)

Net impact (314.128) (157.063) (78.532) 78.532 157.063 314.128

1 One bp (“basis point”) corresponds to 0.01 percentage points.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the sensitivity analysis of the results for the item “Loans and advances to 
customers” to changes in interest rates was performed based on the average rates of loans and advances to 
customers, as disclosed in Note 10.
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33.3.2 Foreign exchange risk
Exchange rate risk can be defined as the risk arising from movements in exchange rates resulting from exchange 
positions originated by the existence of financial instruments denominated in different currencies.

The Bank defines the analysis and control of risks based on Instruction n.º 02/2017, of 30 January and exchange 
exposure limits based on Notice n.º 06/2018, of 2 August, both of Banco Nacional de Angola.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the breakdown of financial instruments by currency is as follows:

2018

Kwanzas
United States 

Dollars Euros
Other

Currencies Total

Assets

Cash and deposits in central banks
(Note 4)

15.540.675 1.397.014 34.686 - 16.972.375

Cash and deposits in other credit
institutions (Note 5)

1.682.935 6.508.447 2.421.905 - 10.613.287

Investments in central banks and in 
other credit institutions (Note 6)

1.500.645 2.202.040 2.344.424 - 6.047.109

Financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income (Note 8)

96.195 - - - 96.195

Financial investments at amortised
cost (Note 9)

14.605.770 49.120.357 - - 63.726.127

Loans and advances to Customers
(Note 10)

47.073.678 1.939.498 673.390 - 49.686.566

Other assets (Note 15) 2.282.148 - 110.408 - 2.392.556

82.782.046 61.167.356 5.584.813 - 149.534.215

Liabilities

Funds of central banks and of other 
credit institutions (Note 16)

(1.763.017) (797.893) (25.800) - (2.586.710)

Customer funds and other loans
(Note 17)

(91.770.831) (21.275.603) (16.118.673) - (129.165.107)

(93.533.848) (22.073.496) (16.144.473) - (131.751.817)

(10.751.802) 39.093.860 (10.559.660) - 17.782.398
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2017

Kwanzas
United States 

Dollars Euros
Other

Currencies Total

Assets

Cash and deposits in central banks
(Note 4)

16.296.497 768.539 - - 17.065.036

Cash and deposits in other credit
institutions (Note 5)

202.151 3.096.432 2.723.501 6.908 6.028.992

Investments in central banks and in 
other credit institutions (Note 6)

7.269.171 1.136.151 458.494 - 8.863.816

Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss (Note 7)

- 199.763 - - 199.763

Financial assets available for sale
(Note 8)

121.240 - - - 121.240

Held-to-maturity investments (Note 9) 14.598.964 37.781.104 - - 52.380.068

Loans and advances to Customers
(Note 10)

54.049.610 1.634.921 331.405 - 56.015.936

Other assets (Note 15) 3.256.323 - - - 3.256.323

95.793.956 44.616.910 3.513.400 6.908 143.931.174

Liabilities

Funds of central banks and of other 
credit institutions (Note 16)

8.442.037 - - - 8.442.037

Customer funds and other loans 
Note 17)

107.648.505 7.898.464 718.051 2.477 116.267.497

Subordinated liabilities (Note 19) - 3.432.401 - - 3.432.401

116.090.542 11.330.865 718.051 2.477 128.141.935

(20.296.586) 33.286.045 2.795.349 4.431 15.789.239

In the table of details of financial instruments by currency, the amounts in the column “United States Dollars” 
include operations indexed to USD.

The sensitivity analysis of the equity value of financial instruments to changes in exchange rates, as at 31 
December 2018 and 2017, is as follows:

2018

-20% -10% -5% +5% +10% +20%

Currency

United States Dollars (6.415.868) (3.207.934) (1.603.967) 1.603.967 3.207.934 6.415.868

Euro (1.654.095) (827.047) (413.524) 413.524 827.047 1.654.095

Other currencies (1.877) (939) (469) 469 939 1.877

Total (8.071.840) (4.035.920) (2.017.960) 2.017.960 4.035.920 8.071.840

Notes to the Financial Statements at 31 December 2018
(Amounts in thousands of Kwanzas - mAOA, unless expressly indicated otherwise)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2017

-20% -10% -5% +5% +10% +20%

Currency

United States Dollars (14.734.526) (7.367.263) (3.683.631) 3.683.631 7.367.263 14.734.526

Euro (846.290) (423.145) (211.573) 211.573 423.145 846.290

Other currencies (1.767) (884) (442) 442 884 1.767

Total (14.734.526) (7.367.263) (3.683.631) 3.683.631 7.367.263 14.734.526

33.3.3 Foreign exchange risk
In accordance with IFRS 8 - Operating Segments, entities must disclose information that enables users of the 
financial statements to assess the nature and financial effects of the business activities in which they are 
involved, as well as the economic environments in which they operate.

The Bank operates only in Angola with a relatively simplified business structure that essentially involves 
obtaining resources from Customers and investing, together with its own resources, in investments with 
Banco Nacional de Angola and other credit institutions. Given the low level of complexity of the Bank’s activity, 
the Board of Directors believes that the presentation of the financial statements by only one business segment 
and for one country (Angola) does not present added value in their reading.

34. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There are no subsequent events to highlight.
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Banco Keve Province/Branches

BENGUELA

BENGUELA BRANCH Rua Aires de Almeida Santos, n.º 75

LOBITO BRANCH Zona Comercial - Av. 25 de Abril, n.º 73/75/77

LOBITO SECIL BRANCH Bairro Lobito Velho - Lobito Instalações da Secil Cimentos

LOBITO CATUMBELA BRANCH Rua da Fábrica Velha Antiga Açucareira Catumbela

LOBITO RESTINGA BRANCH Avenida de Moçambique, n.º 99

CABINDA

CABINDA BRANCH Av. Comendador Henrique Serrano

MASSABI BRANCH Instalações do Posto Fronteiriço de Massabi

CUANDO CUBANGO

MENONGUE BRANCH Rua 1º de Maio

CATUITUI BRANCH Posto Fronteiriço do Cuangar

CUANGAR BRANCH Cuangar

RIVUNGO  POST Posto Fronteiriço Cuangar 

CUNENE

SANTA CLARA BRANCH Estrada Principal de Santa Clara, Edifício do Posto Aduaneiro

BROMANGOL SANTA CLARA BRANCH Estrada Principal de Santa Clara, Edifício da Bromangol Santa Clara

HUAMBO

HUAMBO BRANCH Rua Traseiro Lopes Cidade Baixa

HUAMBO NOCEBO BRANCH Zona Industrial do Huambo Bairro da Chiva

KWANZA SUL

AGÊNCIA SUMBE - HEAD OFFICE Av. Joaquim Kapango, n.º Y- 43 - Sumbe

WACO KUNGO BRANCH Rua 4 de Fevereiro

CALULO BRANCH Rua 11 de Novembro, R/C

PORTO - AMBOIM BRANCH Rua Viriato da Cruz - Complexo Industrial da PESKWANZA - EP, Lote N/D, R/C

PORTO - AMBOIM CUSTOMS BRANCH Porto Amboim

CALULO TAX OFFICE Rua 10 de Novembro

SELES BRANCH Rua Lar 2 dos Estudantes

WACO KUNGO TAX OFFICE Rua 4 de Fevereiro

LUANDA

RAINHA GINGA BRANCH Rua Rainha Ginga, 77

MACULUSSO BRANCH Rua Joaquim Kapango, 32

NOCAL BRANCH Bairro Hoji Ya Henda - Instalações da Nocal

NOVA CIMANGOLA BRANCH Bairro Kikolo - Instalações da Fábrica da Nova Cimangola

CUCA BRANCH Bairro Cazenga - Rua N’gola kiluanje Instalações da Cuca

TALATONA II BRANCH Bairro Benfica Estrada Direita do Futungo

PORTO DE LUANDA BRANCH Bairro Boavista, Av. 4 de Fevereiro, Instalações do Porto de Luanda

AEROPORTO BRANCH 
Av. 21 de Janeiro / Aeroporto Internacional 4 de Fevereiro Terminal de carga 
aéreo

PORTO SECO BRANCH Instalações Porto Seco Viana

SOVINHOS BRANCH Instalações Seis Líquidos/Sovinhos Viana

CACUACO BRANCH Rua do Mutobe, Instalações da Vidrul
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SERPA PINTO BRANCH Largo Serpa Pinto - Rua Amílcar Cabral, n.º 4A

NOVA VIDA BRANCH Rua 55/ 60, Projecto Nova Vida

NOVA VIDA II BRANCH Rua 53 Projecto Nova Vida, Município de Belas-Luanda

CORREIOS DE ANGOLA POST OFFICE BRANCH Rua do 1º Congresso do MPLA

4 DE FEVEREIRO AIRPORT BRANCH -  DEPARTURES Av. 21 de Janeiro / Terminal de Passageiros

4 DE FEVEREIRO AIRPORT BRANCH -  ARRIVALS Av. 21 de Janeiro / Terminal de Passageiros

MAJOR KANHANGULO BRANCH Rua Major Kanhangulo, n.º 61 B

KILAMBA KIAXE BRANCH Nova Cidade do Kilama Kiaxe

GIKA BRANCH -  FINANCIAL HEADQUARTERS Av. Ho Chi Min, Edifício Garden Towers-Torre B, 11º Andar

UNIVERSIDADE METODISTA BRANCH Rua Nossa Senhora da Muxima, Bairro Ingombotas

ISPAJ UNIVERSITY Projecto Nova Vida

RAINHA GINGA BUSINESS CENTER Rua Rainha Ginga, 77

PATRIOTA BUSINESS CENTER Rua do Patriota, Município de Belas

TALATONA II BUSINESS CENTER Rua Pedro de Castro Van-Dúnem Loy, Município de Belas

VIANA COMETA BUSINESS CENTER Estrada de Catete, Município de Viana

ROYAL PARK BUSINESS CENTER Rua Pedro de Castro Van-Dúnem Loy Município de Belas

PRIVATE BANKING DEPARTEMENT Rua Rainha Ginga, 77

PATRIOTA BRANCH Rua do Patriota, Município de Belas

VIANA COMETA BRANCH Estrada de Catete, Município de Viana

LUANDA SHOPPING BRANCH Avenida Cmd Gika Município de Luanda

SONANGALP KM 32 BRANCH Estrada de Catete S/N Km 32, Município de Viana

CAMAMA MULTICENTER BRANCH Estrada Principal de Camama Município de Belas

CAMAMA ISPEKA BRANCH Município de Belas, Distrito de Camama, Estrada Principal de Camama

CAMPUS UNIVERSITÁRIOS BRANCH Rua Direita do Camama Instalações, do Campus Universitários

LUBANGO

LUBANGO BRANCH Rua 1º de Agosto, n.º 26 - Bairro Comercial

LUBANGO ALFANDEGA BRANCH Rua Engº. Torres

MALANGE

MALANGE BRANCH Rua Comandante Dangereux, Prédio Che-Guevara R/C Malange

NAMIBE

NAMIBE ALFANDEGA BRANCH Rua Ekuikui II

NAMIBE BRANCH Rua da Praia do Bomfim

SOYO

SOYO BASE DO KWANDA BRANCH Instalações da Base do Kwanda

SOYO HOTEL NEMPANZO BRANCH Instalações do Hotel Nempanzo
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